LOCAL INSTITUTIONAL CAPACITY TO FOSTER CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION RESPONSES IN THE MARA RIVER BASIN, KENYA

ISABELLA LUTZILI ASAMBA

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN PLANNING

SCHOOL OF PLANNING AND ARCHITECTURE

MASENO UNIVERSITY

© 2020

DECLARATION

The Candidate:

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented to any other university for the award of

any degree

Signature

Isabella Lutzili Asamba PG/PHD/0143/2010 Date

Date

University Supervisors:

This thesis has been presented for examination with our approval as University Supervisors.

Signature

Prof. George Mark Onyango, PhD School of Planning and Architecture, Department of Urban Management, Maseno University.

Signature

Dr. Leah Onyango, PhD Date School of Planning and Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, Maseno University.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

As I reflect back on the years I have spent at Maseno University and especially the time spent working on this research, it is indisputable that my achievements, especially this thesis, would not have been possible without the many contributions from insightful mentors, gracious friends, and supportive family members. First and foremost I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisors Professor George Mark Onyango and Dr. Leah Akinyi Onyango, who provided me the opportunity to complete my doctoral degree. Your contributions, stimulating suggestions and encouragement assisted me to coordinate my field research and writing of my thesis. Prof GM Onyango I thank you for your patience and simplifying complex issues to enable me make the transition between the field research and the writing process. To Dr. Onyango, I am deeply grateful for the support in getting me to navigate through the numerous issues back and forth, furthermore teaching me that each step mattered in what I did and sharing information big-heartedly. I count myself fortunate to have studied and learnt so much from you.

This work has been made possible due to both financial and academic support from Mistra Urban Futures and Lake Victoria Basin Commission. Thank you for the opportunity you granted me to walk this journey at different points. I also acknowledge with much appreciation, the crucial role of the numerous institutions in the Mara River Basin, who permitted their staff to take part in the research.

Special thanks goes to my research assistants Ms Sharon and Mr Eric Siele who mobilized and organized meetings and supported my data collection process. Many thanks go to the Project Manager of the Mara River Basin Association Mr Kennedy Onyango for his tireless efforts in mobilizing community institutions associated with MRBA to be available during the field research.

I highly appreciate the guidance given to me by Faculty members within the School of Planning and Architecture at Maseno University as well as the panels especially in the School defences that gave comments and advice that improved my final document. I consider myself lucky to have worked alongside colleagues that were always willing to share information they felt was pertinent to my research namely: Dr George Wagah, Dr Moses Kola, Dr Walter Alando, Dr Emmanuel Midheme, Dr Helen Kamwele, Ms. Peris Teyie, Ms. Jennifer Otieno, Architect Samuel Ndeda, Mr Mathenge Mwehe, Ms Susan Rabare, Dr Marylin Appella and. Special thanks to Dr Ayonga for introducing me to theories. I value the time, encouragement and relentless support I received from Dr Patrick Onyango and his team at School of Graduate Studies, Professor Bernard Oindo and Professor Francis Angawa.

Over the years, I have had many inspirational discussions with many friends who kept my nose on the grindstone and graciously endured my long periods of silence. Special thanks to Edward and Norah Odero, Dr Emily Teshome and Dr Betty Osumba. To Margaret Otieno and Mary Aloka thanks for your constant prayers and encouragement through the years. I humbly acknowledge my family members who cheered me on and kept me from drifting astray. Thank you Ayub, Rose and Robert, Sarah and Kenn, Far Alfred, Jed and Ethan, Roman and Nala for always asking questions and pushing me on. My siblings Charles, Nelly, David, Anton and Ruth thank you for being the calming effect when my head felt full. To many more who I cannot name but who gave me support thank you so much.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated first to the Almighty God for granting me strength, skills and who rallied the support I required to completion and second to my loving parents who taught me that quitting was not an option and believing in myself was paramount.

ABSTRACT

Climate change is a global reality that has made communities vulnerable. The international community and Kenya's national government have responded to climate change by fostering adaptation and mitigation at multiple levels. Adaptation is critical in the immediate present because it provides for adjustment to suit the changing environmental conditions and establish resilience. The global and national institutional landscape for adaptation is well defined with clear mandate and capacity. However at the local level where adaptation action is implemented there are questions raised about the ability of the local institutions to effectively carry out adaptation since these local institutions were established for other reasons and not adaptation. The purpose of this study is to examine the extent to which local institution in the Mara river basin can carry out adaptation. The main objective of the study was to establish the capacity of local institutions to foster climate adaptation responses in the Mara River Basin. The specific objectives were 1) to assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin, 2) to evaluate the internal institutional structures that enable or hinder climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin, 3) to analyze the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin. The systems theory was applied to examine the institutional framework as a complex system with boundaries that allow input and output for maximum efficiency and delivery thus enabling understanding of the relationship between different variables. The study adopted a cross-sectional survey design and a sample of 137 institutions drawn from government, NGOs, CBOs, FBOs and private sector were interviewed. The study developed an Institutional Effectiveness Tool for data collection and analysis. The study established that local institutions implement 81% of the adaptation practise interrogated by this study. It also established all scores on the institutional effectiveness tool were above 60% meaning the internal institutional structures of local institutions promote adaptation. Finally it established that the institutional landscape had 44 linkages of which 55% were vertical and 45% horizontal creating a network with opportunities for adaptation. The study concluded that local institutions in the Mara river basin have adequate capacity to foster adaptation despite not having it in their mandate. It recommends that stakeholder engagement in adaptation be institutionalised so as to better engage the local institutions and also explore the opportunities present in the linkages.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	ii
ABSTRACT	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	<u>vii</u> ix
OPERTATIONAL DEFINITION OF TERMS	<u>ix</u> xi
LIST OF TABLES	<u>xii</u> xiv
LIST OF PLATES	<u>xiv</u> xvi
APPENDICES	<u>xv</u> xvii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Statement of the Problem	14
1.3 Research Objectives	15
1.4 Research Questions	<u>15</u> 16
1.5 Scope and Limitations	16
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation	
2.2 Institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation to climate change	28
2.3 Opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement change	nt in climate
2.4 Theoretical framework	42
2.5 Conceptual framework	46
2.6 Study Gap	49
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	50
3.1 Study Area	50
3.2 Study Design	55
3.3 Data Collection	58
3.4 Data Analysis	63
3.5 Reliability and Validity	67
3.6 Ethical Considerations	69
CHAPTER 4: DATA PRESENTATION, ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION	70

Overview	70
4.1 Local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation	70
4.1.1 Institutions present in the study area	70
4.1.2 Mandates of local institutions	76
4.1.3 Climate change adaptation practices	84
4.2. Internal Institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation	98
Overview	98
4.2.1 Types of structures in different institutions	98
4.2.2 Extent to which structures enable or hinder adaptation practices	
4.2.2.1 Government institutional structures in climate change adaptation	
4.2.2.2 Non-governmental organization structures in climate change adaptation	
4.2.2.3 Community Based Organization structures in climate change adaptation	
4.2.2.4 Faith Based Organization structures in climate change adaptation	
4.2.2.5 Private sector institution structures in climate change adaptation	
4.3.1 Institutions and their linkages	113
4.3.2 Challenges faced by different types of institutions	119
4.3.3 Opportunities in the institutional landscape	
CHAPTER 5: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	151
5.1 Overview	151
5.2 Summary of findings	
5.2 Conclusions	156
5.3 Recommendations	156
5.4 Suggestions for further study	157
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
Appendix 1: Key Informant Interview	
Appendix 2: Institutional effectiveness Tool	
Appendix 3: Institutional Challenges mapping	
Appendix 4: Opportunities identification table	
Appendix 5: List of institutions interviewed	
Appendix 6: Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) list	201

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAP	Africa Adaptation Programme
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AMCEN	African Ministerial Council on the Environment
Asl	Above Sea Level
CBA	Community-based Adaptation
CBI	Community Based Institutions
CBO	Community Based Organization
CDKN	Climate and Development Knowledge Network
CGOB	County Government of Bomet
CGON	County Government of Narok
CH_4	methane
CIDP	County integrated development Plans
CO_2	carbon dioxide
DoE	Directorate of Environment
EAC	East African Community
ECA	Economic Commission for Africa
EMCA	Environmental Management and Coordination Act
ESARPO	Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Programme Office
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FBO	Faith Based Organization
GDP	Gross domestic product
GHG	Greenhouse Gases
GOK	Government of Kenya
IIED	International Institute for Environment and Development
IMWI	International Water Management Institute
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IUCEA	Inter-University Council of East Africa
IUSP	Integrated Urban Strategic Plans
KMD	Kenya Meteorological Department
LVBC	Lake Victoria Basin Commission
LVFO	Lake Victoria Fisheries Organization

MRB	Masai River Basin
MEMR	Ministry of Environment and Mineral Resources
NAPA	National Adaptation Programmes of Action
NAP	National Adaptation Plan
NCCAP	National Climate Change Action Plan
NCCC	National Climate Change Council
NCCRS	National Climate Change Response Strategy
NCCS	National Climate Change Secretariat
NEC	National Environment Council
NEMA	National Environment Management Authority
NEP	National Environment Policy
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
ODI	Overseas Development Institute
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNECA	United Nations Economic Commission for Africa
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNIFEM	United Nations Development Fund for Women
USAID	US Agency for International Development
WCED	World Commission on Environment and Development
WMO	World Meteorological Organization
WWF	Worldwide Fund for Nature

OPERTATIONAL DEFINITION OF TERMS

Adaptation

Adaptation is the adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities IPCC, 2007b)

Climate Adaptation

Refers to an adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects that moderate, harm or exploit beneficial opportunities.

The IPCC defines climate change adaptation for human systems as "the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects, in order to moderate or avoid harm or exploit beneficial opportunities" (United Nations Global Compact, 2015)

The operationalization of climate adaptation refers to climate adaptation becoming institutionally codified and implemented through planning policies and objectives, making it a central tenet of planning governance (Tony Matthews, 2013)

Climate Change

Climate change is the long-term alteration in average temperature and shifts in the seasons resulting in increasing frequency of extreme weather events covering a wide area. It is the average of thirty or more years of observed weather. Climate change has been influenced natural events and human activity

Climate change refers to any change in climate over time, whether due to natural variability or as a result of human activity IPCC, 2007b).

Climate change is a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods (United Nations, 1997)

Closed system

System or institution independent of the environment around it

Closed Systems enquiry strongly tends towards process improvement and depends on feedback and feed forward circular loops to quantify (not qualify) interactions, with focus on the holistic plane rather than agency (Phelan, 1999).

Kapsali (2009) supports that closed system approach is pervaded by a control system thinking mentality, which aims to produce uniformity by creating the necessary conditions for rational action at the operations level.

Climate mitigation

This is the degree to which a system is susceptible to, and unable to cope with, adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes. Vulnerability is a function of the character, magnitude, and rate of climate change and variation to which a system is exposed, including its sensitivity, and its adaptive capacity

Lackner et al. (2012) refers to climate mitigation as enacting measures to limit the extent of climate change.

Foster

Nurture and promote development for a desirable result

Institutions

The institutions comprises organizations, governance structures and social arrangements.

Uphoff, 1999 informs that institutions' are taken to be "complexes of norms and behaviors that persist over time by serving collectively valued purposes.

Thompson (2013) refers to institutions characteristics as simple locally devised rules, easily enforced, graduated sanctions, harvest restrictions match resource regeneration

Institutional landscape

In the study institutional landscape is viewed as the climate change adaptation institutions within a given geographical area and the linkages that exist between them. These linkages can be vertical or horizontal. The vertical linkages connect institutions that operate small geographic spaces (e.g. county) with those that operate large geographic spaces (e.g. continent). Horizontal linkages connect institutions that operate within the same geographical space (e.g. within a county) at the same level

Benson-Rea and Ditter (2011) discuss the concept of institutional landscape as integrating the physical and the socio-economic contexts, the outcomes of which are the business models and interactions observed.

Institutional practices

For the study, institutional practices were viewed as institution mandates that enable functions of climate change adaptation to happen. This focuses on regulations in climate change adaptation and implementing climate change adaptation action. It involves undertaking specific actions regularly in order to enable implementation to take place for adaptation to be attained.

Willems, S., & Baumert, K., 2003 states that practices will help public policies, like climate policies, when they foster co-operation among individuals and institutions, participation in public policy and a sense of individual or collective responsibility towards the environment, acceptance of the Rule of Law.

Institutional Structures

Institutional structures for the purpose of this study were viewed as frameworks around which coordination, planning, management and logistics take place. Structures are mechanisms of how social order is maintained, it involves issues of governance inclusive of rules, plans, procedures, roles and responsibilities and hierarchy for reporting.

Sam Wong & Liz Sharp, 2009 states that applying the institution-structure framework to a sustainable water innovation project in north-west England, it argues that the meaning of environmental rights, the understanding of required environmental responsibilities, and the degree of public participation in decision-making, are shaped by individuals' subjective values, institutional arrangements and structural conditions.

Local Institutions

Institutions that are based and carrying out operations within a given catchment that has been defined to the local

Open System

A system that continually interacts with the environment around it

Open Systems thinking argues that the system needs to adjust by differentiating and elaborating its structure and thus by becoming complex, and needs to import energy to maintain order at its levels of complexity (Kapsali, Maria, 2009)

Social arrangements

Postlewaite (2001) refers to social arrangements as the ways that basic wants or needs are satisfied within a group.

System Boundary

The point at which data flows (perhaps as output) from one system to another (perhaps as input)

Boundaries define systems and determine the relationships within and between systems. The way in which boundaries are managed affects how organizations function. Establishing and negotiating boundaries create the levels of differentiation and integration necessary for effective functioning (Schneider, S. (1987)

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Strategies for Adaptation	22
Table 3.1: Number of Institutions with adaptation related activities	56
Table 3.2 list of sampling to saturation.	57
Table 3.3: Institutional quadrants	61
Table 4.1: Site location of institutions.	72
Table 4.2: Summary of Government Institutions core mandates.	77
Table 4.3: Summary of NGO core mandates.	79
Table 4.4: Summary of CBO core mandates.	80
Table 4.5: Summary of FBO core mandates.	82
Table 4.6: Summary of private sectors core mandate	83
Table 4.7: Adaptation activities related to agriculture that are supported in the community	86
Table 4.8: Adaptation activities related to Environment that are supported in the community	88
Table 4.9: Adaptation activities related to Forestry that are supported in the community	90
Table 4.10: Adaptation activities related to Energy that are supported in the community	91
Table 4.11: Adaptation activities related to Water that are supported in the community	93
Table 4.12: Adaptation Practices and the proportion of institutions engaged in them	96
Table 4.13: Overall institution performance.	97
Table 4.14 Analysis of government institution structures	100
Table 4.15: Analysis of non-governmental structures.	102
Table 4.16: Analysis of Community Based Organization structures	104
Table 4.17: Analysis of Faith Based Organizations structures	106
Table 4.18: Analysis of Private sector institution structures.	108
Table 4.19: Overall Score of the structure	110
Table 4.20: Institutional Landscape of the study area	116
Table 4.21: Vertical linkages in the institutional landscape	118
Table 4.22: Horizontal Linkages	119
Table 4.23: Challenges related to information on climate change adaptation	120
Table 4.24: Challenges related to capacity on climate change adaptation action	125
Table 4.25: Challenges related to financing of climate change adaptation action	128
Table 4.26: Challenges related to outreach services for climate change adaptation action	131
Table 4.27: Challenges related to technology and equipment for climate change adaptation	133
Table 4.28: Opportunities in Climate change adaptation information	136
Table 4.29: Opportunities in Technology and equipment	141
Table 4.30: Opportunities on capacity to implement climate change adaptation	143
Table 4.31: Financing of climate change adaptation action	146
Table 4.32: Opportunities in outreach services.	148

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Institutions as systems and subsystems	45
Figure 2.2: Conceptual Framework	48
Figure 3.1: Location of Study area	53
Figure 4.1: Government structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices	101
Figure 4.2: NGO structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices	103
Figure 4.3: CBO structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices	105
Figure 4.4: FBO structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices	107
Figure 4.5: Private sector institution structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices	109
Figure 4.6: Overall institutional landscape: Relationship of adaptation practices and institutions	113
Figure 4.7: Vertical Linkages	117
Figure 4.8: Horizontal Linkages	117

LIST OF PLATES

Plate 3.1: View of the Mara River Basin landscape	54
Plate 3.2: Soil erosion along Mara river	54
Plate 4.1: CBO focussing on tree nurseries and tree planting	74
Plate 4.2: Private sector institutions in Mara River Basin: Small businesses	75
Plate 4.3: Mara River WUA tree nursery	88

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Key Informant Interview	185
Appendix 2: Institutional effectiveness Tool	193
Appendix 3: Institutional Challenges mapping	195
Appendix 4: Opportunities identification table	196
Appendix 5: List of institutions interviewed	197
Appendix 6: Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) list	201

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

In the last two decades, climate change has been a major concern globally, according to United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (2007) developing countries are the most vulnerable to climate change impacts because they have fewer resources to adapt socially, technologically and financially. Further to this, many regions in Africa are recognized as having climates that are among the most variable in the world on seasonal and decadal time scales. Floods and droughts can occur in the same area within months of each other. These events often lead to famine and widespread disruption of socio-economic well-being (UNFCCC, 2007).

Lisk (2009) notes that climate change in Africa is a reality, as evidenced by prolonged and intensified droughts in Eastern Africa, unprecedented floods in Western Africa, depletion of rain forests in equatorial Africa and an increase in ocean acidity around Africa's southern coast. Vastly altered weather patterns and climate extremes threaten agricultural production, food security, health, water and energy security. In Kenya, climate change has manifested itself in form of rising temperatures, seasonal changes in rainfall with some areas facing increased rain while others have less rain. There is also decreased and varying intensity in river flow, water scarcity, disease outbreaks; biodiversity loss, landslides, bush fires; fluctuating water levels in lakes, rivers, sea flooding, droughts and salt water intrusion (Government of Kenya [GOK], 2010).

Action to deal with climate change is taken through adaptation and mitigation. Adaptation is the process of changing behaviour in response to actual or expected climate changes (McKibbin & Wilcoxen, 2003). While Mitigation is the act of reducing the culmination of greenhouse gases in the

atmosphere (McKibbin & Wilcoxen, 2003). East African Community (2011c) states that adaptation is crucial because climate change will occur regardless of future greenhouse gases (GHG) reduction measures. Thus adapting to or coping with climate change is of utmost importance in order to ensure socioeconomic and environmental systems function and development. Ford, Berrang-Ford, Lesnikowski, Barrera, and Heymann (2013) is in agreement with this, noting the need for adaptation research in order to understand what society needs to adapt to, identify options available to adapt, and understand how adaptation can be effectively promoted and implemented. Adaptation is often framed as a community issue, because climate change impacts are largely experienced at the local level (Global Leadership for Climate Action [GLCA], 2009; Preston, Mustelin, and Maloney, 2013). Thus the impacts of climate change need to be addressed from the local level the point of greatest effect.

Institutions with an interest in taking action on climate change are found at international, regional, national and local levels. These institutions have governance structures and social arrangement in place that guide their work towards climate change adaptation. It is important to begin by distinguishing between global, regional, national and local institutions for adaptation.

The global institutions bring together nations and build scientific knowledge and capacity for climate change work in the world. They produce protocols on climate change adaptation and mitigation that are cascaded to the nations for implementation. The global institutional landscape for adaptation include the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) - Global Climate Change Adaptation Network, and World Meteorological Organization (WMO). These institutions have been at the forefront in spearheading action on adaptation and mitigation to climate change.

In Africa, the African Ministerial Conference on Environment (AMCEN) is the main African region institution that provides advocacy for environmental protection that foster local adaptation practices in Africa. The AU has created adaptation and mitigation monitoring policies as well as frameworks for low carbon development (Africa Partnership Forum, 2009; AMCEN, 2011). AMCEN brings together fifty four African ministers of environment drawn from 54 African countries providing continent wide leadership and developing strategic policy guidance that promotes sound environmental management.

The East African regional level brings together the six nations within the East African Community (EAC) comprising Burundi, Kenya, Rwanda, Southern Sudan, Tanzania and Uganda. The EAC has put together a climate change policy that guides partner states and stakeholders in climate change adaptation and mitigation actions. The institutional landscape for adaptation within the EAC is comprised of the East African Community institutions such as East African Community (EAC) Climate Change Coordination Unit. EAC (2011) recognizes that climate change initiatives are currently undertaken in an uncoordinated manner by various departments, institutions and organizations at the regional level and in the Partner States. The East African Community has worked on strengthening policies on climate change adaptation for the region (EAC, 2011; EAC, 2011c).

At the national level in Kenya, the national level institutions lead in national policy formulation, coordination and implementation for adaptation. Bridging the gap between international, regional and national climate change frameworks is best replicated by plans and strategies in Kenya that respond to climate change. The institutional landscape for adaptation is established through the Climate Change Act of 2016 which sets up the National Climate Change Council (NCCC) and the Climate Change Secretariat as lead institutions in climate change (GOK, 2016a). The NCCC will have

oversight on the mainstreaming of adaptation functions at national and county levels; approve and oversee the implementation of the National Adaptation Plan (GOK, 2016b). These institutions are guided through adaptation using the National Climate Change Response Strategy (NCCRS) 2010, the National Climate Change Action Plans (NCCAP), the Climate Change Act 2016 and National Adaptation Plan 2015 – 2030 (GOK, 2010; GOK, 2013a; GOK, 2016a; GOK, 2016c).

At the local level, the Climate Change Act 2016 provides for the establishment of County Executive Committee member to coordinate climate affairs (GOK, 2016a). County Governments are mandated to integrate and mainstream climate change actions, interventions and duties into County Integrated Development Plans (CIDPs). The county governments are responsible for integrating and mainstreaming climate change actions into their County Integrated Development Plans (CIDP), and reporting annually to the County Assemblies on the implementation of climate change. County governments are expected to establish climate change units that will oversee the implementation of all climate actions (GOK, 2016a, GOK, 2018c). The national public policies establish mechanisms for the setup of state institutions that act on climate change adaptation, the non-state institutions 'core business is development. However, because of the changing climate change adaptation issues. Given the foregoing, the question arises on how suitable their structures are for uptake of climate change adaptation.

The local institutions, shape the impact of climate change on rural communities; shape the ways that communities respond to climate change by different incentive structures; and are the intermediaries for external interventions and support to local climate adaptation (Agrawal 2010). Local institutions

know their communities and bring together stakeholders to develop community-based strategies and maximize use of local resources for development.

Local institutions are categorized into five different types namely, government institutions operating at the county level and to lower administrative units in the community, non-government organizations (NGO) who work directly with the communities and have offices in the sub counties and wards, community based organizations (CBO) comprised of community members, Faith based organizations (FBO) that are present in the community and whose mandate is beyond spiritual matters and private sector institutions who also are based within the county and to the lower administrative units.

This study sought to find out the contribution of local institutions capacities in fostering climate change adaptation within the Mara river basin, unlike in previous studies that have majorly focused on international and national institutions. GOK (2013b) states that capacity development for climate change must focus on those individuals and institutions that are dedicated to climate change and to those that are mainstreaming climate change adaptation.

Ayers, Saleemul Huq, Wright, Faisal, & Hussain (2014) note that much of the information around climate change impacts exists externally, in the realm of international bodies such as the IPCC. Thus, a first step is to invest in national-level capacity to generate locally appropriate evidence that can speak to policy decision-making forums. Supporting this step requires harnessing national-level expertise around vulnerability as well as building capacity around climate science, to ensure that adaptation priorities are country-owned and nationally responsive (Ayers et al., 2014). Focussing on local level institutions will enhance action at the lowest level of impact.

Kenya has demonstrated a strong commitment to addressing climate change challenges. The Climate Change Act, 2016, the first legislation in Africa dedicated to climate change, sets out the legal basis for mainstreaming climate change considerations and actions into sector functions (Kajumba, Karani, & Fisher, 2016). As such, the Climate Change Act requires the development of a National Climate Change Action Plan (NCCAP) every five years that sets out measures and mechanisms to guide the country toward the achievement of low-carbon, climate-resilient development.

Local level institutions have other core businesses and climate change has been added onto their mandate. Nonetheless, these institutions are expected to build community resilience to climate change through adaptation practices. Va Dany, Bowen & Miller (2015) point out that assessing the institutional capacity to adapt needs to take into account the characteristics of adaptation and will differ depending on whether the focus of concern is on national policy and funding priorities, community-based initiatives, or some other form of adaptation, such as household livelihood decision making or adaptation technology transfer. Contrary to this thinking, Andresen (2015) postulates that climate change is a global problem, and it makes sense for nations to seek to solve the problem together, favouring a centralised and universal (top-down) approach. However, Brown & Sonwa (2018) argue that the diversity within village institutions could open the doors for learning new things about adapting to climate change. Thus, community resilience in the context of climate change could be better fostered by building capacity within local institutions and social networks to further extend their learning about potential climate change impacts and how to respond.

Understanding how institutions function in relation to climate and its impacts is a core component in designing interventions that can positively influence the adaptive capacity and adaptation practices of poor populations (Agrawal, 2008). UNFCCC (2013) has established protocol for countries, regions

and communities to adapt to present and future impacts of climate change by undertaking a comprehensive and iterative process, consisting of first, assessing impacts, vulnerability and risks; second, planning for adaptation through identification of adaptation activities and their appraisal; third, implementing adaptation measures at national, regional and local levels and fourth, monitoring and evaluating adaptation. Key initiatives to address adaptation are noted in terms of financial support of international and national institutions through the adaptation fund for countries that are parties to the Kyoto Protocol.

The policy direction offered by UNFCCC has been domesticated in the East African Region through the East African Community (EAC) Climate Change policy framework. This policy framework has three critical instruments. That is the EAC Climate Change Policy, the EAC Climate Change Strategy 2013-2017 and the EAC Climate Change Master Plan 2013. EAC (2011) identifies inadequate institutional, legal and regulatory frameworks for adaptation as one of the major challenges facing climate change adaptation activities. EAC (2011c) further notes that the institutions in charge of overseeing climate change are already over-burdened with other mandates, and climate change was not a priority when these institutions were set up, and is therefore yet to be fully mainstreamed within their operations.

It is within the international and regional climate change agenda that Kenya has domesticated adaptation mechanisms. Kenya has an economy that is highly dependent on its natural resource base, this makes it highly vulnerable to climate variability and change. A coherent and coordinated regulatory framework must therefore guide the national and local level responses to the impacts of climate change. The absence of internal coherence in laws and policies has resulted in duplicity and overlap in execution of institutional mandates, with a suboptimal outcome for Kenya (GOK, 2016b).

This has meant harmonization of the various sectoral laws, policies and institutional mandates that define roles and functions required for climate change response in order to enhance coordination and mainstream climate change into their functions. The changes to the national governance framework introduced by the Kenya Constitution of 2010, introduced national and county levels of government, thus the need to promptly ensure internal coherence and proper coordination of functions (GOK, 2014; GOK, 2016b).

A number of climate change policies and plans have been produced by countries to guide and support their adaptation efforts. Kenya has passed into law it's Climate Change Bill, has in place a National Climate Change Strategy and National Climate Change Action Plan, and has prepared a draft national climate change framework policy and a draft climate finance policy (GOK, 2013a; Parry & Terton, 2016; GOK, 2016a; GOK, 2018).

The National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs) are the most prominent national-level effort to identify priority areas in which adaptation to climate change is necessary. However, NAPAs have paid minimal attention to local institutions or to the relationship between local and higher-level institutions – even for projects that are focused on agriculture, water, forest management, fisheries, small scale infrastructure and capacity building at the local level (Agrawal, 2008). Only 20 of the 173 projects described in the NAPA reports identify local level institutions as partners or agents in facilitating adaptation projects, despite the fact that the NAPA process required widespread consultations with NGOs and other civil society actors (Agrawal, 2008).

Kenya on its part, has put in place its National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs) in a document known as the Kenya National Adaptation Plan - NAP 2015-2030. It is Kenya's first

exclusive plan on adaptation, and provides direction towards achieving Vision 2030 goals by mainstreaming climate change adaptation into planning and action. The NAP supports national and county governments to implement the National Climate Change Action Plan (NCCAP) by providing guidance on priority actions. The NAP articulates a mainstreaming approach under which adaptation and development goals are complementary. This approach is recommended in the National Climate Change Action Plan 2013-2017, and articulated in the Climate Change Framework Policy and Climate Change Bill.

Counties in Kenya form the devolved planning units within which institutions operate. The counties are expected to feed the NCCAP with information on climate change challenges in each county and county specific action plans on climate change. In order to achieve this, there is need for institutions which are drivers of planning to have the capacity to ensure collaborative planning for strategies to be used in addressing climate change impacts. Kenya's adaptation needs are informed by its national circumstances, including current and projected climate scenarios that impact decision making. The NAP broadly adopts the institutional structures recommended in the NCCAP and established in the Climate Change Bill (GOK, 2013a; GOK, 2016). The NAP sets out priority adaptation actions in the planning sectors and describes a monitoring and reporting framework for use (GOK, 2016b).

Each County in Kenya designates planning to start from the internal local departments at the ward, city or urban areas and cascades upwards to the sub County, county and national level. The planning process is spearheaded by the government departments but non-state actors are incorporated to ensure a holistic coverage of the issues raised. These plans are then used to develop budgets for implementation of the plan. The major types of plans where climate change adaptation issues should

be incorporated include the county integrated development plans (CIDP), county spatial plans, county sectoral plans and city or municipal plans (GOK 2012, GOK 2013b).

Owing to a lack of the technical and financial capacity of both national and local institutions, public services for adaptation to climate change are being governed by various combinations of the state, social networks, individuals, entrepreneurs and external aid agencies. Such agencies provide different modes of brokerage, mediation and translation that create the basis for different forms of the co-production of collective services (Friis-Hansen, Aben, Okiror, Bashaasha, & Suubi, 2015).

However, this may not always work in the favour of local communities as noted by Va Dany et al (2015) who reflected that the lack of institutional capacity can inhibit the realization of policy objectives. Institutional capacity is an important element for climate change adaptation. Further to this, Akenji, Elder, Bengtsson, Olsen, & King (2018) note that adequate capacity is needed at all levels of government, not least at local levels where much of implementation takes place. Strengthening the capacity to mainstream environmental concerns into development planning and policies is necessary.

Agrawal, McSweeney and Perrin (2008) argue that adaptation to climate change is inevitably local and institutions influence adaptation and climate vulnerability in three important ways. First they influence how households are affected by climate impacts secondly they shape the ability of households to respond to climate impacts and pursue different adaptation practices; and thirdly they mediate the flow of external interventions in the context of adaptation. Further to this, Jegede (2018) notes that local populations may have time-tested knowledge systems, but the intensity of climate change poses a different challenge. Hence, the accommodation of proposals dealing with capacity development of local populations is pivotal to helping them develop the capacity to cope with loss and damages.

Local institutions, structure livelihood impacts of climate hazards through a range of indispensable functions they perform in rural contexts. Institutional functions include information gathering and dissemination, resource mobilization and allocation, skills development and capacity building, providing leadership, and relating to other decision makers and institutions. Each of these functions can be disaggregated further, but the extent to which any given institution performs the above functions depends greatly on the objectives with which the institution was formed, and the problems it has come to address over the course of its existence (Agrawal, 2008). This is echoed by GLCA (2009) that notes that adaptation to climate change is highly local, but support from national governments, international donors, and NGOs will be necessary to reduce vulnerability, identify and fill gaps in adaptation planning, prevent maladaptation and ease the impact of climate variability and change on the vulnerable.

Adaptation is inherently local and therefore it is critical to attend to local institutions in thinking about effective adaptation (Agrawal and Perrin, 2008). However, in the Mara River basin where adaptation is critical, the capacity for local institutions to foster adaptation is not known. The majority of the institutions here tackle issues related to agriculture and food security, water, environment and energy that are heavily dependent on the climate, but the institutions have not been able to fully embrace the protocols put in place by the UNFCCC on climate change adaptation, the national adaptation plan or the National Climate Change Action Plan.

11

This study sought to find out the capacities of local institutions in fostering climate change adaptation mainstreaming within the Mara river basin unlike in previous studies that have majorly focused on international and national institutions. National Climate Change Action Plan 2013-2017, (GOK 2013a) states that capacity development for climate change must focus on those individuals and institutions that are dedicated to climate change and to those that are mainstreaming climate change adaptation. The Narok county integrated development plan and the Bomet county integrated development plan (GOK, 2018a; GOK, 2018b) stipulate how the counties are developing legislation and structures to address climate change action as mandated by the national level policies. Nonetheless, adaptation is ongoing in the counties done by non-state actors. The capacities of these non-state actors to address adaptation is still unknown.

Government institutions have specific mandate in the county policies for example in the Narok county integrated development plan 2018-2023 strategic priority on climate change is to draft and implement a climate change policy and work-plan including the formation of the Narok County Climate Change Fund (County Government of Narok, 2018). The draft climate change policy for Bomet county mandates the Governor to designate a County Executive Committee Member to coordinate climate change affairs and to give prominence to Climate Change in the title of the department. The county government is also mandated to put in place a technical institutional framework to guide policy and functional implementation of climate change legal obligations of the county government (County Government of Bomet, n.d). However, the institutions mandated to do so are still in their formative stage at the county and are not carrying out climate change adaptation. The non-state actors comprising NGOs, CBOs, FBOs and private sector institutions have varied mandates ranging from humanitarian action to development action that are not directly classified as climate change adaptation obligation. Butler et.al, (2015) notes that community, government, and NGO respondents' views of livelihood challenges differ significantly. The institutional domain NGO respondents differed by prioritizing transformational strategies that balance traditional values and practices with current government structures. Anugwom, Igbokwe & Nweze (2017) are in agreement that local knowledge and expertise are needed in developing management strategies and to provide a sense of ownership over a resource and make the community responsible for its long-term sustainability.

NGOs, CBOs, FBOs are often charged with implementing humanitarian programmes which are short term and development programmes that are long term (Martin, 2012). In the Mara River basin where adaptation is critical, the capacity for local institutions to foster adaptation is not known. The majority of the institutions here tackle issues related to agriculture and food security, water, environment and energy that are heavily dependent on the climate. Therefore, climate change adaptation actions they are undertaking are by default, it is important to understand how the mandates they have relate to what is in the international and national climate change adaptation mandates. Local level institutions have other core businesses and climate change has been added onto their mandate. Nonetheless, these institutions are expected to build community resilience to climate change through adaptation practices. How are these institutions addressing the climate change adaptation issues?

Harvey (2013) shares that institutional structure need to address the character of and relations between major institutional spheres i.e. its private-sector economy, government, and civil society. Agyemang, Gatsi & Ansong (2018) further notes that good institutional structures serve as an important issue for growth and development. The different categories of institutions operating in the Mara river basin each have their own set of rules, schemas, and strategies which they utilize to undertake adaptation. The institutions utilize the structures of coordination, planning, management and logistics affects climate change adaptation differently. This wide range of structures are likely to affect climate change adaptation delivery in different ways that need to be understood and linked to delivery.

The institutional landscape and its linkages promotes different programs and networks. Wilbanks and Kates (1999) in their study found that the process to connect national or global expertise with local action, is far more effective when general expertise is focused on interactions with experts at the local scale, who then provide the linkage with local decision makers. Kamatsiko (2017) concurs that establishing strategic horizontal collaboration and linkages is as important as creating vertical ones that connect to national level and reach out to grassroots efforts and peoples. At the international and national level, the institutional landscape and linkages are guided by international policies laid down in the UNFCCC and the National Adaptation plan 2015 - 2030 respectively. The institutional landscape in the Mara river basin is known however, the linkages that exist and promote adaptation are still unclear.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

Institutions, together with communities, have responded to climate induced vulnerability by fostering adaptation and mitigation at multiple scales ranging from the global to the local arena. Adaptation yields immediate results because it involves an adjustment to the way of doing things to suit the changing environmental conditions and establish a better chance to survive. The global, regional and national landscape for adaptation is well defined with clear mandates and capacity. At the local level "the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate is not institutionalised and is undertaken in an uncoordinated manner. In Kenya where the government is decentralized, in 2020 the county

structures for addressing climate change are still in the preliminary stages of establishment. Institutions that are non-state actors involved in development activities find themselves implementing climate change adaptation activities by default. These institutions while implementing development are forced to adopt to a changing climate and thus implement adaptation actions. It is not clear to what extent their structures and social arrangements are able to fulfil climate change adaptation. This study therefore sets out to examine how the structures of these local institutions affect their functions.

1.3 Research Objectives

The main objective of the study was to establish the capacity of local institutions to foster climate adaptation responses in the Mara River Basin.

The specific objectives were to:

- 1. Assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin.
- 2. Evaluate the internal institutional structures that enable or hinder climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin.
- 3. Analyze the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin.

1.4 Research Questions

The study had the following research questions:

- 1. To what extent do local institutional practices in the Mara basin promote climate change adaptation practices?
- 2. In what ways do the internal institutional structures enable or hinder adaptation?
- 3. How do opportunities in the institutional landscape enhance community involvement in climate change in the Mara River Basin?

1.5 Scope and Limitations

The representatives of local institutions comprising government agencies, Non-governmental organizations, Community based organizations, Faith based organizations and private sector institutions interviewed are located within the Mara River Basin middle catchment which lies in the two Counties of Bomet and Narok. Qualitative research design was used to interview one hundred and thirty seven institutions drawn from policy makers at the county were specifically targeted to gain insight into climate change adaptation policies in use at that time or policies proposed for future use. The field research covered the period from 2015 to 2018.

One of the initial challenges was accessing a documented list of institutions operational in the climate change arena. This was addressed by getting a list from area administrators including provincial administration chiefs and government officials. The list was then consolidated for study. In 2013, the new constitution (2010) of Kenya was promulgated and devolved governance was introduced to the counties. The transition process, however, took time with various institutions within the counties introduced by merging or separating some so that the administrative operations took long to stabilize.

Significance of the study

The process of adaptation to climate change is integrated into other activities at the community level and it is not known how well equipped the local institutions are to foster adaptation which is not the primary reason for which they are established. The study examined the extent to which the local institutions undertake adaptation to provide evidence that they actually carry out adaptation. This will give them credibility when partnering with other stakeholders. The study also examines the structure of local institutions to know what structures work for adaptation, what does not and what needs to be improved. Improved performance should translate to successful adaptation.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to trace and explore past literature. The literature review enabled the researcher define the study, review possible theories to guide the study and explore institutions' capacity in climate change adaptation practice. This involved review of other studies focussing on institutions and climate change adaptation. It established the ground for the research in enabling obtaining knowledge of the research problem, set objectives and design the methodology for the research. The research, is anchored around the objectives that leads to the conceptual framework.

2.1 Local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation

Local institutional practices that promote of climate adaptation was reviewed in line with institution mandates with analysis focussing on regulations on climate change adaptation, planning for climate change adaptation, promotion of climate change adaptation and implementing adaptation. To foster adaptation to climate change requires institutions with an interest in taking action on climate change. Institutions include organizations, governance structures and social arrangements.

Institutions exist to reduce uncertainty in the world, they are the incentive systems that structure human interaction. Institutions structure human interactions by providing incentives and disincentives for people to behave in certain ways (North, 2003; Moura, Bianchi, Mazato, Espig, and Falaster, 2019). Lobo (2008) agrees that institutions matter, in that they determine the growth path of society, as well as distribution of benefits, access to resources and power. Further to this representative, robust and effective institutions play a significant role in advancing the development of a society and enhancing the quality of life. A similar interpretation is provided by Agrawal (2009) who indicates

that local institutions are central to local adaptations to climate risks. Without local institutions, rural poor groups will find it extremely costly to pursue the adoption of effective adaptation practices relevant to their local needs, as well as difficult to increase their level of information and knowledge on adaptation options. UNFCCC (2007) show that local institutions are necessary to enable households and social groups to deploy specific adaptation practices. Similarly, Pauw (2015) points out that local entrepreneurs need to take the lead as externals find it difficult to start in unknown areas, and that larger SMEs operate on a larger level and do not penetrate the rural areas where much of the adaptation is needed.

Institutions operate at different levels of jurisdiction ranging from the world system to localized interpersonal relationships. According to Pauw (2015), small and local businesses are important for adaptation and sometimes better able to respond to the needs of the poorest than government bodies or NGOs. Agrawal and Perrin (2008) agree that institutions influence the livelihoods and adaptation of rural households in structure the distribution of climate risk impacts; constitute and organize the incentive structures for household and community level adaptation responses; and finally mediate external interventions into local contexts.

In Agrawal and Perrin (2008), it is worth highlighting that, unlike the situation for climate change mitigation, private and market institutions have been relatively absent in facilitating adaptation in rural areas. This absence constitutes an important arena of interventions for public policy to start crafting incentives that can draw private institutions more centrally towards facilitating adaptation.

Adapting to climate change entails taking the right measures to reduce the negative effects of climate change by making the appropriate adjustments and changes in human practices. According to World

Bank (2010), to reverse climate change, action will be required in three thematic areas of inertia, equity and ingenuity. Policy has to overcome institutional inertia, which has three implications for climate change and smart development. Firstly, institutional change should be a priority, success will hinge on reshaping the institutional frameworks that support adaptation and mitigation interventions. Secondly there is need to review institution reforms which look at addressing institutional determinants of climate policy to ensure effectiveness and sustainability of interventions to maximize the impact of finance and technology and lastly, there is need to increase gender inclusion, recognizing indigenous people's rights and reforming property rights (World Bank, 2010). Inertia is the defining characteristic of the climate challenge and is the reason World Bank (2010) states as pushing for the need to act now. Equity is the key to an effective global deal, the reason for acting together; finally ingenuity is the answer to a problem that is politically and scientifically complex - the quality that could enable nations and communities to act differently from the past (World Bank, 2010).

Matthews (2013) points out that institutional change take place when an institution adds, removes or changes some or all of the social constraints it is responsible for. Weak capacity is not always the most critical factor, flawed incentive structures can be in conflict with the need to reflect environmental concerns in planning, policy-making and implementation (Akenji, Elder, Bengtsson, Olsen, & King 2018), involving citizens in the budgeting process can help ensure that spending priorities are aligned with locally recognized needs (Akenji et al 2018).

The foregoing is consistent with Agrawal and Perrin (2008) who reviewed 118 institutions from government, civil society and private sector, although the outputs differ, the situation in Yemen as noted by World Bank (2011) indicated that even if institutions are present, they are not associated
with assistance for climate change adaptation, and formal institutions hardly provided any assistance in terms of training, inputs, or cash; most of the adaptation strategies adopted by the households were financed and realized by the households themselves using their own resources. Agrawal, McSweeney and Perrin (2008) note three types of local institutions relevant to adaptation: civic, public, and private in their formal and informal forms. These institutions shape the livelihoods impacts of climate hazards through a range of indispensable functions they perform in rural contexts such as information gathering and dissemination, resource mobilization and allocation, skills development and capacity building, providing leadership, and networking with other decision makers and institutions.

According to Bosello, Carraro, & De Cian (2012), adaptation can be identified along three dimensions - the subject of adaptation (who or what adapts), the object of adaptation (what they adapt to) and the way in which adaptation takes place (how they adapt). Adaptation responses are critical for the sustainability of the ecosystem. Adaptation should be used to deal with reasonably well understood local phenomena (Bosello, Carraro, and De Cian, 2012; Mikulewicz, 2018; Friis-Hansen & Funder, 2019). Agrawal and Perrin (2008) take a step further to identify the forms of adaptation which communities work through in order to build resilience. These are categorized into four areas namely mobility, storage, diversification, communal pooling and market exchange. These strategies are unpacked and shared in Table 2.1 below:

Table 2.1: Strategies for Adaptation

Class of Adaptation Practice	Corresponding Adaptation Strategies 1. agro-pastoral migration 2. wage labour migration 3. involuntary migration		
Mobility			
Storage	 Water storage food storage (crops, seeds, forest products) animal/live storage pest control 		
Diversification	 asset portfolio diversification skills and occupational training occupational diversification crop choices production technologies consumption choices Animal breeding 		
Communal pooling	1. forestry 2. infrastructure development 3. information gathering 4. disaster preparation		
Market exchange	 improved market access insurance provision new product sales seeds, animal, and other input purchases 		

Source: Agrawal and Perrin 2008

Local institutions know their communities and should have the main responsibility for identifying the poor and vulnerable, and supporting them in building safe rural and urban settlements. These institutions should ensure that locally appropriate information about best practices for risk management and adaptation reaches the poorest and most vulnerable citizens through extension services. They should be able to manage public goods effectively, in cooperation with the private sector, and should be stakeholder-driven to move resources efficiently from global to local levels, develop community-based strategies, and maximize local resource mobilization (GLCA, 2009). At local levels, institutions have arisen that have interest in addressing climate change as part of their wider mandate. However, more analytical work is needed on how to integrate adaptation into sectoral policies.

McGray and Sokona (2012) argue that institutions are central to the climate resilient development agenda. That is why building a climate-resilient society will require long-term and potentially fundamental transformations, including both large and small changes. In the same way successful adaptation practices rely on the availability of knowledge about current and expected climate impacts, and about the options that exist to address these impacts (Klein et al, 2017). Thus institutions play a crucial role in enhancing development but more importantly in supporting communities build resilience and secure their livelihood. Institutions use schemas and rules to deliver on their goals, the goal delivery starts with identifying the needs and planning for these needs especially in relation to climate change adaptation.

Therefore, given the foregoing, it is evident that any action that will reduce the impact of climate change and increase resilience of the population will need to be anchored in institutions that support community actions. Identifying these institutions including their mandates and current actions in addressing issues of climate change adaptation is thus crucial for long term sustainability. Institutions in Kenya are guided through adaptation using the National Climate Change Response Strategy (NCCRS) 2010 which focuses on evidence of the key climate risks to Kenya; assessing of climate change impacts on the sectors; documenting climate adaptation activities that are underway and planned; developing a set of potential and priority adaptation actions per sector and supporting the integration of climate change adaptation into relevant new and existing sector policies, development, budgetary and planning processes (GOK, 2010). Government institutions are at the forefront in planning for climate change adaptation and mitigation issues guided by the National Climate Change Action Plan, the Climate Change Act 2016, and the National Adaptation Plan 2015 -2030.

The Climate Change Act No. 11 of 2016 guides the process of climate change adaptation and mitigation (GOK, 2016a). The Act requires the National Government to develop five-year National Climate Change Action Plans (NCCAP) to guide the mainstreaming of adaptation and mitigation actions into sector functions of the National and County Governments. According to the Act, henceforth, all policies developed on climate change shall be in relation to adaptation to, and mitigation against climate change.

The Climate Change Act 2016 requires that the public is involved in the development and review of the Climate Change Action Plan. This role as stipulated in part I subsection 3 of the Act is applied to the development, management, implementation and regulation of mechanisms to enhance climate change resilience and low carbon development for the sustainable development of Kenya by the national and county governments in all sectors of the economy.

Among the key functions of the Council is to provide an overarching national climate change coordination mechanism inclusive of ensuring mainstreaming of climate change by the national and county governments; approval and overseeing implementation of the National Climate Change Action Plan; advise the national and county governments on legislative, policy and other measures necessary for climate change response and attaining low carbon climate change resilient development, provide policy direction on research and training on climate change including the collation and dissemination of information relating to climate change to the national and county governments, the public and other stakeholders; and administer the Climate Change Fund established under this Act. The foregoing is in line with Tänzler and Carius (2013) who recognize that a coherent implementation of adaptation measures is likely to be facilitated by an institutionalization of responsibilities.

Local adaptation strategies in Kenya have been streamlined by the National Climate Change Action Plan (NCCAP) 2013-2017 and more recently the 2018-2022 plan and the National Adaptation Plan 2015 – 2030 pinpoint individual sector responsibility in climate change (GOK, 2013a; GOK, 2018; GOK, 2016c). Agrawal (2009) notes that the National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs) are the most prominent national-level effort to identify priority areas in which adaptation to climate change is necessary. The NAPAs, in identifying priority areas for adaptation interventions, have tried to consider the local nature of adaptation as well as the need for external support in effective local adaptation. Most NAPA projects seem to be aimed at building national governments' capacities rather than strengthening the capacity of local actors and institutions to undertake adaptation (Osman-Elasha & Downing 2007; Agrawal 2008). The National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPA) funded under UNFCCC funding mechanisms have shown that 85% of the projects pay little to no attention to local institutions, limiting their effectiveness and legitimacy (Chishakwe, Murray, & Chambwera, 2012). Yet climate change impacts are felt at the local level.

Kenya's adaptation obligations are documented in detail in the NAP 2015 -2030. The NAP recognizes the governance and institutional arrangements for implementation of adaptation actions as stipulated in the NCCAP and Climate Change Act, 2016. NAP proposes macro-level adaptation actions and sub-actions in 20 planning sectors, for each sector, the NAP identifies gaps, estimates costs of the macro-level actions projected to 2030, and identifies key institutions required for their implementation (GOK, 2016c). NAP aims to mainstream climate change adaptation into all County Integrated Development Plans and other county sectoral level plans. NAP actions are divided into three short term, medium term, and long term.

Counties in Kenya form the devolved planning units within which institutions operate. The counties are expected to feed the NCCAP with information on climate change challenges in each county and county specific action plans on climate change. The Climate Change Act 2016 (GOK, 2016a) stipulates that county governments shall integrate and mainstream climate change actions, interventions and duties into the CIDPs. In order to achieve this, there is need for institutions which are drivers of planning to ensure that they take a lead role in collaborative and design strategies to be used in addressing the issues of climate change impacts. The Bomet County Integrated Development Plan 2018-2022 (County Government of Bomet, 2018a), recognizes that the Mara River Basin goes beyond administrative boundaries has a responsibility of identifying and implementing viable cross-border socio-economic programmes and project activities including developing of policies and strategies; inventorising and mapping of natural resources within the basin; environmental protection, regulation and coordination; water catchment area conservation, control and protection; and coordination of climate change affairs within the basin.

At the county level, each government agency spearheaded by the Ministry of Planning reviews climate related issues within their mandate and ensures that these are incorporated in the County Integrated Action Plans (CIDP) and the County Spatial Plans. Once the climate related activities are budgeted for according to what has been planned, and finances disbursed to the relevant ministries for implementation, the planning process emanates from discussions at the ward level and cascades to the sub county and finally to the county. Counties are encouraged to identify their priority actions from the actions in the NCCAP and NAP and come up with County Adaptation Plans, the adaptation plans go beyond what is not listed in the national priority list as long as they are in line with their CIDP priorities.

According GLCA (2009), effective adaptation strategies require coherent and coordinated policies and cooperation among governments, civil society, and the private sector. Because impacts are local and contextual, the principle of subsidiarity should apply. The bulk of responsibility will fall on local and national governments supported by international actions to provide appropriate capacities and resources.

Adaptation is inherently local and therefore it is critical to attend to local institutions in thinking about effective adaptation. However, at the local level, non-state actors comprising NGOs, CBOs, FBOs and private sector institutions tackle issues related to agriculture and food security, water, environment and energy that are heavily dependent on the climate. This is to support communities cope with increasing climate change impacts. The core business of these institutions is in the area of humanitarian and development agendas.

Although much work on climate change and social responses to climate risks recognize the relevance of institutions to adaptation, existing work on the subject has tended either to focus on highly specific case studies of local adaptation, or to examine national level policies around adaptation. The local level climate change adaptation practices, as adopted by local institutions, is an area that requires in depth study to understand which institutions exist and what adaptation practices drive interaction at the community level.

Although much work on climate change and social responses to climate risks recognize the relevance of institutions to adaptation, existing work on the subject has tended either to focus on highly specific case studies of local adaptation, or to examine national level policies around adaptation. The local level climate change adaptation practices, as adopted by local institutions, is an area that requires in depth study to understand which institutions exist and what adaptation practices drive interaction at the community level. This study sought to find out which local institutions had a presence in the Mara river basin, the institutional mandates they have to undertake climate change adaptation practices.

2.2 Institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation to climate change

In this section structures are discussed as mechanisms of how social order is maintained, structures are frameworks around which coordination, planning, management and logistics take place, it involves all issues of governance and includes roles and responsibilities. Structures take into consideration functions, hierarchy for reporting and tasks. Bandaragoda (2000), states that the basic minimum for institutions is to have laws, policies and administration which are the three pillars of the institutional framework for integrated resources management in a river-basin context. Agrawal (2008) further highlights the following elements of local institutions working on climate change adaptation as having organizational rules that are simple and easy to understand, broad local involvement in the organization and its rules, fairness in resource allocation, clear mechanisms for enforcing rules, clear, broadly acceptable mechanisms for sanctioning rule infractions, availability of low-cost adjudication, accountability of decision makers and other officials. The foregoing is in agreement with Scott (2004b) and North (2003) who consider structures as schemas and rules set by institutions to ease the way work is accomplished.

Every institution is primarily differentiated according to the specific task it fulfils for members in the society. Furthermore, the institutions enjoy a substantial degree independence, as what goes on inside one institution is relatively independent of what happens in another institution (Aakvaag, 2015). Institutions are crucial for processing pressures from the environment, they establish rules for

cooperation that bring about better outcomes but requires collective efforts (Peters, Jordan, & Tosun, 2017; Zgiep & Kioupkiolis, 2019). The presence of rules and frameworks guide local adaptation action.

Lüdemann and Ruppel (2013) discuss structures as methods for ensuring that priority in the use of public funds is given to funding adaptation costs; in agreement with this are Agyemang, Gatsi and Ansong (2018) who point out in their study that adequate functioning of institutional structures represents a significant condition for financial sector evolution, which has a relevant contribution to sustainable economic development.

Structures of institutions are perceived as relatively malleable, with inconsistent policy responses where individual preferences are pursued (Kondra & Hurst, 2009; Peters et al., 2017). This is further concurred by Bhatasara and Nyamwanza, (2018) who state that asset-oriented framings and approaches in essence mask and understate the role of structures, mediating processes and institutions in shaping, and supporting adaptive capacity. Wimsatt (2019) asserts that group structure manifests on different size and time scales, sometimes as a hierarchical organization and sometimes in a stable manner that cuts across hierarchical relations.

According to UNFCCC (2013), countries, regions and communities are adapting to present and future impacts by undertaking a comprehensive and iterative process, consisting of first, Assessing impacts, vulnerability and risks; second, Planning for adaptation through identification of adaptation activities and their appraisal; third, Implementing adaptation measures at national, regional and local levels and fourth, Monitoring and evaluating adaptation. Key initiatives to address adaptation are noted in terms of financial support of international and national institutions through the adaptation fund for countries

that are parties to the Kyoto Protocol. The foregoing can become a reality with incorporation and facilitation of local institutions taking a lead role and liaising with communities.

UNFCCC framework has been widely used by the African Union to develop policy and formulate national climate change adaptation policies and legislations that encourage low carbon technology growth (UNECA, 2011). Building capacity of environmental institutions has also been boosted under regional frameworks where comparisons can be made on other regions. Through UNFCCC agreements on climate change, Africa can get aid when climate changes seem to overburden its capability.

The African Ministerial Conference on Environment (AMCEN) is the main regional institutional framework that fosters local adaptation practices in Africa. The AU has created adaptation and mitigation monitoring policies as well as frameworks for low carbon development (Africa Partnership Forum, 2009; AMCEN, 2011). Despite these efforts, IPCC, (2013) notes that African states require advanced management of natural resources, land and water as well as food security policies. Political momentum to safeguard these resources and develop ecosystems based on local adaptation strategies is paramount in the African region (World Metrological Organization, 2015). Bringing together of nations on their environmental policies, natural resource management and legislations as well as institutional capacity development would foster local adaptation practices.

A combined political commitment through institutional frameworks is needed from the developed countries and all nations to make a binding agreement in achieving international adaptation level (Mwambaza & Kotze, 2009). International frameworks act as the top supervision in monitoring regional and national adaptation strategies through funding and policies. Reporting and monitoring is

thus done through Action Plans at national level with greater facilitation from international institutional frameworks (IPCC, 2013). Literature of regional and national institutional frameworks, show that a vertical relationship exists in reporting climate change to international frameworks.

The policy direction offered by UNFCCC has been domesticated in the East African Region through the East African Community (EAC) Climate Change policy framework. Within this are three critical instruments. First is the EAC Climate Change Policy that identifies climate change adaptation as a priority of the region while mitigation is secondary. The policy's priority adaptation are in line with the UNFCCC i.e. Climatic Vulnerability and Risk Reduction, building socioeconomic resilience, climate change adaptation planning and enabling environment and sectoral approach to climate change mainstreaming (East African Community 2011). The second is the EAC Climate Change Strategy 2013-2017 whose goal is to contribute to the successful implementation of EAC Climate Change Policy through strategic interventions. The third is the EAC Climate Change Master Plan 2013 with the mandate of ensuring strengthening of regional cooperation by responding to climate change as shared resources.

Climate change is a global issue that demands international intervention, however, regional. National and local action is required to reduce negative impacts of climate change. The national institutional frameworks bridge the gap between international institutions and fostering of local adaptation to climate change. Bridging the gap between international, regional and national climate change frameworks is best replicated by strategies in Kenya that responded to climate change. In Kenya specifically, the Ministry of Environment and Mineral Resources launched the National Climate Change Response Strategy (NCCRS) in 2010. This enhanced comprehensive monitoring and reporting framework on climate change through the National Climate Change Action Plan (NCCAP) to international institutional frameworks like United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNCCFC 2007; GOK, 2010; GOK, 2013a). Local adaptation strategies in Kenya have been streamlined by the NCCAP that pinpoints individual sector responsibility in climate change and NAP that specifically outlines mechanisms for mainstreaming climate change adaptation practices.

Kenya has demonstrated a strong commitment to addressing climate change challenges. The Climate Change Act, 2016, the first legislation in Africa dedicated to climate change, sets out the legal basis for mainstreaming climate change considerations and actions into sector functions (Kajumba, Karani, & Fisher, 2016). The Act requires the government to develop five-year National Climate Change Action Plans (NCCAP) to guide the mainstreaming of adaptation and mitigation actions into sector functions of the national and county governments (GOK, 2016a). According to the Act, henceforth, all policies developed on climate change shall be in relation to adaptation to, and mitigation against climate change.

The institutional coordination structure provides for ensuring climate change adaptation issues are incorporated into development plans and acted upon. Among the key functions of the Council is to provide an overarching national climate change coordination mechanism inclusive of ensuring mainstreaming of climate change by the national and county governments; approval and overseeing implementation of the National Climate Change Action Plan; advise the national and county governments on legislative policy and other measures necessary for climate change, provide policy direction on research and training on climate change including the collation and dissemination of information relating to climate change to the national and county governments, the public and other stakeholders; and administer the Climate Change Fund established under this Act. The foregoing is

in line with Tänzler and Carius (2013) who recognize that a coherent implementation of adaptation measures is likely to be facilitated by an institutionalization of responsibilities.

The elements of institutions—regulative, normative, cultural-cognitive—may not be aligned, and one may undermine the effects of the other (Scott 2004a). However, this means that when the elements work effectively then the structure would deliver on adaptation practices. In line with this, the capacity of local institutions to foster climate adaptation responses in the Mara River Basin varies and relates more to their internal governance policies, length of existence and operations in the climate change arena, skills and staff competencies on climate related issues, membership type and status, planning and budgets o adaptation activities and decision making control as opposed to being solely guided by the laid down international and national mandates. This capacity requires the institution to pick up and act on policies set up at different levels – international, regional, national, county and institution's own policies in order to operate efficiently and deliver the best adaptation practices.

The capacity of local institutions to foster climate adaptation responses in the Mara River Basin varies and relates more to their internal governance policies, length of existence and operations in the climate change arena, skills and staff competencies on climate related issues, membership type and status, planning and budgets o adaptation activities and decision making control as opposed to being solely guided by the laid down international and national mandates. This capacity requires the institution to pick up and act on policies set up at different levels – international, regional, national, county and institution's own policies in order to operate efficiently and deliver the best adaptation practices.

Past studies in the Mara river basin have not examined institutions present as climate change adaptation bodies with core structures to them function effectively. Bridging this gap requires indepth understanding of the different structures that exist in institutions and which of these structures enable uptake of climate change adaptation concepts and which ones hinder climate change adaptation uptake within the institution. Identifying these institutions including their governance structures and social arrangements that are located within communities and assessing their capabilities in addressing issues of climate change adaptation is thus crucial for long term sustainability.

A closer look at the existing literature reveals that structures are contextualised as frameworks or as systems within organizations. Past studies have not examined climate change institutions as climate change adaptation bodies with core structures that make them function effectively. Bridging this gap requires in-depth understanding of the different structures that exist in institutions and which of these structures enable uptake of climate change adaptation concepts and which ones hinder climate change adaptation uptake within the institution. According to Corlett (n.d) System theory has been widely applied to the study of organizations cluster around four themes as:

- 1. System as it illuminates productive processes: the input-throughput-output mechanisms that result in products and services going out the door.
- 1. System as it illuminates energizing processes: the myriad ways in which the organization affects and is affected by its environment.
- System as it illuminates enabling processes: the mechanisms that control and measure the relationships and interactions among the organization's subsidiary parts--individuals, groups, departments, etc.
- 3. System as it illuminates developing processes: the systems and programs that provide for the differentiation, i.e., growth and development, of the organization's subsidiary parts--individuals, groups.

2.3 Opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change

The institutional landscape in this study is defined as the climate change adaptation institutions within a given geographical area and the linkages that exist between them. Since climate change impacts are felt at the local level, this raises questions of how sustainable climate change adaptation strategies will be able to reverse the impacts of climate change, given that the institutions in question are, in most cases, nationally located. Wilbanks and Kates (1999) in their study found that the process to connect national or global expertise with local action, is far more effective when general expertise is focused on interactions with experts at the local scale, who then provide the linkage with local decision makers.

Kamatsiko (2017) states that establishing strategic horizontal collaboration and linkages is as important as creating vertical ones that connect to national level and reach out to grassroots efforts and peoples. Ming Xia (1997) notes four different categories of institutional linkages namely (1) Enabling linkages, which provide for authority and safeguarding, (2) Functional linkages, which provide inputs and outputs through relationships with stakeholders, (3) Normative linkages, which indirectly help with innovation and creating a favourable image, and (4) Diffuse linkages, which indirectly help with innovation of the relationships between institutional linkages and dimensions of governance such as deliberation, equity and inclusivity, accountability, learning, and the resolution of trade-offs can be expected to yield important insights for the design of governance systems that better fit social-ecological landscapes and ultimately provide better governance.

The foregoing is concurred by the World Bank (2011) in their study in Yemen where most of the adaptation strategies adopted were financed and realized by the households themselves using their own resources. Formal institutions hardly provided any assistance in terms of training, inputs, or cash. People from the community helped each other by providing of labour for rehabilitating terraces and setting up irrigation or water management measures. The low number of strategies adopted may partly be explained by this low institutional coverage.

Opportunities create a space for potential action, by observing trends and challenges within the institutional landscape. One of the major challenges to climate change adaptation has been occasioned by the low capabilities of institutions to pick up and implement adaptation mechanisms. O'Riordan and Jordan (1999), state that institutions are central to understanding and responding to global environmental challenges. In their discussion, Antle and Capalbo (2010) indicate that public investments in research on resilient systems, and provision of this information to the public, can reduce uncertainties and encourage adoption of resilient systems in agriculture. EAC (2011) identifies inadequate institutional, legal and regulatory frameworks for adaptation as one of the major challenges to supporting climate change adaptation activities.

The climate change adaptation community has attained substantial strides towards pushing the boundaries of research and analysis around exploring workable adaptation measures and strategies in different contexts; opportunities for and barriers to adaptation; in addition to the politics of and institutional dynamics in adaptation planning (Bhatasara & Nyamwanza, 2018). There is significant interplay between barriers and limits to adaptation (Barnett et al., 2015).

Opportunities in the institutional landscape exist but have not been fully tapped. The government, NGOs, CBOs and FBOs have been at the forefront in exploring opportunities in climate change adaption in undertaking their work. Therefore, there is need to increase the private sector involvement in CCA, in the Mara River Basin. The private sector is willing to be part of the adaptation action but, as in the case of Antle and Capalbo (2010) study, adaptation needs to be viewed as an investment. Further to this, there is a need to avail the kind of information that can support both private and public decisions about adaptation investments.

Walker, Spaling and Sinclair (2016), note that embedded in the country's new constitution and EMCA, Kenya has unique opportunities for advancing environmental sustainability because the right to a clean, healthy environment, the right to participate in the management, development and conservation of the environment, the devolution of natural resource development and management, and provisions for environmental assessment, auditing and monitoring.

Klein et al. (2017) indicate that information and uncertainty continue to be of concern for adaptation researchers. Yet local level institutions can be an arena where information and understanding of future change, knowledge around adaptation options can be exchanged. Institutionally, they can serve as a conduit for distributing relevant information between community level and the national level. (Chishakwe et al., 2012).

Eriksen, O'Brien and Rosentrater (2008) note that there is a rich set of indigenous strategies to deal with multiple threats, variability and environmental change, but they are not sufficient enough to reduce the impacts of climate change. One of the reasons that indigenous strategies are inadequate is the fact that they largely operate without any formal government support or facilitation. The local knowledge, networks, customary institutions and local biodiversity that are used for coping are often ignored by the formal financial, technological and institutional framework of most countries. Va Dany el al (2015) observed that capacity building as a process provides an opportunity for stakeholders from different organizations to meet and build relationships, and foster cooperation rather than competition.

Successful adaptation practices rely on the availability of knowledge about current and expected climate impacts, and about the options that exist to address these impacts (Klein et al., 2017). Ayers et al. (2014) from their study point out information needs to be presented in a useable form, and capacity needs to be built to enable its use. Civil society plays a key 'boundary organization' role in translating scientific information into usable policy advice.

The United Nations, a key player in climate change, has shaped policy in relation to global environmental issues and climate change since the 1970s. In 1972 the conference on human environment in Stockholm prompted creation of World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED) and produced the 1987 Brundtland Report 'Our Common Future', that states that the integrated and interdependent nature of the new challenges and issues contrasts sharply with the nature of the existing institutions (UN, 1987). The report further noted that these institutions tend to be independent, fragmented, and they work to relatively narrow mandates with closed decision processes. Those responsible for managing natural resources are institutionally separated from those responsible for managing the economy (UN, 1987). Tänzler and Carius (2013) recognize this and go further to suggest that adaptation will require both effective local activities and national and regional coordination for the design and implementation of appropriate action. Further to this, Adger et al

(2007) notes that adaptive capacity also enables sectors and institutions to take advantage of opportunities or benefits from climate change, such as a longer growing season.

Ayers et al. (2014) note that much information around climate change impacts exists externally, in the realm of international bodies such as the IPCC. Thus, a first step is to invest in national-level capacity to generate locally appropriate evidence that can speak to policy decision-making forums. Supporting this step requires harnessing national-level expertise around vulnerability as well as building capacity around climate science, to ensure that adaptation priorities are country-owned and nationally responsive.

The dependence structure of skills and knowledge thus modulates likely directions for forming interdisciplinary linkages (Wimsatt, 2019). Action that will reduce the impact of climate change and increase resilience of the population will need to be anchored in institutions that support community actions. Mikulewicz, (2018) asserts that local power structure, its local traditions, norms, and customs, and its linkages to and situation relative to outside power centres such as development agencies, the market or the government.

Va Dany et al (2015) found that capacity building as a process provides an opportunity for stakeholders from different organizations to meet and build relationships, and foster cooperation rather than competition. Walker, Adger and Russel, (2015) underlines that many local governments find it difficult, however, to implement greater cross-departmental coordination and to strengthen the dynamics between national and local level government. Landscape approaches, of necessity, are seen as aiming at collaboration and coordination (Robinson & Kagombe, 2018). Understanding which

adaptive capacity exist in the institutional landscape and how these provide for inter institutional linkages towards climate change adaptation is paramount.

Climate change institutions in Kenya observe Knowledge Management and Capacity Development, the Ministry of Environment and Mineral Resources (MEMR) coordinates climate change issues in the country with the National Climate Change Secretariat (NCCS) leading the day-to-day coordination. Other key government actors in addressing climate change are the MEMR Departments/Directorates of Resource Survey and Remote Sensing, Meteorology and the National Environment Management Authority (NEMA) and climate change units in other line ministries including agriculture, livestock and health among others. These form the government institutional landscape at national level.

The lead national public institutions found in the institutional landscape include the following nine who are researching and implementing technologies and enabling conditions towards local adaptation practices. Research is anchored in Kenya's Vision 2030 and aims to generate new knowledge. The areas identified here are those with a climate change focus;

- Kenya Meteorological Department (KMD) who take responsibilities of research on climate change information while developing seasonal climate information towards early public warning and preparedness.
- IGAD Climate Prediction and Application Centre (ICPAC) are charged with developing seasonal climate information products for the IGAD countries in collaboration with the National Meteorological Services of the region.
- 3. Kenya Agricultural Research Institute (KARI) is the lead agricultural institution in Kenya and East Africa. KARI conducts research and development on the relationships between climate variability and change with respect to agricultural crops and livestock.

- 4. Kenya Forestry Research Institute (KEFRI) conducts research on forestry and observes reduced emissions from deforestation and degradation (REDD)
- 5. Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) has its main focus on research on climatesensitive human diseases, such as malaria.
- 6. Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KEMFRI) focuses on marine resources, especially fisheries, also investigating the impacts of climate change on marine resources.
- 7. Kenya Industrial Research and Development Institute (KIRDI) performs research and development of environmentally-sound industrial technologies.
- Department of Resource Surveys and Remote Sensing (DRSRS) in the Ministry of Environment and Mineral Resources is involved in conducting research and monitoring of national resources by satellite and aircraft technologies
- 9. International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) has a key role in observing climate change on livestock pests and diseases. Presently in the University of Nairobi, an Institute of Climate Change and Adaptation (ICCA) has been established towards research and training on local adaptation practices

Kenya has set up clear national institutional frameworks meant to drive climate change adaptation and mitigation. However this has not translated into local institutions accessing and internalizing this information to increase sustainable climate change adaptation practices and building of resilience at the community. Antle and Capalbo (2010) go further to suggest that the information needs to be supported with public funds, to reduce uncertainties about climate change and its likely impacts. Lexina (2007) observes that adaptation is still confined to the agenda of the climate change community. It rarely shows up in the work programmes of other sectors that should be concerned with adaptation. A big task that still remains is to create awareness about adaptation among decisionmakers in the sectors that are sensitive to climate change, such as water, agriculture, health, energy, building and natural resources management. Many challenges and barriers exist in the institutional landscape. One of the major challenges to climate change adaptation has been occasioned by the capabilities of institutions to pick up and implement adaptation mechanisms. The Kenya National Adaptation Plan 2015-2030 identifies key challenges as capacity and research, awareness raising, financing and technology (GOK, 2016c). These form the gaps and basis for undertaking the investigation of the situation in the Mara river basin.

2.4 Theoretical framework

The Systems theory is a set of theoretical concepts used to describe a variety of things in terms of a model called a system. The roots of the Systems Theory can be traced within the biological sciences, where some of the founders were biologists including Ludwig Von Bertalanffy and Humberto Maturana. Ludwig von Bertalanffy advanced the general theory of systems or, more popularly known as General Systems Theory - GST). Von Bertalanffy (1951) established that, a consequence of the existence of general system properties is the appearance of structural similarities in different fields.

Von Bertalanffy (as cite in Johnson et al, 1964) outlined five aims of the General Systems Theory as: (1) There is a general tendency toward integration in the various sciences, natural and social. (2) Such integration seems to be centered in a general theory of systems. (3) Such theory may be an important means for aiming at exact theory in the non-physical fields of science. (4) Developing unifying principles running "vertically" through the universe of the individual sciences, this theory brings us nearer the goal of the unity of science. (5) This can lead to a much-needed integration in scientific education.

The principles of the Systems Theory state that every system is made up of inputs, throughput, outputs, feedback loops, boundaries and the environment (Johnson, Kast and Rosenzweig, 1964; Chen and Stroup, 1993; Laszlo and Krippner 1998). Observed phenomena in the natural and humanmade universe do not come in neat disciplinary packages but they invariably involve complex combinations of fields, and the multifaceted situations they give rise to (Laszlo and Krippner 1998).

Secondly, systems can be open or closed, open systems have porous boundaries allowing for free flow of resources and information as opposed to closed systems that do not interact through their boundary. Johnson et al (1964) defined the systems concept as a framework for visualizing internal and external environmental factors as an integrated whole, allowing for the recognition of the proper place and function of subsystems. Each system has both inputs and outputs and can be viewed as a self-contained unit. A system exists within an environment and has boundary that differentiates the systems interior from the exterior.

The Systems Theory has the potential to provide a trans-disciplinary framework for a simultaneously critical and normative exploration of the relationship between perceptions and conceptions and the worlds they purport to represent. This is seen in the case of climate change which cuts across institutions that are different in their setup yet working in the same field. Thus the need to address each field separately in order to understand the whole becomes crucial for learning and addressing climate change at the local level.

The selection of the Systems Theory was influenced by the fact that the researcher was reviewing a complex set of multidisciplinary variables and needed a theory that would holistically be used to address all the elements. The Systems Theory views an institution as a complex system with

boundaries that allow input and output thereby influencing institutional performance and the process of delivering the output is based on recognizing that institutions go through change. Reviewing the institution type and mandate makes it possible to observe the connection between adaptation practice and institution type. Internal institutional governance structures and best arrangement for adaptation practices are closely linked to the System Theory where inputs and outputs are observed and the relations distinguished.

The Mara River Basin was viewed as a system having a set of distinct parts (institutions) forming a complex whole. To study this distinct parts required a theory that takes into consideration that each of the institutions - subsystem- operates within its own set of rules and regulations thus forming a boundary into which other institutions can contribute to enhance delivery of outputs. To appreciate and grasp the dynamics of climate change adaptation in the Mara River basin requires a holistic viewpoint. The Systems Theory thus allowed the research to be experienced as a whole, as opposed to the parts being considered separately. This is in agreement with Tamas (2000) who noted that, community development is a very complex activity with many elements involved that creates a challenge when describing development in a clear and organized manner, with its many components and processes the way of organizing information in community development is through a Systems Theory.

The institutions operate as sub-systems with boundaries. These boundaries enable institutions have a demarcation in terms of operationalizing their adaptation practices. The theory can be adapted when studying institutions across international, regional, national and local levels. Figure 2.1 shows this at local levels which covers the county.



Figure 2.1: Institutions as systems and subsystems Adapted from Tamas (2000)

In a situation where there are multiple level institutions that work towards a common goal, complexity is expected, especially if the institutions have other mandates not common to one another. Chen and Stroup (1993) agree on this and state that the ability to understand the world on more than one level is important for engaging complexity. The ability to relate individual and aggregate behaviour is crucial for understanding complexity. Insight requires shifting back and forth from the micro-level to the macro-level. Neither level can be reduced to or fully explained without the other. System thinking articulates the tension between these levels and the need to engage both levels in constructing understanding.

2.5 Conceptual framework

The conceptual framework guiding this study was conceived from the Systems Theory as shared in figure 2.2 showing the variables. The aim of using the Systems Theory was to understand how interconnectedness can enhance adaptation to climate change. Two broad assumptions were made first that institutions are complex systems with boundaries that allow input and output and making this is an open system. Secondly that institutions aim to have maximum efficiency and need to have structure, mandate and strategy by functioning at optimal levels for success

In this study, climate change adaptation is influenced by the independent variables. Practice, structure and linkages are the key tenets of the independent variable that influence the dependent variable which is adaptation to climate change.

In order to deliver climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin, the first set of inputs is local institutional practices which provide a platform for action to take place in the community. For the practices to be delivered, the second set of inputs required are the institutional structures that make for a robust institution with effective structures. The third set of inputs are opportunities created by linkages in the institutional landscape. Linkages contribute to how adaptation happens in space and time. The above set of inputs are expected to be influenced by intervening variables comprised of mandates and obligations.

This interconnectedness can be summarised as follows, the independent variables of practice, structure and linkages are internal to the institutions and are closely influenced by intervening

variables of mandate and obligations; if they work at an optimal level they will produce the dependent variable which is adaptation to climate change. The independent and intervening variables act as inputs while the dependent variable is the output.

The process of delivering the output is based on recognizing that the institution will need to have the appropriate capacities and may need to go through change.



Figure 2.2: Conceptual Framework *Source: Researcher 2020*

2.6 Study Gap

Local institutions represented by government, NGOs, CBOs, FBOs and the private sector engage in a range of activities some of which are adaptation practices and others that are not. It is not know to what extent they engage in adaptation. These institutions also have different mandates and structures. It is not know to what extent their structures affect their functions as implementers of adaptation practices. It is also not known how their mandates relate to adaptation and the impact this has on their operations. The aim is to understand how the local institutions mandates relate to adaptation. The internal structures of institutions are the key to whether adaptation is taking place effectively. This study aims to fill this knowledge gap, primarily by investigating the connection between the institutional mandates, structures and their functions in relation to adaptation.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY

Introduction

This chapter presents the research design used in this study. The section gives an overview of the study area, the research design, the study population, sampling, data collection methods and data analysis are discussed. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the validity and reliability of the approach used.

3.1 Study Area

The research was carried out in the Mara River Basin in Kenya, the Basin derives its name from the Mara River which originates from the Napuiyapui swamp in the Mau Escarpment (2,932 m asl) and flows through farmlands into the plains of Masai Mara National Game Reserve in Kenya and Serengeti National Park in Tanzania before entering Lake Victoria (1,134 m asl). Sixty five percent of the Mara River Basin (MRB) lies in Kenya and thirty five percent in Tanzania. The basin is located between longitudes 33° 47' E and 35° 47' E and latitudes 0° 28' S and 1° 52' S. The main ecosystem of the basin consists of the forested habitats of the Mara River and the Mara River forest; the Serengeti-Masai Mara Ecosystem; and the aquatic habitats of the Mara River and the Mara Swamp (LVBC & WWF-ESARPO, 2010; GOK, 2018b; GOK 2018c). The Mara basin is typical of the situation across many river basins of East Africa, but it is also special because of its international profile and biodiversity conservation importance (McClain et al., 2014). The Mara ecosystem exhibits the impacts of unsustainable land use, environmental degradation, and high poverty levels and diminished livelihood options that are linked to poor land use practices and their socio-economic drivers (County Government of Bomet, 2018b).

The basin lies within the two counties of Narok and Bomet (refer map 3.1), Narok County is located in the South Rift Valley to the north of Tanzania. The county covers an area of 17,944 square kilometres, rainfall averages 1,100mm to 1,500mm annually and temperatures average 18⁰ C. The low temperatures favour dairy farming, tea, coffee, maize and pyrethrum farming. Narok County is one of the country's top tourist destinations, housing the world famous Masai Mara game reserve. It is estimated that the county collects an average of Sh2.1 billion a year from tourism (County Government of Narok, 2018).

Bomet County is located in the South Rift of Kenya and covers an area of 2037.2 square kilometres. It is characterized by the undulating topography that gives way to gentle terrain in the South. The temperatures range from a minimum of 8°C to a maximum of 28°C. It has two rainy seasons with average rainfall ranging from 500 to 1,800 mm per annum. The county boasts a rich abundance of natural resources, including formerly untouched forests which are now threatened with destruction (County Government of Bomet, 2018a). The county integrated development plan of 2018 – 2023 (County Government of Bomet, 2018a) recognizes that the Mara River Basin goes beyond administrative boundaries and the counties have a responsibility of identifying and implementing viable cross-border socio-economic programmes and project activities. A key priority for the partner counties include the coordination of climate change affairs within the basin.

The study area is demarcated by two of the river Mara tributaries. The two perennial tributaries, the Nyangores and Amala rivers, drain the forested headwaters and join to form the Mara main stem, which is also perennial throughout its length (McClain et al., 2014). Further to this, the Bomet District Development Plan, divides the basin into three broad ecological zones namely

forest, agricultural and park (GOK, 2009). The forest zone is sparsely inhabited by the forest community who have lived in a positive symbiotic relationship with nature for centuries. The agricultural zone comprises the bulk of the basin population that practise agriculture and pastoralism. The majority of the households practise subsistence farming on land holdings below 20 acres. The park zone is sparsely populated and comprises mainly large scale farmers, pastoralists, conservancies and Masai Mara Game Reserve, one of the world's renowned ecosystems (County Government of Bomet, 2018a; County Government of Narok, 2018).

The focus of the study was on the middle catchment (refer to map 3.1 and plates 3.1 and 3.2), most anthropogenic activities in the Mara Basin take place here including deforestation and increased urban settlements. This is the zone with the greatest need for adaptation. A host of local institutions working on climate change issues are found here. These include government agencies, NGOs, CBOs, FBOs and private sector institutions all who have a local base/presence in the basin.



Figure 3.1: Location of Study area Source: Researcher



Plate 3.1: View of the Mara River Basin landscape Source: Author (2016)



Plate 3.2: Soil erosion along Mara River Source: Author (2016)

3.2 Study Design

The study adapted a cross sectional research design. Cross sectional design allows for systematic data collection of more than one case. Kothari (2004) describes research design as the arrangement of conditions for collection and analysis of data in a manner that aims to combine relevance to the research purpose with economy in procedure. The study adapted a cross sectional research design to enable collect data at one point in time.

The research design looked at linking the research questions with data collection instruments. The data required was to understand the functions of local institutions in climate change adaptation, the structure of institutions involved in adaptation within the Mara river basin, and the linkages they have in place to sustain climate change adaptation responses. The study primarily used qualitative research supported with quantitative survey in order to reduce bias in data and increase accuracy of the data collected. The purpose of using mixed methods in the research was to strengthen the study. Mixed method research involves the integration of qualitative methods and quantitative methods (Gaber & Overacker, 2012).

The study adapted a cross sectional research design where institutions in a similar environment with links to climate change adaptation practices were interviewed. The institutions in the study included government agencies, NGOs, CBOs, FBOs and private sector institutions found in the demarcated study area.

Qualitative research aimed at answering the how and what research questions allowing for documenting of processes and linkages for climate change adaptation.

Study population

The study population comprised institutions that have activities in climate change adaptation and work within the study area. The unit of analysis for this study were the institutions operating in the Mara River Basin (middle catchment). The study population was comprised of institutions of government, non-governmental organizations, community based organizations, faith based organizations and private sector institutions. The study aimed to establish the institutions involvement in climate change adaptation. The study area cut across two counties but the study population was restricted to those found in the subcounties of Bomet Central, Chepalungu, Bomet East and Narok South.

Sampling Procedure

The sampling frame for the study is shared in table 3.1 and comprised of 365 institutions working on climate change issues within the study area. Of these 296 are located within Bomet county and 69 are located within Narok county.

County	Institution	Number with focus on	Sample size at
		climate change issues	saturation
Bomet	Government	21	12
	NGO	8	4
	СВО	140	52
	FBO	60	20
	Private Sector	67	23
Sub Total		296	
Narok	Government	8	4
	NGO	2	2
	СВО	31	10
	FBO	11	4
	Private Sector	17	6
Sub Total		69	
TOTAL		365	137

 Table 3.1: Number of Institutions with adaptation related activities

Source: Department of Social services and Ministry of Economic Planning of Bomet and Narok South 2012
The study used qualitative research that entailed carrying out purposive sampling in the subcounties. As stated by Kothari (2004), this sampling method involves purposive or deliberate selection of particular units of the universe for constituting a sample which represents the universe. Purposive sampling is considered desirable when the universe happens to be small and a known characteristic of it is to be studied intensively.

The institutions were interviewed in rounds to a stage where saturation was attained as shown in table 3.2. Mason (2010) states that saturation determines the majority of qualitative sample size, how quickly or slowly this is achieved is influenced by the aim of the study. He states further that as a study goes on more data does not necessarily lead to more information. Fusch and Ness (2015) further point out that when deciding on a study design, the student should aim for one that is explicit regarding how data saturation is reached.

For this study, the researcher carried out interviews in the sub counties in rounds. A complete round of interviews started in a sub county with each category of institutions after completion of a round the interviews were then repeated with different institutions in the same sub-counties in the same sequence until saturation was attained as shown in table 3.2.

Round	Institution	Numbers	Cumulative
1	Government	2	2
	NGO	2	2
	CBO	10	10
	FBO	4	4
	Private sector	4	4
2	Government	2	4
	NGO	2	4
	CBO	10	20
	FBO	4	8
	Private sector	4	8

Table 3.2 list of sampling to saturation

3	Government	2	6
	NGO	2	6
	СВО	10	30
	FBO	4	12
	Private sector	4	12
4	Government	2	8
	NGO	0	0
	СВО	10	40
	FBO	4	16
	Private sector	4	16
5	Government	2	10
	NGO	0	0
	СВО	10	50
	FBO	4	20
	Private sector	4	20
6	Government	2	12
	NGO	0	0
	СВО	10	60
	FBO	4	24
	Private sector	4	24
7	Government	0	0
	NGO	0	0
	СВО	2	62
	FBO	0	0
	Private sector	4	28
8	Government	0	0
	NGO	0	0
	СВО	0	0
	FBO	0	0
	Private sector	1	29
	TOTAL		137

3.3 Data Collection

Data collection was planned and undertaken against each of the following objectives (1) to assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation; (2) to evaluate the internal institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation practices; and (3) to analyse opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change. Objective one of the study was to Assess Local Institutional Practices that promote climate change adaptation. For clarity of the study, institutional practices were viewed as the actions/activities of an institution as it implements its mandate.

The data required for this objective was in three broad areas, (1) types of institutions present in the study area and where they can be found, (2) the mandate of the institutions, (3) the type of adaptation practices that the institutions carry out. For the types of institutions present in the study area this required profiling of the institutions to establish the geographical location and scope. Information on this was found through secondary literature within government offices at the county and sub-county in inventories used to register non-state institutions and in reports of the different institutions. The researcher also undertook key informant interviews with each institution's representative and group discussions with institution members to complete the profiling.

The study also examined the extent to which the mandates of the institutions related to climate change adaptation and compared this with the climate change adaptation action as stipulated in the Climate Change Act 2016.

Lastly for objective 1, the study selected climate change intervention areas based on the National Climate Change Adaptation Plan (2013-2018) guidelines and examined the extent to which local institutions engage the sectors in adaptation. This involved reviewing institution progress reports and carrying out key informant interviews with representatives of the institution, group discussions with staff members and site visits to observe the practices they undertake in the community.

Objective two of the study was to evaluate the institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation practices. Institutional structures for the purpose of this study are considered as frameworks around which coordination, planning, management and logistics take place. Structures are mechanisms of how social order is maintained, it involves issues of governance inclusive of rules, plans, procedures, roles and responsibilities and hierarchy for reporting.

The data required for this objective was in three broad areas, namely (1) the types of structures/frameworks that exist within the different institutions; (2) how different structures/frameworks enable adaptation practices and (3) how different structures/frameworks hinder adaptation practices. For the types of structures/frameworks that exist within the different institutions, the focus was on understanding the different types of structures that exist in institutions. This information is found in literature and was collected through a desk review, officials of local institutions were also interviewed and they were able to provide information on structures that exist in their institutions. For how different structures enable adaptation practices, the interest was on plotting the extent to which structures promote adaptation practices. In order to gain data institutional effectiveness questionnaire was administered to officials of local Institutions. For insight into ways that different structures hinder adaptation practices. To attain data for this, officials of local Institutions were interviewed using an institutional effectiveness questionnaire.

Institutional effectiveness tool

This tool was grounded on Corlett (n.d) four thematic areas of developing processes, enabling processes, productive processes and energizing processes. These processes relate to one another

and also relate to different sections in the institution. The researcher developed four quadrants shown in table 3.3, from the thematic areas and further designed questions linked to each of the quadrants in order to measure structures that enable or hinder effective function of the institutions. These were used to interview the institutions. Each institution responded to the questions in relation to their work in climate change adaptation practices. The aim was to check on the relationship between their performance and their effectiveness in delivery of adaptive practices to climate change given the structures they have in place.

Table 3.3: Institutional quadrants

The developing processes quadrant looked at	The energizing processes quadrant gauged
institutional human resources in the context of	the relationship between the institution and
inputs such as skills; knowledge;	key stakeholders especially the community
participation; effective communication; and	and the institution's sponsors and
how these translate to immediate outputs such	collaborators. It required assessing the
as decision making and finally efficient	institution's role areas of networking locally,
service delivery towards adaptation to climate	nationally, regionally, and internationally;
change. Strategy is the pattern of decision	ability to lobby and advocate for adaptation to
making which shape the institution and its	climate change; linking legitimacy to
delivery of services.	performance in the climate change arena.
The enabling processes quadrant reviewed	The productive processes quadrant assessed
the institutions as a system's ability to create	strategies used within the institution to
stability in order to deliver on the required	enhance visible actions. Goals, objectives,
mandate. It requires managing resources at the	actions, results in relation to adaptation were
institutions disposal by initiating plans and	reviewed and timeliness of institution while
budgets; putting into place and working with	taking action.
rules/procedures, documentation that is	
accessible and useable; keeping financial	
records and human resource records	

Adapted from Corlett (n.d)

Officials from each of the participating institutions was interviewed using questions and the

score table in Appendix 2.

Objective 3 of the study was to analyze the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance

community involvement in climate change adaptation. The study viewed institutional landscape

as institutions within a given geographical area and the linkages that exist between them, the linkages can be vertical and horizontal. The vertical linkages connect a lower level to a slightly higher level and horizontal linkages connect institutions within the same geographical level. For this study, institutions in the same geographical area and the linkages they exhibit were studied.

The data required for this objective was in four broad areas, (1) types of institutions in the landscape engaged in adaptation (2) Horizontal and vertical linkages, (3) Challenges faced by different types of institutions and (4) an inventory of opportunities in the institutional landscape. For the types of institutions in the landscape, identification and classification of the institutions to establish their geographical scope. Information on this was found through secondary literature in reports within the different institutions, key informant interviews with each institution's representative and group discussions with institution members was also undertaken.

For the vertical and horizontal linkages the researcher established the existence on institution collaboration, the nature of the associations and the associations that are related to adaptation. This data was found in secondary literature specifically institutions' progress reports, annual reports and evaluation reports. Further to the foregoing group discussions with institution members were undertaken to gain insight into the linkages. For data on challenges faced by different types of institutions the issues of interest was to identify the challenges, whether the challenges are related to adaptation and if the challenges specific to each category of institutions. Officials of institutions were interviewed using the institutional challenges mapping (Appendix 3)

For the fourth broad area where data was needed, inventory of opportunities, data was sourced on what institutions considered as opportunities in their associations and whether the opportunities can be used to support adaptation. An opportunities identification template (Appendix 4) was used by officials and members of local institutions in group discussion to identify the specific opportunities.

3.4 Data Analysis

Analysis can be categorized as descriptive analysis and inferential analysis (Cooper 1998; Kothari 2004). The purpose of inferential approach to research is to form a data base from which to infer characteristics or relationships of population. Descriptive analysis is largely the study of distributions of one variable, this sort of analysis may be in respect of one variable – unidimensional analysis, or two variables - bivariate analysis or more than two variables - multivariate analysis (Kothari 2004). To depict the characteristics of the institutions and climate change adaptation practices, the researcher used descriptive analysis, bias was minimized by ensuring that analysis considered both qualitative and quantitative methods of data analysis. Preparation of data analysis questionnaires were cleaned, coded, sorted, and entered into SPSS data base. Further analysis involved checking for trends and distributions and taking the data through a statistical test. The specific statistical tools for analysis of quantitative data used were cross tabulation and frequency to explore associations.

From the detailed field notes, qualitative data analysis started with findings being first recorded and aggregated at each focus group discussion level and then across discussion groups. This were followed by coding the data into thematic areas, clustering similar themes, classifying data into smaller themes and finally checking for links between the themes. Based on the themes, the current roles, gaps in roles and overlaps in roles of different institution categories on supporting communities to adapt to climate change were identified and described. An analysis of the institutions strengths were done with a focus on the existing structure, membership, resource base and technical capacity.

Objective one of the study was to assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation practices; the type of data collected and analyzed included (1) types of institutions present in the study area, (2) mandate of the institutions in relation to climate change adaptation (3) type of adaptation practices that the institutions carry out. For the types of institutions present in the study area, data collected from secondary sources was recorded and aggregated at each discussion level and then across discussion groups into thematic areas. This enabled to gain a record of institutions present in climate change adaptation. Further to this, from the primary sources the data collected was cleaned, coded and sorted. Frequencies and distributions were checked to enable have knowledge of the categorization of the institutions operating in the study area within the Mara basin.

For data on the mandate of the institutions in relation to climate change adaptation, content analysis of government policies, non-state institutions' constitutions and bye laws that mandate their actions were examined to gain insight into the content and what it says. It involved recording and aggregating information into institution categories and information on procedures laid down to implement adaptation.

For data on type of adaptation practices that the institutions carry out, analysis was done in two steps. Firstly to gain knowledge and information on the adaptation practices undertaken as stipulated in the national climate change adaptation documents and the county integrated plans, data collected was recorded and aggregated into thematic areas and groups. Secondly, a comparison was done on what the reports indicate and the areas that the institutions are involved in. Further to this, cross tabulations was then used to show the association between the adaptation practices and the category of institutions. This enabled gain insight on the practices different institution types were involved in and whether this relates to their mandate thus the capacity of the institutions to foster climate change adaptation practices. The data was presented using tables and images, explanations were done to strengthen discussion.

Objective two of the study was to evaluate the institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation practices. The data for this objective was in three areas (1) the types of structures/frameworks that exist within the different institutions; (2) how different structures/frameworks enable adaptation practices and (3) how different structures/frameworks hinder adaptation practices. Analysis for the types of structures/frameworks that exist within the different institutional quadrants. The information gathered was recorded and aggregated into themes per institution, this was then plotted into spider diagrams to visualize the strong and weak areas.

Analysis on how different structures/frameworks enable adaptation practices and on how different structures/frameworks hinder adaptation practices was done by using data from the institutional effectiveness tool interview. The data was cleaned, coded, sorted and entered for analysis for frequencies.

Checking for frequencies and distributions by using the institutional quadrants and spider diagrams enabled showed the structures that enable climate change adaptation practices function and those that hinder climate change adaptation practices to function effectively within each category of institutions. The information generated showed which category of institutions is best placed to handle climate change adaptation while appreciating the structures that each need to scale up adaptation practices.

Objective 3 of the study was to analyze the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation. Data analysis was done in four areas (1) types of institutions in the landscape engaged in adaptation (2) Horizontal and vertical linkages, (3) Challenges faced by different types of institutions and (4) an inventory of opportunities in the institutional landscape. Objective three yielded qualitative data, analysis for the types of institutions in the landscape engaged in adaptation was undertaken to know the institution categories present in the basin landscape. The classification of institutions involved aggregating information at each discussion level and then across discussion groups to know the institutions collaborations and linkages within the same localities at the sub-county level and upward to the county level. Data was first classified into smaller themes followed by checking for links between themes and institutions.

Analysis on challenges faced by different types of institutions and opportunities in the institutional landscape was done by recording and aggregating information at each discussion level and then across discussion groups between the different institutions. Coding of data into thematic areas was done followed by clustering similar themes/challenges. Data was then further classified into

smaller themes and links between the themes were checked for. After transcribing text this allowed by interpretations of the data collected which was used to create a narrative with classification of challenges and opportunities into thematic areas by the different categories of institutions.

3.5 Reliability and Validity

Two pre-tests of the questionnaires and focus group discussion tools were undertaken three months prior to the full study. Prior to the pre-tests, two separate visits were undertaken by the researcher. The first visit was to gain an understanding of the geographical scope of the potential study area and also to make preliminary links with officials in the basin. The second visit went a step further to identify key climate change adaptation issues that would need to be included in the study. It was also meant to gather information on the existing institutions and their key activities.

The third and fourth visits were conducted to pre-test the tools in selected institutions in Mutarakwa and Melelo wards within Bomet and Narok counties respectively. The questionnaire and checklists were administered and checked for clarity, ease of administration, repetitions and sensitivity. The focus was also on ensuring objectivity of the questionnaire so that, even when translated, the meaning and understanding of the questions by different respondents would remain the same. Revisions were than undertaken prior to the study. Based on the outputs of the first pretest, corrections were made and the tools administered a second time to institutions in the same locality. Some of the key issues addressed and corrected during the pre-tests including flow of questions, clarity of questions and simplicity to ensure that institutions, whether government, NGO or agribusinesses in the village, understood the question without major challenges. During the

main study, these two wards of Mutarakwa and Melelo where the pre-tests had taken place were omitted.

Further to the above, validity of the research was tackled throughout the research. The research was grounded in the system theory to guide the study. Tools selected were linked to the objectives, throughout process the tools were shared with the supervisors to ensure that the questions posed and tools were valid and had the potential for scaling up in any other setting. Sampling took into consideration that all categories of formal local institutions - government, NGO, CBO, FBO and private sector institutions - were considered and were spread throughout the study area.

3.6 Ethical Considerations

The researcher maintained objectivity at all times during the research to avoid bias in data collection, data analysis, and data interpretation. Respondents were assured of confidentiality of data hence only the institution name and first name of the respondent was required in the questionnaire for identifying data. Confidentiality and privacy were paramount and were maintained in keeping company secrets and records and ensuring respect of intellectual property. The research also ensured equity in the selection of institutions to be involved in the research at all points. Towards this, the researcher avoided discrimination on the basis of financial and non-financial resource base, location of institution, age and other affiliations and maintained honesty in all communication. Integrity that is, acting with sincerity, striving for consistency of thought and action and keeping promises guided the whole research. Finally, the researcher ensured that the research conformed to laws of Kenya and other international guidelines governing research involving human participants.

CHAPTER 4: DATA PRESENTATION, ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

Overview

This chapter presents findings and discussions of the study based on three objectives. The main objective of the study was to establish the capacity of local institutions to foster climate adaptation responses in the Mara River Basin. The specific objectives were 1) to assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin, 2) to evaluate the internal institutional structures that enable or hinder climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin, 3) to analyse the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin.

4.1 Local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation

The first objective of this study was to assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin. The objective was addressed by gaining insight into three critical areas specifically the types of institutions present in the study area, the mandate of the institutions and the adaptation practices that the institutions carry out.

4.1.1 Institutions present in the study area

The first step under this objective was to identify institutions that operate in the Mara basin middle catchment with a focus on climate adaptation actions. This was followed by categorization of the institutions to gain clear insight on the institutions that operate in the study area and their coverage. The inventories used to register non-state institutions at the county's Ministry of Sports and Gender office of the social development officer and the Ministry of Planning and Devolution office were reviewed and provided the required information. Also used were reports provided by different institutions during interviews with the specific institution's representative. The foregoing literature review revealed that the Mara River Basin has a host of institutions operating within its boundaries and spread across different sub counties. The study placed the institutions into the following five broad categories i.e.

- 1. Government agencies
- 2. Non-governmental organizations
- 3. Community based organizations
- 4. Faith based organizations
- 5. Private sector institutions

Government Institutions

The study interviewed sixteen respondents from key government ministries and departments of government found at the county and sub-county levels that are engaged in climate change adaptation in Bomet and Narok Counties. These institutions are governed by rules and regulations that determine their role in climate change activities and are guided by the Climate Change Act of 2016, the National Adaptation Plan 2015-2030, the National Climate Change Plans and the specific county integrated development plans. Table 4.1 indicates the point of contacts for these institutions.

Table 4.1: Site location of institutions

GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private Sector
Government	NGOs are found	CBOs are found within	FBOs are stationed	Private sector
institutions are	stationed either at the	the communities where	at the county, sub	institutions are
stationed at the	county, sub county or	they are located. These	county and ward	located at the
county, sub	ward level.	institutions are located	levels	county, sub
county and ward	Depending on if they	at the ward and village		county and ward
administrative	are international or	levels where they carry		levels.
headquarters from	national, NGOs can	out their operations.		
where they carry	transcend county			
out their	boundaries. However			
operations.	their operations are run			
	specifically within a			
	ward of a sub-county			
Government	NGOs have offices and	Very few CBOs have	FBOs use space	Private sector
institutions have	contact telephone	physical offices but	provided by their	institutions have
established offices	numbers and emails	CBOs can be traced	mother church or	physical
and contact		through their umbrella	mosque.	infrastructure in
telephone		organization offices		the form of their
numbers and		situated in Silibwet		business premises
emails		township and Mulot		where they can be
		township.		accessed
		CBOs can also be		
		found at the point		
		where they are carrying		
		out activities such as		
		tree nurseries sites		
		CBO officials also have		
		telephone contacts that		
		can be used to contact		
		them.		

Non-Governmental Institutions (NGOs)

In addition to the government institutions, the study area has Non-Governmental Organizations. These are the organizations that have an interest in development and for purposes of this study, those that have a focus on climate change adaptation either locally or nationally. The study interviewed six NGOs in the Mara Basin as shown in appendix 1. In the Mara River Basin the non-governmental organizations are composed of both international and national NGOs, they are not numerous and in most instances they cover wide geographical areas. The Narok County Integrated Development Plan 2018-2023 states that the Narok County has few Non-Governmental Organizations which support development of the area. The NGOs are mainly involved in water

and sanitation, health, education and social protection (County Government of Narok, 2018). Reid et al (2010) indicate that NGOs are considered an important bridging group in facilitating information flows between CBOs and research organizations. Table 4.1 indicates the point of contacts for these institutions.

Community Based Organisations (CBOs)

The third category of institutions are Community Based Organizations (CBO), these are formal and informal institutions that are found within the community and within easy reach of households. CBOs were found to be institutions established by community members coming together with a common goal aimed at supporting development initiatives at the village level. Hussain, Khattak and Khan (2008) view CBOs as not for profit organizations on a local level, facilitating community efforts for community development. CBOs work through people-centered modes of development such as availability of micro-finance and community participation in development ensuring the community improves over time. Thompson (2013) is in agreement that CBOs are all nonprofit voluntary bodies are registered with the government as legal entities.

A total of 62 CBOs took part in being interviewed for this study as shown in appendix 1. The Mara River Basin Water Users Association (MRWUA) is the largest association in the basin, it is an umbrella organization composed of over thirty three CBOs tackling environmental and climate change issues, an example is Sugutek Youth Group (see Plate 4.1) a CBO that focuses on tree planting whose aim is to reforest the hills in their catchment. The focus group discussions showed that this collaborative engagement allows for various community institutions to come together and support households build resilience through various adaptation practices. CBOs are exclusively

managed by local people who reside in the vicinity of their operations. Often the persons running the operations are not formally employed but serve on voluntary basis.



Plate 4.1: CBO focussing on tree nurseries and tree planting

Faith Based Organisations (FBOs)

The fourth category of institutions engaged in climate change adaptation in the Mara River Basin are Faith Based Organizations (FBO). For the study twenty four FBOs were interviewed as shown in appendix 1. Faith Based Organizations are establishments' setup by religious bodies such as churches and mosques to support the immediate congregation meet their basic needs. These basic needs include actions towards access to clean water, access to food and access to shelter. Olarinmoye (2012) notes that a faith-based organization is 'any organization that derives inspiration and guidance for its activities from the teachings and principles of the faith or from a particular interpretation or school of thought within the faith. Further to this, FBOs have been important actors in the social, economic and political life of developing countries since the colonial

period when they 'partnered the colonial state in providing vocational training centers, hospitals, health clinics in the colonies' (Olarinmoye, 2012).

Iati (2008) argues that overlooking the role of religion, and in particular the influence of the church, in relation to social action would be ignoring a key factor in mobilizing people to respond to climate change. Bringing to the fore the importance of religion in everyday life. In the Mara Basin, most FBOs are located within the villages but have a wider geographical coverage reacting to the ward level. Table 4.1 indicates the point of contacts for these institutions.



Plate 4.2: Private sector institutions in Mara River Basin: Small businesses *Source: Researcher*

Private Sector

The Private sector institutions are primarily businesses/companies that are based in the community and support climate related activities include telecommunication companies and their dealers; Agrovets and chemists; Agribusinesses - Cereal Stores, Community Forest Management, Bomet Traders association; learning institutions - schools; clinics and hospitals e.g. Tenwek Mission hospital and large companies such as Kenya Tea Development Authority. While the smaller enterprises are limited to the ward level, the larger ones cover the sub-county and the county. Table 4.1 indicates the point of contacts for these institutions.

4.1.2 Mandates of local institutions

The study examined the mandates of locations to establish what their core businesses were and the extent to which these included adaptation related practices.

Government Institutions have the key mandate to effect and ensure climate change adaptation takes place in each county. The broad objective of government ministries and their agencies is to oversee development through provision of services, regulatory services and research. These institutions are stationed at the county, sub county and ward level and are supported by their national level counterpart offices which are based within the counties. The Climate change Act 2016 gives the county government the mandate to mainstream climate change action into county government functions (GOK, 2016a) it further state that during development, updating and approval of the CIDP and county sector plans, the county should mainstream the NCCAP into the sectors taking into consideration county priorities (GOK, 2016a). A summary of the core mandates is presented in table 4.2.

Government institutions	Summary Mandate	Where mandate is
(Cluster)		drawn from
Agriculture	Crop and horticulture production	County government
	Food security and nutrition	ministry policies
	Livestock production	
	Cooperative and marketing	
Environment and Natural	Sustainable management of the county environment and	County government
resources (Water,	natural resources	ministry policies
Forestry, energy)	Riparian protection	
	Forest protection and management, increase forest cover	
	Soil and water conservation	
	Waste management	
Ministry of Youth,	Youth and Women empowerment	County government
Gender, Sports and	Registration of community groups	ministry policies
Culture	Capacity building of groups in leadership and	
Department of Social	management skills	
services		

 Table 4.2: Summary of Government Institutions Core mandates

At the county level, the CIDP further provides mandates to the government institutions, for instance the Narok County Integrated Development Plan 2018-2023 states its strategic priority on climate change as drafting and implementing a climate change policy and work-plan including the formation of the Narok County Climate Change Fund (County Government of Narok, 2018). Bomet County has in place a draft Climate Change Policy which mandates the Governor to designate a County Executive Committee Member to coordinate climate change affairs and to give prominence to Climate Change in the title of the department. The county government is also mandated to put in place a technical institutional framework to guide policy and functional implementation of climate change legal obligations of the county government (County Government of Bomet, 2018b). However, the institutions mandated to do so are still in their formative stage at the county.

The county government with the County Climate Change Units are expected to spearhead actions

on climate change as shown in the Climate Change Act 2016, the National Adaptation Plan 2015 – 2030 and the county integrated development plans for Bomet and Narok counties (GOK, 2016a; GOK, 2016c; County Government of Bomet, 2018a; County Government of Narok, 2018). The County Climate Change Units within the Mara River Basin have not been set up. The Bomet County Draft Climate Change Policy of 2018 states the need to put in place a technical institutional framework to guide policy and functional implementation of climate change legal obligations of the county government (County Government of Bomet, 2018b). In Narok County, different government departments spearheaded by the department of Environment, are engaging stakeholders as they develop their County Climate Change Policy (County Government of Narok, 2018).

The Bomet County Draft Climate Change Policy of 2018 provides evidence of the key climate risks at the county, climate change impacts on the sectors, climate adaptation activities that are planned and those being implemented, mechanisms for the integration of climate change adaptation into relevant new and existing sector policies, planning and budgetary processes for climate change (County Government of Bomet, 2018b). Ministry staff at the county level derive their authority from the county headquarters. The national government has strong influence locally (within the county and sub-counties) in terms of technical expertise and advice, financing, policy formulation and regulation. A summary of the core mandates is presented in table 4.3.

NGO	Core mandate	Where mandate is drawn from
Forest Action	Policy and research for sustainable management of the	Within the institution's policy
Network	environment natural resources	documents inclusive of the
	Forest conservation	institution's constitution.
	Tree planting	
	Capacity building of community groups	Their activities change over time
	Partner with government and other CSOs for	and are often dictated by the
	implementation of sustainable environment	donors they have at a given time
Kenya Red	Humanitarian actions related to disasters	Within the institution's policy
Cross		documents inclusive of the
		institution's constitution.
Action Aid –	Water projects (access to clean water)	Within the institution's policy
Kenya	Agriculture and livestock support	documents inclusive of the
	Support to women empowerment	institution's constitution.
	Policy and research	
World Vision	Poverty reduction	Within the institution's policy
Kenya	Water projects	documents inclusive of the
	Food security project	institution's constitution.
Worldwide	Biodiversity research	Within the institution's policy
Fund for	Partnering with government and NGO for biodiversity	documents
Nature	conservation	
	Capacity building of CBOs and FBOs through the Mara	
	River Basin Water Users Association	

Table 4.3: Summary of NGO core mandates

NGOS are set up for the implementation of short term humanitarian programmes and long term development programmes. NGOs have other core businesses and climate change has been added onto their mandate. Reid et al., (2010) note that the development of NGO interest in climate change adaptation has come with an introduction of new institutional and management frameworks which have added responsibilities to them at local community levels.

NGOs are governed by their specific institutional rules and regulations. However, these regulations have to fit into the public sector policies as laid down by the national government. The NGOs working on climate change are guided by international climate change policies and national public policies on climate change adaptation priorities. Each NGO uses these policies to design its own internal adaptation policies for implementation.

CBOs commonly gain their mandate from their immediate population, thereafter they get registered by the government under the Department of Social Service for purposes of regulation. Among these are local welfare groups - inclusive of women groups, youth groups, societies and associations. CBOs have rules and regulations that govern them mostly written as simple constitutions or bye-laws. The Narok County Integrated Development Plan 2018-2023 stipulates the mandate of societies as marketing of members' farm produce, provide credit facilities and farm inputs to members. A summary of the core mandates is presented in table 4.4.

CBO cluster	Summary Mandate	Where mandate is drawn from
Agriculture and	The key mandate is to address welfare and	Drawn from the bye-laws/constitution
livestock	income generation needs of their target	used during registration.
	community	The activities do not always tally with
		what is written in their constitution but
	Welfare the interest is on agriculture inputs,	they are based on what a donor or the
	school feeding programs	community want addressed
	On income generation focusing on	
	generating income from sale of farm produce	
Environment, Forest	The key mandate is to address welfare and	Drawn from the bye-laws/constitution
and energy	income generation needs of their target	used during registration.
	community	The activities do not always tally with
		their constitution but they are based on
	Welfare the interest is on environmental	what a donor or the community want
	conservation	addressed
	On income generation focusing on	
	generating income from sale of tree	
	seedlings, wood fuel	
Water and Health	The key mandate is to address welfare and	Drawn from the bye-laws/constitution
	income generation needs of their target	used during registration.
	community	The activities do not always tally with
		what is written in their constitution but
	Welfare the interest is in clean water	they are based on what a donor or the
	provision	community want addressed
	On income generation focusing on	
	generating income from sale of water from	
	improved sources	

 Table 4.4: Summary of CBO core mandates

In Hussain, Khattak and Khan (2008) the purpose of CBOs is stated as to plan, implement, and

monitor social and economic development programs and provide technical and financial help to

the communities. CBOs positively affects the process of rural change i.e. increase in income, improvement in health, nutrition and literacy status of the populations. Chechetto-Salles and Geyer (2006) assert that CBO leadership is charged with sourcing for funds from members and well-wishers. Established CBOs are able to generate budgets based on their interactions with the community and external stakeholders such as government, the private sector institutions and NGOS. Despite the foregoing, Yi-Yi Chen (2013) states that Community-based organizations (CBOs) generally face challenges of meeting clients' complex needs with limited resources.

From the interviews carried out the overall goal of CBOs was stated as improving the living standards of residents. The majority of the CBOs tackle issues related to welfare and income generation in order to secure livelihood for community members. The overall goal of CBOs is to improve the living standards of residents and climate change has been added onto their mandate in order for them to improve their outputs.

The role of CBOs is thus to encourage community members to contribute for work to be done as they coordinate and manage the resources at their disposal for sustainable development. In terms of climate change action, CBOs were noted to be strong in mobilizing community members to participate in identification of development needs of the community, implementation and management of community development plans and projects, and representing community interests.

FBOs core business is spiritual outreach, Iati (2008) asserts that many churches are preoccupied with the spiritual and other needs of their congregation. Their strength lies in their capacity to

influence society and mobilize people for social and political change. Moyer, Sinclair and Spaling (2012) state that FBOs in Kenya engage in a wide variety of projects addressing both development and environmental issues. The beneficiaries of these projects are chosen mostly by need or based on a particular geographical area where the organization operates. A summary of the core mandates is presented in table 4.5.

FBO	Summary Mandate	Where mandate is drawn from
Christian and	The key mandate is to provide	Drawn from the bye-laws used during
Islam based	spiritual nourishment and psycho –	registration.
FBOs	social support	
		The bye-laws are influenced by the mother
		church/mosque who manage the finances

In the last decade many FBOs have widened their mandate to reach all persons within their catchment on issues pertaining to livelihood security, within this climate related issues have become prominent. In terms of climate related action, FBOs are inclined towards support on awareness creation activities. There is a close link between management of the development activities and the religious institution's spiritual leaders, the larger institutions for instance the Catholic Church, recruit staff whose skills are built to enable them handle issues of climate change adaptation. Some FBOs support schools with activities related to climate change adaptation such as setting up tree nurseries and tree planting. In the study area, FBOs are managed by the mother church or mosque. In a few instances, staff are recruited to manage the development activities but the final/overall decision still rests with the pastor, priest, or imam.

The private sector institutions have clear regulations that govern their operations and eventually aim to make some level of profit. Private sector institutions' influence ranges from local to regional levels. While Kenya Tea Development Authority, Tenwek hospital and the telecommunication companies (Safaricom, Airtel) have a wider influence covering the county and beyond. The smaller businesses such as the Agrovets and agribusinesses (see Plate 4.2) have a local influence within the sub-county, wards and nearby villages.

The National Adaptation plan 2015 -2030 and the National Climate Change Plan 2018 -2022 notes that the private sector is an active partner in adaptation, providing technologies, insurance products and climate information services, many of which are facilitated by smart phone applications (GOK, 2016c; GOK, 2018). This has come about because the private sector institutions have been impacted by climate variability and has suffered negative impacts of droughts and flood risks (GOK, 2016a). A summary of the core mandates is presented in table 4.6.

 Table 4.6: Summary of private sectors core mandate

Cluster of Private sector institutions	Summary Mandate	Where mandate is drawn from
Agrovets	Provision of farm and livestock inputs and services at a cost	License issued guides their operations
Education	provision of education services at a cost	License issued guides their operations
Health based services and pharmacies	Provide health services to the community at a fee	License issued guides their operations
Communication	Provide communications products and services at a cost	License issued guides their operations

From the foregoing it is notable that the institutions in place who are the actors on the ground have differing mandates in relation to climate change. It is only the government institutions that in the last decade put in place clear mandates to manage its operations in climate change adaptation. Even these mandates for the government institutions have not yet been completely operationalized. Iati (2008) noted that NGOs work with communities and at the same time are able to engage policy

makers from governments, multilateral development organizations and aid donors. Added to this, the collaboration between NGOs and churches could prove very effective, particularly given the influence the church can have on mobilizing social action. Klein et al (2017) is in agreement and argues that non-governmental organizations and civil society have major contributions to make, and private actors and small-to-medium enterprises are increasingly held up as potentially key players in the adaptation arena.

4.1.3 Climate change adaptation practices

Adaptation practices in this study refers to the actions/activities of an institution in addressing climate change as it implements its mandate. The National Climate change adaptation plan (2013-2018) indicates the climate change intervention areas from which this study has selected a number of areas to interrogate with a view to establishing if the institutions in the Mara river basin actually implement adaption in relation to the selected intervention area. The intervention areas selected include Agriculture, Environment, Forestry, Energy and Water

Government institutions are at the forefront in planning and implementing for climate change adaptation issues guided by the County integrated development plans which draw their mandates from the Climate Change Act 2016, the National Climate Change Action Plan 2013 – 2017 and the National Adaptation Plan 2015 -2030. Each government institution at the county reviews climate related issues within their mandate to that these are incorporated in the County Integrated Action Plans and the County Spatial Plans. Once the climate related activities are budgeted for according to what has been planned, and finances disbursed to the relevant ministries for

implementation, the planning process emanates from discussions at the ward level and cascades to the sub county and finally to the county.

The adaptation actions are contextualized within the national/county planning documents and for purpose of this study were clustered into the specific sectors of agriculture and livestock, environment, forestry, energy and water (County Government of Bomet, 2018a; County Government of Narok, 2018). This is in agreement with Chishakwe et al, (2012) who note that the successes of community based adaptation are likely to be hinged on those attributes that enable local communities to be in control of their adaptation, covering various sectors such as agriculture, water, natural resources and others.

Five major types of adaptation activities that the Mara River Basin institutions carried out as gathered from the key informant interviews are summarized in tables 4.7 to 4.11. Institution respondents were asked to indicate the major climate adaptation activities they are supporting in the community and these were recorded to show which category of institutions was undertaking the adaptation practice.

Table 4.7 that follows shows the agriculture adaptation related activities.

Agricultural Support	Supporting Institution					Total
provided(practices)	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector	(n=5 institutions)
Land preparation	1	0	1	1	0	3(3/5)
Farm inputs	0	0	1	1	1	3(3/5)
Soil conservation	1	0	1	1	0	3(3/5)
Agro forestry practices	1	1	1	1	0	4(4/5)
Storage	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Access to crop	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Livestock breeding	1	0	0	0	0	1(1/5)
Access to livestock	1	1	1	1	1	5(1/5)
Total (n=8 practices)	7	4	7	7	4	

Table 4.7: Adaptation activities related to agriculture that are supported in the community

1= adaptation activities supported, 0= adaptation activities not supported

Good performance=more than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(7/8)100=87.5% Bad performance=less than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(1/8)100=12,5%

Interpretation:-87.5% of the adaptation practices examined under the agriculture had a score of over 50 %%. (*More than 50% of the institutions implemented the adaptation practice*).

An overall examination across all the institutions reveals that the main agricultural adaptation related activities supported in the communities by all the local institutions are storage, access to crop production information and access to livestock information. This is followed by agroforestry practices (see plate 4.3) where government, NGOs, CBOs and FBOs are supporting the activity. The least area of concern was livestock breeding which was only supported by the government. The government institutions, CBOs and FBOs are involved in the support of seven out of eight agriculture and livestock adaptation activities in the community. For the government institutions

they do not support the provision of farm inputs, while for CBOs and FBOs the only adaptation practice they do not support in the community relates to livestock breeding.

IFAD (2014) states the importance of investing in the agricultural sector as it is one of the most powerful ways to address climate change adaptation. These investments do not just benefit smallholder farmers but contribute to wider development goals such as poverty reduction, functioning environmental services and cutting carbon emissions. The NAP 2015-2030 states the need for promotion of sustainable climate smart agriculture methods as a key to making the sector more resilient to the impacts of climate change (GOK, 2016c).

The common agro-forestry activities include border tree planting, trees interspersed in cropland, trees in soil conservation structure, and woodlots within homes and schools (County Government of Narok, 2018; County Government of Bomet, 2018a). In the Narok County CIDP 2018-2023, the County proposes to increase the area under agroforestry by 10% mainly undertaken with collaborative efforts of all institutions supporting communities (County Government of Narok, 2018).



Plate 4.3: Mara River WUA tree nursery used for agroforestry practices in the communities

The study further pursued to establish environmental adaptation related activities supported in the

community by the institutions as shown in Table 4.8.

Environmental Support	Supporting Institution					Total
provided	GOK	NGO	CBO	FBO	Private	(n=5 institutions)
					sector	
natural regeneration of vegetation cover	1	1	1	0	0	3(3/5)
natural drainage	1	0	1	1	1	4(4/5)
Landscape restoration/Terracing	1	0	1	1	1	4(4/5)
Access of Biodiversity	1	1	1	0	0	3(4/5)
Access to environment Information	1	1	1	1	1	5(4/5)
Total (n=5)	5	3	5	3	3	

Table 4.8: Adaptation activities related to environment that are supported in the community

1= adaptation activities supported, 0= adaptation activities not supported

Good performance=more than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice......ALL (100%)

Bad performance=less than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice

Interpretation:-100% of the adaptation practices examined under the Environment had a score of over 50%. (More than 50% of the institutions implemented the adaptation practice).

The findings indicate that access to and sharing of environment information is the highest adaptation activity supported by the institutions in the communities. Of all the activities, natural regeneration of vegetation cover and access to biodiversity are the two adaptation activities that were least practiced environmental adaptation practice in the communities. Government institutions and CBOs undertake all the specific environment related activities.

Conserving natural environment especially forests, wetlands and rivers which are experiencing environmental degradation is key to addressing climate change adaptation in Bomet county (County Government of Bomet, 2018a). The choice of adaptation options is influenced by the perceived cost attached to the option (Mapfumo et al 2015), this is seen in the large number of institutions that are supporting access to information to climate change in the Mara basin. Likewise, Cisneros (2019) agrees that information is a critical resource in contexts of regulatory uncertainty, and its effective distribution could promote a better understanding of the characteristics and potential effects of policy change.

In the forest sector the respondents indicated the forestry adaptation related activities supported in the community as shown in Table 4.9.

Forestry Support provided (n=6)		Suppor	Total			
	GOK	NGO	CBO	FBO	Private sector	(n=5 institutions)
Tree seedlings production	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Tree planting	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Tree harvesting	0	0	0	0	1	1(1/5)
forest conservation	1	1	0	0	1	3(3/5)
forest protection	1	0	0	0	0	1(1/5)
Access to forestry	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Total n=6	5	4	3	3	5	

 Table 4.9: Adaptation activities related to Forestry that are supported in the community

1 = adaptation activities supported, 0 = adaptation activities not supported

Good performance=more than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(4/6)100=67%Bad performance=less than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(2/6)100=33%

Interpretation:-67% of the adaptation practices examined under the Forestry had a score of over 50 %%. (*More than 50% of the institutions implemented the adaptation practice*).

The findings indicate that production of tree seedlings, tree planting and access to forest information are the highest adaptation activities in the forestry sector that have been practiced. The least scored are tree harvesting and forest protection. The findings further indicated that government institutions and private sector institutions are involved in five out of six activities in the forest sector.

According to the Narok County CIDP 2018 - 2023, the county's forest cover which is estimated at about 16% has reduced due to encroachment, clearing of land for agriculture, charcoal burning,

illegal logging, financial challenges and political interference (County Government of Narok, 2018). Within the study area lies Chepalungu forest with an area of 47,977.1 hectares, this is the largest forest in the county but it is degraded. According to Bomet county government CIDP 2018 – 2022, the forest is earmarked for rehabilitation (County Government of Bomet, 2018a). The County proposes to increase afforestation of the degraded forest areas and overall to increase forest cover in Narok County by 1,800km2 (County Government of Narok, 2018).

Energy related climate change adaptation practices findings from the interviews are shared in Table 4.10 below.

Energy Support provided		Suppor	Total			
	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector	(n=5 institutions)
Use of wood fuel	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Use of fossil fuels	0	0	0	0	0	0
Use of solar energy	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Use of hydro power	1	0	0	0	1	2 (2/5)
Use of wind energy	0	0	1	0	0	1 (1/5)
Access to and share Energy Information	1	1	1	1	1	5(5/5)
Total (n=6)	4	3	4	3	4	

Table 4.10: Adaptation activities related to Energy that are supported in the community

1 = adaptation activities supported, 0 = adaptation activities not supported

Good performance=more than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(4/6)100=67%Bad performance=less than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(2/6)100=33%

Interpretation:-67% of the adaptation practices examined under the Energy had a score of over 50 %%. (*More than 50% of the institutions implemented the adaptation practice*).

Use of wood fuel, use of solar energy and access to and sharing energy information are the three energy related activities supported in the community by all of the institutions categories. On the other hand, the use of fossil fuel was not scored by any of the institutions interviewed as an activity they support in the community. Only one of the CBOs indicated support to the community in the use of wind energy.

Bomet and Narok counties are well endowed with solar energy, biogas energy and wind which have high potential for green energy. To promote green energy, Bomet County is in the process of developing a green energy policy (County Government of Bomet, 2018a). Narok County is looking at exploration of geothermal energy and increased use of solar energy as alternative energy sources (County Government of Narok, 2018).

Institutions support to communities in water sector are shown in Table 4.11 with the specific adaptation activities noted.
Water Support provided		Supporting Institution				Total
	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector	(n=5 institutions)
Water catchment management	1	1	1	1	1	5
Water conservation	1	0	1	1	0	3
Water infrastructure development	1	0	1	1	1	4
Riparian land management	1	1	1	0	1	4
River bank conservation and protection	0	0	1	1	1	3
Access to and share Water Information	1	1	1	1	1	5
Total (n=6)	5	3	6	5	5	

Table 4.11: Adaptation activities related to Water that are supported in the community

1= adaptation activities supported, 0= adaptation activities not supported Good performance=more than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice Bad performance=less than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice

Interpretation:-87.5% of the adaptation practices examined under the Water had a score of over 50 %%.(*More than 50% of the institutions implemented the adaptation practice*).

From the findings, water catchment management and access to and sharing water information were the main activities supported by the local institutions. Water conservation and river bank conservation and protection are the least supported activities in the community. CBOs are involved in all six water adaptation related activities while NGOs are involved in only three out of six activities. Overall, it emerged that the institutions share information with communities in an effort to enhance adaptation uptake. As part of its effort to undertake adaptation in the water sector the county government of Narok has earmarked Narok South sub-county to benefit from construction of a dam and auxiliary structures to meet the water needs of communities (County Government of Narok, 2018). In the Mara River Basin the majority of the institutions are supporting communities to access information related agriculture, livestock, water, environment, forest and energy. These are sectors that are heavily dependent on the climate. Local level institutions can be an arena where information and understanding of future change, knowledge around adaptation options can be exchanged. Institutionally, they can serve as a conduit for distributing relevant information between community level and the national level (Chishakwe et al., 2012). However, the local institutions have not been able to fully embrace the National adaptation Plan 2015-2030 which provides guidelines on short term, medium term and long term adaptation issues nor have mechanisms been put in place to include climate change adaptation in their mandates.

Reid et al (2010) note that there is a great need to integrate good adaptation practices into existing development planning at community, regional and national levels, in collaboration with government institutions in order to achieve faster up-scaling. Within institutions sharing of information needs to be systematized to enable sharing and decision making to take place. This is in agreement with Armstrong, Krasny and Schuldt (2018) note that climate literacy skills include communicating about climate change, assessing climate-related information and participating in constructive dialogue. Schlager and Blomquist (2008) who earlier suggested that adaptive management has high information requirements, these include comparison and observation of policy actions with clear set of indicators.

In the CIDPs it is not evident which are the specific adaptation actions, thus the details left to each implementing institution to decide. The counties are mandated by the NCCAP 2018-2022 to put in place climate change units which should engage with stakeholders at the county level (GOK,

2018), however, these are still in the formative stage and are yet to cascade their work to the sub county and ward levels. Further to this, to enable local institutions take up comprehensive support to the community on adaptation practices, specific funds for climate change need to be accessible at the county. The foregoing needs the climate change units that are mandated to undertake climate change action to draw up resource mobilization strategies and mobilize resources for the climate fund. The fund will need to have mechanisms for all legible local institutions in the county to access the climate funds for adaptation work.

According GLCA (2009), effective adaptation strategies require coherent and coordinated policies and cooperation among governments, civil society, and the private sector. Because impacts are local and contextual, the principle of subsidiarity should apply. The bulk of responsibility will fall on local and national governments supported by international actions to provide appropriate capacities and resources. Finally, as we increase the number and type of voices represented in the adaptation dialogue, more work is needed to understand the roles of new partners (Klein et al, 2017).

From table 4.12 shows the summary drawn from the results on adaptation practices that local institutions are undertaking.

Adaptation Practice	Proportion of institutions that engage in
(n=31 practices)	practice-(n=5 institutions)
1. Land preparation	3(3/5)
2. Farm inputs	3(3/5)
3. Soil conservation	3(3/5)
4. Agro forestry practices	4(4/5)
5. Storage	5(5/5)
6. Access to crop production Information	5(5/5)
7. Livestock breeding	1(1/5)
8. Access to livestock production Information	5(1/5)
9. natural regeneration of vegetation cover	3(3/5)
10. natural drainage	4(4/5)
11. Landscape restoration/Terracing	4(4/5)
12. Access of Biodiversity	3(3/5)
13. Access to environment Information	5(5/5)
14. Tree seedlings production	5(5/5)
15. Tree planting	5(5/5)
16. Tree harvesting	1(1/5)
17. forest conservation	3(3/5)
18. forest protection	1(1/5)
19. Access to forestry Information	5(5/5)
20. Use of wood fuel	5(5/5)
21. Use of fossil fuels	0
22. Use of solar energy	5(5/5)
23. Use of hydro power	2 (2/5)
24. Use of wind energy	1 (1/5)
25. Access to and share Energy Information	5(5/5)
26. Water catchment management	5(5/5)
27. Water conservation	3(3/5)
28. Water infrastructure development	4(4/5)
29. Riparian land management	4(4/5)
30. River bank conservation and protection	3(3/5)
31. Access to and share Water Information	5(5/5)

Table 4.12: Adaptation Practices and the proportion of institutions engaged in them

Good performance=more than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(25/31)100=81% Bad performance=less than 50% of the institutions engage in the practice(6/31)100=19%

Interpretation:-81% of the adaptation practices examined under the agriculture had a score of over 50 %%. (*More than 50% of the institutions implemented the adaptation practice*).

From the above a summary is given in table 4.13 showing overall institution performance and the extent are the adaptation practices implemented.

Sector of adaptation	Type of institution					
-	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private Sector	
Agriculture	7	4	7	7	4	
(n=8)						
Environment	5	3	5	3	3	
(n=5)						
Forestry	5	4	3	3	5	
(n=6)						
Energy	4	3	4	3	4	
(n=6)						
Water	5	3	6	5	5	
(n=6)						
Total	26	17	25	21	21	
(n=31)	26/31	17/31	25/31	21/31	21/31	
	(83.8%)	(54.8%)	(80.6)	(67.7%)	(67.7%)	

 Table 4.13: Overall institution performance

The study also established that all categories of institutions scored above the 50% mark in terms of implementing adaptation practices. This implies all of them are extensively involved in adaptation (table 4.13) although not at the same level. The highest score was obtained by Government Institutions (83%) followed by CBOs (80.6%), FBOs and Private Sector (67%), NGOs (54%).

These findings seem to indicate that CBOs, FBOs and Private sector mandates do not provide for adaption yet they implement adaptation activities extensively. A possible explanation can be found in Klein et al (2017) who notes that governments are identifying adaptation priorities and crafting national strategies, but the effort required far exceeds what the public sector alone can achieve, in

developing and developed countries alike. As a result other partners are invited hence the involvement of these institution.

4.2. Internal Institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation

Overview

Objective two of the study was to evaluate the institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation practices. The main focus of this objective was specifically to identify the types of structures that exist within the different institutions; to examine in what ways different structures enable adaptation practices and in what ways different structures hinder adaptation practices.

Institutional structures for the purpose of this study are considered as frameworks around which coordination, planning, management and logistics take place. Structures are mechanisms of how social order is maintained, it involves issues of governance inclusive of rules, plans, procedures, roles and responsibilities and hierarchy for reporting. These structures are indicative of how an institution functions and is managed, how information flows and is processed within an institution and flexibility or responsiveness of the institution to its environment.

4.2.1 Types of structures in different institutions

This study developed a tool for measuring institutional effectiveness described in chapter three (3.3). The tool introduces four quadrants used to assess internal structures of institutions. The quadrants are the developing processes quadrant, the enabling processes quadrant, the productive processes quadrant and the energizing processes quadrant.

The *developing processes quadrant* focused on growth and development and looked at institutional human resources in the context of inputs such as skills, knowledge, participation, effective communication, and how these translate to immediate outputs such as decision making and finally efficient service delivery towards adaptation to climate change.

The *enabling processes quadrant* is focused on mechanisms that control and measure delivery such as rules, procedures, monitoring, coordination and stability. It reviewed the institutions as a system's ability to create stability in order to deliver on the required mandate. It requires managing resources at the institutions disposal such as budgets and putting into place workable procedures for adaptation to be achieved.

The *energizing processes quadrant* is affected by the external environment and the focus here is to gauge the relationship between the institution and key stakeholders especially the community and the institution's sponsors and collaborators. It required assessing the institution's role areas of networking, ability to be creative and to quickly respond to change, thus be able to address emerging climate change issues in a constantly changing and dynamic environment

Finally the *productive processes quadrant* had a focus on products and services. It assessed strategies used within the institutions to enhance visible actions. Planning and project execution of goals and objectives were reviewed in relation to timely adaptation delivery. The quadrants work through a scoring process. Once institutions are interviewed, high scores signify that the structures are functioning well thus enabling the institution to deliver on adaptation practices. While low scores show the structures are hindering adaptation.

4.2.2 Extent to which structures enable or hinder adaptation practices

Responses from the institutional effectiveness tool for each category of institution is shared below in tables 4.6 to 4.10. They indicate the extent to which each quadrant enabled adaptation practices to function effectively. The results are analysed based on the scores obtained.

4.2.2.1 Government institutional structures in climate change adaptation

Table 4.14 show the analysis of government institution structures in the study area and how the structures affect work on adaptation practices.

Quadrants	Structural parameters	Score (%)
Developing	Participation in decisions	40%
processes	Skills and knowledge	
	Positive interpersonal relations	55%
	Effective communication	
Enabling	Rules, Procedures	95%
processes	Monitoring	
	Coordination	98%
	Stability	
Productive	Timely service delivery	55%
processes	Planning and project execution	
	Direction, Goal Clarity	62%
	Accomplishments	
Energizing	Creative solutions	80%
processes	Response to Change	
	Legitimacy from the community/donors	42%
	Stakeholder confidence	

 Table 4.14 Analysis of government institution structures

From Table 4.6 it was established that the government institutions' most enabling structures fall in the enabling processes quadrant. Here the government institutions are indicated as having strong coordination ability and are stable at (98%) and they have rules and procedures that guide their activities that are measureable (95%). On the other hand, the government's weakest structures are found in the developing processes quadrant where participation in decisions, skills and knowledge stands at 40%.

Climate change is dynamic and constantly evolving thus requiring institutions that have the ability to transform fast but remain stable resource wise. Government institutions have structures that create predictability and stability in ways they operate to deliver climate adaptation practices in a coordinated and consistent manner. Kallinikos (2006) argues that the strong focus on the efficiency of the arrangements by which welfare and other public services are produced inevitably brings to the fore the key question concerning the kind of goods governments are supposed to deliver and safeguard.



Figure 4.1: Government structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices

Focussing on having strong predicable standards as shown in 4.1 has slowed down the delivery of timely services. Reid et al (2010) note that governments do not have a good record of channelling

money to their most remote or vulnerable citizens. In addition, when most governments think about adaptation, they are considering the need to modify infrastructure, make changes to export agriculture, or provide for additional health risks, rather than supporting vulnerable communities (Reid et al., 2010). This is in agreement with Kallinikos (2006) who state that the key elements of bureaucratic organization such as standard operating procedures, formal role systems and centralized responsibility are part of a much more complicated picture that recounts the need for accountable but also socially responsive ways by which the government, must operate. Christoplos (2012) bureaucratic public sector extension service structures are in most cases unlikely to be able to exhibit the flexibility required to mobilize campaigns for fast response. The study is in agreement with this showing structures in the energizing processes quadrant i.e. legitimacy from the community and stakeholder confidence at 42% that are hindering adaptation work with the community.

4.2.2.2 Non-governmental organization structures in climate change adaptation Table 4.15 below shows the outputs from respondent interviews.

Quadrants	Structural parameters	Score (%)
Developing	Participation in decisions	90%
processes	Skills and knowledge	
	Positive interpersonal relations	70%
	Effective communication	
Enabling	Rules, Procedures	90%
processes	Monitoring	
	Coordination	80%
	Stability	
Productive	Timely service delivery	70%
processes	Planning and project execution	
	Direction, Goal Clarity	60%
	Accomplishments	
Energizing	Creative solutions	81%
processes	Response to Change	
	Legitimacy from the	58%
	community/donors Stakeholder	
	confidence	

 Table 4.15: Analysis of non-governmental structures

The structures that are most supportive of adaptation actions are participation in decisions, skills and knowledge 90% found in the developing processes quadrant and rules, procedures and monitoring under enabling processes is also 90% found in the enabling processes quadrant. The weakest structure was on legitimacy from the community/donors and stakeholder confidence at 58% which is in the energizing processes quadrant. Overall, non-governmental organizations' greatest enabling structures are in the enabling processes quadrant, followed by the developing processes quadrant. This is visually represented in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Non-Governmental structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices

Metin and Coskun (2016) and Metin, (2017a) noted that NGOs are crucial for society with respect to their humanitarian, political, and social objectives and the economic activities that take place within them. NGOs are voluntary, non-profit private organizations whose diverse activities aim towards change, support or promotion of different social issues. In the Narok County integrated development plan 2013 -2017, NGOs together with CBOs, FBOs and private sector institutions mandates are indicated as capacity building to local community in project planning, management and implementation; financial support to development projects; consultancy and provision of credit; provision of extension services and environmental conservation (County Government of Narok, 2013).

4.2.2.3 Community Based Organization structures in climate change adaptation

Table 4.16 below shows the structures that were identified as being enabling or hindering CBO work in climate change adaptation

Quadrants	Structural parameters	Score (%)
Developing	Participation in decisions	70%
processes	Skills and knowledge	
	Positive interpersonal relations	90%
	Effective communication	
Enabling	Rules, Procedures	45%
processes	Monitoring	
	Coordination	55%
	Stability	
Productive	Timely service delivery	80%
processes	Planning and project execution	
	Direction, Goal Clarity	68%
	Accomplishments	
Energizing	Creative solutions	70%
processes	Response to Change	
	Legitimacy from the community/donors	75%
	Stakeholder confidence	

4.16: Analysis of Community Based Organization structures

The highest score was in developing processes quadrant with structures on positive interpersonal relations and effective communication that scoring 90% followed by timely service delivery, planning and project execution in the productive processes quadrant that scored 80%. The least

score were both in the enabling processes quadrant where structures on rules, procedures and monitoring scored the lowest at 45% and those on coordination and stability scored 55%.

Figure 4.3 visually represents the complete picture showing which quadrant has the most supportive structures and which has the least supportive.



Figure 4.3: Community Based Organization structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices

CBOs, as seen in Figure 4.3 have weak structures related to rules, procedures and monitoring. This is the differs to Agrawal (2008) who states that local institutions working on climate change adaptation have organizational rules that are simple and easy to understand, broad local involvement in the organization and its rules, fairness in resource allocation, clear mechanisms for

enforcing rules, clear, broadly acceptable mechanisms for sanctioning rule infractions, availability

of low-cost adjudication, accountability of decision makers and other officials.

4.2.2.4 Faith Based Organization structures in climate change adaptation

Table 4.17 below is the presentation of the interview results from FBOs on structures they have that support or hinder climate change adaptation.

Quadrants	Structural parameters	Score (%)
Developing	Participation in decisions	50%
processes	Skills and knowledge	
	Positive interpersonal relations	65%
	Effective communication	
Enabling	Rules, Procedures	45%
processes	Monitoring	
	Coordination	48%
	Stability	
Productive	Timely service delivery	78%
processes	Planning and project execution	
	Direction, Goal Clarity	60%
	Accomplishments	
Energizing	Creative solutions	78%
processes	Response to Change	
	Legitimacy from the community/donors	78%
	Stakeholder confidence	

 Table 4.17: Analysis of Faith Based Organizations structures

Faith based organizations in the Mara River Basin are mostly churches and mosques and the programmes they operate. For this set of institutions, the most supportive structures were found in the energizing processes quadrant at 78% for creative solutions and response to change and 78% for structures on legitimacy from the community/donors and stakeholder confidence. This legitimacy is consistent with the expected, as Ebaugh, Pipes, Chafetz and Daniels (2003) point out six characteristics of religious institutions that give them a unique role in the community. These are first, in every community, second, they are more stable than other institutions and have an enduring membership base, third, religious institutions bring together a cross-section of the community, fourth, they promote activism, therefore strengthening social control, fifth they foster ties in the neighborhood, and sixth, they aid in the development and maintenance of other

organizations in the community. Olarinmoye (2012) noted that within the changed context of donor approach to faith, FBOs are seen, even more so than secular NGOs, to possess a greater level of independence, flexibility, and creativity that give them the potential to 'add value' to development

Figure 4.4 below gives a visual presentation of the structures that enable climate change adaptation activities and those that hinder climate change activities.



Figure 4.4: Faith Based Organization structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices

The enabling processes quadrant had the weakest scores with rules, procedures and monitoring scoring 45% and coordination and stability scoring 48%. From the results, it is notable that structures that need measurement and tracking are the poorest performing. Yet Segura (2005)

declares that, for institutional development to take place, it is requires defining, measuring, and monitoring performance indicators.

4.2.2.5 Private sector institution structures in climate change adaptation

The table 4.18 below shows the structures that enable and those that hinder adaptation practices among private sector institutions in the study area.

Quadrants	Structural parameters	Score (%)
Developing	Participation in decisions	30%
processes	Skills and knowledge	
	Positive interpersonal relations	50%
	Effective communication	
Enabling	Rules, Procedures	90%
processes	Monitoring	
	Coordination	80%
	Stability	
Productive	Timely service delivery	78%
processes	Planning and project execution	
	Direction, Goal Clarity	80%
	Accomplishments	
Energizing	Creative solutions	89%
processes	Response to Change	
	Legitimacy from the community/donors	50%
	Stakeholder confidence	

 Table 4.18: Analysis of Private sector institution structures

The developing processes quadrant had the lowest score of 30% for participation in decisions, skills and knowledge. The highest score was in enabling processes quadrant with rules, procedures and monitoring scoring 90%, another high score of 89% was in the energizing processes quadrant where structures on creativity and responding change are found. Bennett et al (2018) note that for success, one of the key concept of institutions revolves around rules, norms, strategy, regulations, laws, compacts and constitutions. Scott (1995) specifies, that, in order to survive, organizations must conform to the rules and belief systems prevailing in the environment, because institutional isomorphism, both structural and procedural, will earn the organization legitimacy.



From figure 4.5 private sector institutions have the strongest structures in the enabling processes quadrant.

Figure 4.5: Private sector institution structures enabling and hindering adaptation practices

Table 4.19 shows the overall results for each quadrant for the five categories of institutions.

Quadrants	Structural parameters	Average scores (%)					
		GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private	Overall
						Sector	quadrant
DEVELOPING	Participation in decisions	48%	80%	80%	58%	40%	score
PROCESSES	Skills and knowledge						61.2%
	Positive interpersonal						
	relations						
	Effective communication						
ENABLING	Rules, Procedures	97%	85%	53%	46%	85%	
PROCESSES	Monitoring						73.2%
	Coordination						
	Stability						
PRODUCTIVE	Timely service delivery	59%	65%	74%	69%	79%	
PROCESSES	Planning and project						69.2%
	execution						
	Direction, Goal Clarity						
	Accomplishments						
ENERGIZING	Creative solutions	61%	70%	73%	78%	70%	
PROCESSES	Response to Change						70.4%
	Legitimacy from the						
	community/donors						
	Stakeholder confidence						
Total		265	300	280	251	274	
Overall		66.3	75	70	62.7	68.5	
institution							
average							

 Table 4.19: Overall Score of the structure

Overall the quadrant with the most enabling structures to support adaptation practices was the enabling processes quadrant that scored 73.2%. The high scores were notable within institutions of government (97%), NGO (85%) and private sector (85%). This is in line with Bandaragoda (2000), who states that the basic minimum for institutions is to have laws, policies and administration which are three pillars of the institutional framework for integrated resource management in a river-basin context.

The quadrant with the most hindering structures within institutions was the developing processes quadrant that scored an average of 61.2%. The low scores were among private sector institutions (40%) and government at (48%).

Further to this, Agrawal *et al.* (2009) states that adaptation does not occur in an institutional vacuum. Instead institutional and social factors play a key role in shaping the extent to which rural households and communities become vulnerable to different environmental risks and how they respond to such risks.

The study viewed institutional structures as a system, with each of the four quadrants – developing processes, enabling processes, energizing processes and productive processes - acting as a subsystem that is influenced and interrelates with the other quadrants. The aim was to understand how one quadrant influences action in another and the likely impact this has in terms of delivery on adaptation practices. Each of this served to observe the structures within the institutions in terms of delivery to the adaptation process. The structure of institutions within the quadrants, included issues related to planning, budgeting, project financing, governance, service delivery, procedures and documentation. These are critical in supporting effective planning for climate change response. This corroborates the finding of North (2003) who affirmed that institutions are made up of formal rules, informal constraints and their enforcement characteristics. It is reinforced by Scott (2004a) who stated that structures include schemas, rules, norms, and routines, and how they become established as authoritative guidelines for social behaviour. Scott (2004b) further notes that students of institutions must, perforce, attend not just to consensus and conformity but to conflict and change in social structures.

4.3 Opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation

Overview

The third objective of the study was to analyze the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation. The study viewed institutional landscape as institutions within a given geographical area and the linkages that exist between them. These linkages can be vertical or horizontal. The vertical linkages connect institutions that operate small geographic spaces (e.g. county) with those that operate large geographic spaces (e.g. continent) Horizontal linkages connect institutions that operate within the same geographical space (e.g. within a county) at the same level.

The parameter interrogated in this section was the geographical scope of institutions; the horizontal and vertical linkages; the challenges faced by different types of institutions and opportunities in the institutional landscape. Lyth, Harwood, Hobday and McDonald (2016) discuss the need to explore linkages across sectors and scales; identify drivers of, and barriers to, adaptation; and observe the dynamics of adaptation stakeholder interactions on the topic of climate change adaptation. Klein et al (2017) note that governments are identifying adaptation priorities and crafting national strategies, but the effort required far exceeds what the public sector alone can achieve, in developing and developed countries alike. This has made it a priority to engage the private sector in adaptation.

4.3.1 Institutions and their linkages

Landscapes can be delineated at different scales. In the case of this institutional landscape there are four (4) primary levels.ie. International/global, regional, national and local. Figure 4.6 gives an overall picture of the institutional landscape for climate change as laid down at different levels in different literature (UNFCCC, 2007; EAC, 2011; GOK, 2010; GOK, 2013; GOK, 2016a; GOK, 2016c).

International Level Regional level National level Local level **Global Institutional** Mara River Basin **Regional Institution** National institutional landscape for institutions landscape for landscape for adaptation e.g. Public agencies, adaptation e.g. National Climate Change adaptation E.g. Intergovernmental Panel civil society, private Secretariat, Directorate of sector, Community on Climate Change, United Environment, Kenya (East African Community Nations Framework based organizations, Meteorological Department, Institutions) faith based Convention on Climate Department of Resource e.g. EAC Secretariat, Lake organisations Change, United Nations Surveys and Remote Sensing, Victoria Basin Commission, Environment Programme, National Environment Lake Victoria Fisheries United Nations Development Management Authority, Organization, Inter-Programme, World Ministries of Planning and University Council of East Meteorological Organization National Development, Africa, EAC Climate Finance, Energy, Agriculture, Change Coordination Unit Water; The National Environment Council; County Government and Climate Change Units, Kenya Forest Service, Kenya Wildlife Service **National Climate Change** Adaptation EAC Adaptation **UNFCCC** Adaptation **Response Strategy** mechanisms Priorities practices (NCCRS) (1). Provide evidence of the Sectoral in nature (1).Climatic Vulnerability (1) Assessing impacts, key climate risks to Kenya and uncoordinated and Risk Reduction, (2). Assess climate change vulnerability and risks (2). Building socioeconomic (2) Planning for adaptation impacts on the sectors; resilience. through identification of (3). Document climate (3). Climate change adaptation activities and their adaptation activities that are adaptation planning and underway, and planned appraisal enabling environment (4) Develop a set of potential (3) Implementing adaptation (policies, strategies, plans measures at national, and priority adaptation actions and legislation), regional and local levels per sector (4). Sectoral approach to (4) Monitoring and (5). Support the integration of climate change climate change adaptation into evaluating adaptation mainstreaming relevant new and existing sector policies, development, budgetary and planning processes ADAPTATION TO CLIMATE CHANGE

Figure 4.6: Overall institutional landscape: Relationship between adaptation practices and institutions *Source: Researcher- 2019*

At the international level, the institutional landscape for adaptation has institutions that include the intergovernmental panel on Climate Change, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), United Nations Environment Programme, United Nations Development Programme and World Meteorological Organization. They provide policy guidelines which apply globally and are domesticated at the national level. UNFCCC adaptation practices include:

- (i) Assessing impacts, vulnerability and risks
- (ii) Planning for adaptation through identification of adaptation activities and their appraisal
- (iii)Implementing adaptation measures at national, regional and local levels
- (iv)Monitoring and evaluating adaptation

Regions are defined using different sets of criteria. For example there regions that are defined by physiography such as mountains ranges, desert, river basins, continents etc. The regional context of this study is the East African Community (EAC). At the regional level, the institutional landscape for adaptation is composed of institutions from the East African Community which include the EAC Secretariat, Lake Victoria Basin Commission, Lake Victoria Fisheries Organization, Inter-University Council of East Africa, and the EAC Climate Change. These institutions are guided by the EAC Adaptation Priorities, namely:

- (i) Climatic vulnerability and risk reduction,
- (ii) Building socioeconomic resilience,
- (iii) Climate change adaptation planning and enabling environment (policies, strategies, plans and legislation),
- (iv) Sectoral approach to climate change mainstreaming

The national level institutional landscape for adaptation includes institutions such as the National Climate Change Secretariat, Directorate of Environment, Kenya Meteorological Department, Department of Resource Surveys and Remote Sensing, National Environment Management Authority, Ministries of Planning and National Development, Finance, Energy, Agriculture, Water; the National Environment Council; county government and Climate Change Units, Kenya Forest Service, Kenya Wildlife Service among others. The institutions are guided by the following polices:

- (i) The Constitution of Kenya 2010
- (ii) Vision 2030
- (iii)The Climate Change Act 2016
- (iv) The National Climate Change Response Strategy (NCCRS) of 2010
- (v) National Climate Change Action Plan
- (vi)National Adaptation Plan 2015 2030

Institutions in the study area include government institutions, Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs), Community Based Organizations (CBOs), Faith Based Organizations (FBOs) and private sector institutions. Table 4.20 provides details on the geographical scope of the local institutions in the Mara river basin.

Institutional Landscape of the study area.						
Institutions	Geographical scope	What influences their scope				
GOK	National government agencies have a presence	Mandate through the Constitution of Kenya (2010)				
	at both the county and national levels	that devolved governance				
	County government agencies have a presence					
	at the county and sub county levels.	The county has mandate to operate only within the				
		county				
NGOs	Found at the village, subcounty, county and	The registration determines the geographical scope of				
	National level.	its operations				
	There are also international NGOs that have a					
	global presence.					
CBOs	Found at the Ward and village levels	The nature of their registration restricts their				
		operation to the local level(sub county) only				
FBOs	Churches operate at all levels from the local to	The type of church they are affiliated to will				
	the global. For example the major churches	determine the scope of operations				
	such as catholic, Anglican, Adventist, have a					
	global presence. They are however smaller					
	churches who operate across smaller					
	geographical spaces.					
Private Sector	They operate across all scales from local to	The nature of the registration they have undergone				
	global to call	determines the scope of their operations				

 Table 4.20: Institutional Landscape of the study area.

On the institutional landscape, the vertical and horizontal linkages developed from discussions on linkages (Appendix 4) were shared as shown in figure 4.7 and 4.8 respectively. Areas that the institutions identified as having linkages were in access to and sharing information, capacity development, access to finances and access to technology. The linkages shown in the graphs are summarised in tables 4.21 and table 4.22.



Table 4.21 is a summary of the vertical linkages shown in figure 4.7

Opportunity	No of	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private
	linkages					Sector
Information	5	1 link from	1 link from national	1 link from NGOs	1 link from	1 link from
		national	level NGOs	Information	FBOs at	national level
		government	Information can be	received can be	National	Lead to
		Information	used with partners to	used to support	level	accessing
		can be enable	support adaptation	CBO in		adaptation
		the	practices	adaptation		information
		institutions	Select adaptation	practices at the		that can be
		improve	practices where	community		shared with
		adaptation	impact will be greatest			clients visiting
		practices				the business
Capacity	7	1 link from	3 links from national	1 link from NGOs	1 link from	1 link from
development		national	NGO, international	Training of	NGO	private sector
		government	NGO and national	officials and	Capacity	Enable train
		Training of	government	volunteers to	development	staff to better
		staff will	Training of staff on	enhance	of	reach out to
		strengthen	adaptation practices in	adaptation	volunteers	community
		cohort to	current areas of	practices	and officials	members on
		drive	implementation to		this will	adaptation
		adaptation	increase effectiveness		increase	practices
		practices			knowledge	
					levels of the	
					FBOs to	
					handle	
					adaptation	
Finance	6	1 link from	3 links from	1 link from NGO	1 link from	
		national	international, regional	Will enable	FBO higher	
		government	and national NGOs.	replication of	up	
		This can	Upscale current	adaptation	Support can	
		support set up	practices that have	practices	be	
		climate	greatest impact on		channelled	
		change fund	partners and		to successful	
			communities		adaptation	
					practices	
Technology	6		1 Link from private	2 links from	2 links from	1 link from
reemiology	0		sector	government and	2 mixs from	nrivate sector
			Technology can be	from private	and from	Increase
			used to improve	sector	private	ability to reach
			production at the local	Technology can	sector	out to other
			level	be used to scale	Increase	partners
			Technology will also	up adaptation	access to	r
			be used to	work, document	technology	
			communicate and	best practices.	leading to	
			predict adaptation	communicate	scaling up	
			practices	with partners	adaptation	
			L .	1	practices at	
					the	
					community	

 Table 4.21: Vertical linkages in the institutional landscape

Table 4.22 below summarises the horizontal linkages in the graphs presented in figure 4.8

Opportunity	No of linkages	Nature of link	opportunity
Information	7	Linkages exist with mutual sharing of information between GOK and NGO, GOK to FBO, NGO to CBO and FBO CBO and private sector FBO and private sector	Bring in experiences from each category to create learning and scale up adaptation practices
Capacity development	4	Linkages between NGO and CBOs GOK to NGO GOK to CBO GOK to private sector	Inter institutional training to enhance greater collaboration on adaptation practices
Finance	2	Linkages NGO to FBO NGO to CBO	Opportunity for the county government and private sector institutions to support CBOs and FBOs given that there exists mechanisms already set up
Technology	7	Links from private sector to FBOS, CBOS, NGOS, GOK Links from GOK to FBOs, NGOs, CBOs	Technology in terms of seed for agriculture and forestry Equipment to enhance documentation especially for CBOs and FBOs Equipment to support in prediction and communication of potential negative climate impacts

 Table 4.22: Horizontal Linkages

4.3.2 Challenges faced by different types of institutions

Challenges identified by the institutions during the interviews were clustered into five areas as

follows:

- (i) Climate Change adaptation information needs
- (ii) Capacity to implement climate change
- (iii)financing of climate change adaptation action
- (iv)outreach services for climate change adaptation
- (v) Technology and equipment to act on climate change

Each of the above challenges, was taken through a further analysis in focus group discussions focus groups and each institution represented specified the challenge that affected those most. This process is described in Appendix 3- Institutional Challenges mapping tool and the results are presented in tables 4.23 to 4. 27.

For the challenge on information, the difficulties faced by institutions in relation to climate change adaptation information were:

- (i) Scarcity of information on climate change adaptation
- (ii) Limited access to climate change adaptation information
- (iii)Technical nature of presentation of climate change adaptation information
- (iv)High cost of information on climate change adaptation
- (v) Poor flow of information on climate change adaptation information within the institution

Tackling these challenges should lead to increased and streamlined adaptation practices by institutions in the Basin. The focus group discussions indicated areas of greatest challenge for each set of institutions as shown in table 4.23.

Type of institution	Scarcity of information on CCA	Limited access to CCA information	Technical nature of presentation of CCA information	High cost of information on CCA	Poor flow of information on CCA within the institution	Total no. present for FGDs
Private						
sector	6	9	7	4	4	30
FBO	5	10	1	6	8	30
CBO	17	26	27	12	3	85
NGO	0	1	5	1	1	8
GOK	1	1	3	3	8	16
Total	29	47	43	26	24	169

Table 4.23: Challenges related to information on climate change	e adaptation
---	--------------

Overall, limited access to climate change information scored the highest with 47 institutions indicating this was the greatest challenge for them, followed by 43 institutions indicating that the technical nature of presenting climate change adaptation information is a big challenge to them.

For government institutions the main challenge is the poor flow of information on climate change adaptation within the government institutions. Half the government institutions interviewed (8) indicated this as a critical challenge that needs to be addressed. Five of the eight NGOs engaged with indicated that the greatest challenge they face is in relation to the technical nature of most information they are able to access on climate change adaptation. CBOs face two critical challenges in relation to information, the first is the technical nature in which climate change information is presented which is faced by 27 of the responding CBOs and 26 of the CBOs in the study specified that they have limited access to the available climate change adaptation information within the county. Given that most CBOs do not have climate change experts the lack of access to information has proved a major problem in carrying out support to communities on adaptation. For instance, the inability by the Mara River Basin CBOs to access information was associated with inability to idenfity the right offices to acquire the information from, the lack of equpment for example computers and poor internet connectivity all these putting them at a disadvantage. For FBOs and the private sector institutions face a similar challenge with 10 out of 30 and 9 out of 30 respectively indicating the major challenge as limited access to climate change adaptation information.

For climate change adaptation work to be supported, local level institution need access to public policies and plans that show the mandates as stipulated by national and county governments, the

situation in the county on climate change impacts, the plans that have been approved by the government. Klein et al (2017) states that adaptation policy-makers and practitioners require robust climate modelling information, more complete risk analyses, and data that is useful to a variety of practitioners operating on multiple scales (Klein et al., 2017). Earlier Ayers et al. (2014), noted that much of the information around climate change impacts exists externally, in the realm of international bodies. However, in Kenya, national level information is available in specific public policy documents. Amongst the key documents that are available but may not be easily accessible are national policy documents such as the NCCRS OF 2010, the NCCAP, EMCA 1999, the Climate Change Act of 2016 and the NAP 2015-2030. At the county level key documents with information on adaptation are the CIDPs, the climate change policy and various sector specific policies. It is within these documents that mandates are stipulated, plans drawn and budgets made, thus acting as guidelines for adaptation practice.

Government institutions in the Mara basin have information on climate change within the office of environment but this information is not reaching all the relevant persons working on issues of climate change adaptation. Government of Kenya (2013) NCCAP recommends the development of a climate change knowledge management system which will serve as a one-stop electronic space where most climate change-related information and knowledge in Kenya will reside. While NCCAP has made this recommendation, information will need to be simplified for ease of internalization and practice. Armah, Luginaah, Hambati, Chuenpagdee, and Campbell (2015) notes that providing individuals with scientifically sound information will not necessarily translate to information assimilation, increased knowledge, action and support for policies based on this information. This is in line with the outputs from CBOs and NGOs in the Mara River Basin who noted the complexity of most climate change information they access. The NGOs find this a challenge as they often need to repackage this information in order to share it out to their stakeholders taking up resources and time.

Information that is overly technical takes longer to internalise prior to sharing with their stakeholders. Often this information in the process of being intepreted loses the initial meaning. GLCA (2009) further notes that institutions should ensure that locally appropriate information about best practices for risk management and adaptation reaches the poorest and most vulnerable citizens. This reinforces Armah et al (2015) who assert that the lack of information, the lack of resources, institutional limitations, poor communication, and the deeply held values and beliefs that show how people respond to climate risks and their management often act as barriers to adaptation.

The government institutions were the set of institutions that indicated that they have adequate information on climate change adaptation but there is poor flow of information within the institution with few staff who have internalised and are able to utilize the information for decision making while others have little appreciation on what the information can guide them to undertake. Brown and Sonwa (2015) in Cameroon noted that local-level agencies of government were not being provided with any information from the national level related to climate change. The case for the Mara River Basin was different as the national government has been able to share information on policies and plans taking place in climate change adaptation with the county governments. However, this information is yet to adequately cascade to the non-public institutions and information available is provided in a non-systematic piecemeal fashion.

A growing body of literature highlights the importance of effective communication of climate change information to increase awareness and understanding, provide continuity, and constructively engage policy-makers, stakeholders, and the public (Moser, Ekstrom and Kasperson, 2010; Barnett el al., 2015).

Communities must build their resilience, including adopting appropriate technologies while making the most of traditional knowledge, and diversifying their livelihoods to cope with current and future climate stress. Local coping strategies and traditional knowledge need to be used in synergy with public policies and local interventions. Ansu-Kyeremeh (2005) maintains that indigenous communication systems remain at the heart of community social interactions, information, education, development and entertainment. Indigenous communication in Africa, is largely interactive and participatory and closely linked with community activities. According to UNFCCC (2006), adapting to climate change entails adjustments and changes at every level - from community to national and international levels. ADB (2009) is in agreement and observes that adaptation options and their supporting policies should be adopted by the appropriate level of government and implemented by institutions in direct contact with beneficiaries. Economic Commission for Africa (2016) notes that increasing knowledge and raising awareness about climate change, environmental stewardship includes the timely sharing of climate information, and encouragement of environment-friendly business practices are key challenges that a Blue Economy approach could help overcome.

The second set of challenges faced by institutions was in relation to capacity to implement

climate change as listed below and presented in table 4.24.

- (i) Lack of and inadequate climate change expert personnel
- (ii) Weak or poor planning for climate change adaptation
- (iii) Low capacity to handle climate change adaptation practices
- (iv) Low participation in climate change adaptation practices
- (v) Weak follow-up on climate change adaptation practices

Type of institution	Lack of/inadequate climate change expert personnel	Weak or poor planning for CCA	Low capacity to handle CCA practices	Low participati on in CCA practices	Weak follow-up on CCA practices	Total no. in FGD
Private sector	8	6	3	8	5	30
FBO	9	5	6	4	6	30
СВО	42	14	15	3	11	85
NGO	4	3	1	0	0	8
GOK	2	6	4	1	3	16
Total	65	34	29	16	25	169

Table 4.24: Challenges related to capacity on climate change adaptation action

The greatest challenge faced under capacity is the lack of and inadequate climate change adaptation personnel, which scored 65, only the government institutions had this as low priority. The least pressing challenge was low participation in climate change adaptation practices.

Given their resource base, government institutions in the Mara basin is the main driver of climate change adaptation work. Yet from table 4.13 above, 6 out of the 16 government institutions indicated weak planning of climate change adaptation work. From the Bomet CIDP 2013 -2017 climate change adaptation is mentioned 3 times but it is not planned for in the current CIDP 2018-2022 adaptation is mentioned once and also not specifically planned for (CGB, 2013; CGB, 2018a;

CGB, 2018b). Similarly the Narok CIDP 2013 – 2017 and the CIDP 2018-2023 mentions adaptation a total of 5 times but does not specially plan for adaptation practices. Both CIDP do plan for climate change using general statements. Butler et al (2015) affirms that adaptation planning provides an opportunity to build the capacity of multiple stakeholders, and hence the system they are embedded within. If integrated, the strengths of top-down and bottom-up planning could generate greater adaptive capacity than either may achieve in isolation. In the Mara basin, specific institutions still have the opportunity to cascade what is in the CIDPs into specific annual adaptation workplans.

Francisco (2008) recognizes that the sooner that capacity is built prepare for climate change in as many vulnerable communities as possible, the more lives and properties will be protected. An aspect of this planning should involve building the capacity of all local institutions to respond and improve the relationships between local and national-level adaptation planning (Brown & Sonwa, 2015). Berke and Lyles (2013) in their research recognize that local governance capacity to plan needs to be improved to foster interactive dialogue between experts and stakeholders. Such a dialogue would construct plausible futures that are well understood and technically informed, and it would create flexible strategies that are publicly relevant, tangible, and adaptable across a range of future impacts. Parry & Terton (2016) suggest that greater capacity is needed among subnational actors, including local organizations and communities, to plan, implement, monitor, and evaluate adaptation action to better enable the identification, prioritization and implementation of adaptation actions that respond to institutions diverse needs and priorities.

The National Environment and Management Authority in the Mara River Basin indicated that, while the government has expertise, their geographical coverage is wide and the government also covers many sectors where issues of climate change are constantly emerging. Brown and Sonwa (2018) argue that community resilience in climate change could be better fostered by building capacity within local institutions and social networks to further extend their learning about potential climate change impacts and how to respond. Moura, Bianchi, Mazato, Espig, and Falaster, (2019) note that while institutions have a primary role in reducing uncertainties, they also make risks manageable and make it possible to transform uncertainties into risk. When institutions work well, there will be fewer uncertainties regarding interactions (Moura et al., 2019).

In the Mara River Basin, the Bomet CIDP 2013 - 2017 set aside finance for capacity development in broad development areas for women, youth, SMEs and government staff (CGB, 2013). The CIDP states that focus will shift to competency-based training and capacity building for improved service delivery. However, in the Bomet County CIDP 2018-2022 and Narok County CIDP 2018-2023, capacity building is still handled in general with no clear focus on building capacity to address climate change impacts (CGB, 2013; CGB, 2018a; CGN, 2013; CGN, 2018). Capacity building is still handled in a sectoral manner, this has led to local institutions struggling to develop innovative ways of addressing adaptation issues. The expertise they seek are persons with skills and knowledge on issues related to climate change who can take up lead roles in spearheading adaptation practices.

The devolved system of governance has worked well up to the county and sub county levels but for public institutions working in the climate change arena this has not adequately cascaded to the ward and village levels. Nonetheless Takao (2012) notes that the key problem for local capacity building is an inadequate delegation of power to lower levels of government, local governments do not have the fiscal capacity to include funding requirements into their environmental programs.

The third challenge discussed with the institutions was related to financing of climate change adaptation action. Four key issues deliberated here were:

- (i) Limited finances for climate change adaptation action
- (ii) Poor fundraising skills for climate change adaptation action
- (iii) Limited information on sources of climate change adaptation funds
- (iv) Low institutional funding for climate change adaptation activities

Table 4.25 shows the scoring of the above deliberations by each category of institutions.

Type of institution	Limited finances for CCA action	Poor fundraising skills for CCA action	Limited information on sources of CCA funds	Low institutional funding for CCA activities	Total no. in FGD
Private sector	11	10	6	3	30
FBO	7	12	6	5	30
CBO	22	43	15	5	85
NGO	4	2	0	2	8
GOK	6	3	1	6	16
Total	50	70	28	21	169

 Table 4.25: Challenges related to financing of climate change adaptation action

Overall, poor fund raising skills for climate change adaptation action was scored highest by 70 institutions noting it as their greatest challenge. This was followed by limited finances for climate change adaptation action that scored 50. Low institutional funding for climate change adaptation action received the lowest score with 21 institutions noting it as their biggest challenge.
From the discussions, 43 CBOs, 12 FBOs and 10 small businesses indicated that they have never received formal fund raising training and climate change adaptation is a relatively new field for them. They specified during the discussions that the skills within their institutions are not adequate to enable them raise the required resources. This is especially in developing proposal for large financing with external donors. The institutions indicated that they lacked access to statistics that would strengthen their argument, had weak writing skills and were limited in terms of mobility and access to internet connectivity. Lüdemann and Ruppel (2013) notes that the challenge for the parties and stakeholders involved in the climate negotiations is to develop secure, adequate and predictable funding streams for the financing of adaptation needs in poorer, more vulnerable countries with least adaptive capacity. The Bomet County CIDP 2018 – 2022 has not indicated how financing for climate change will be tackled. On the other hand, the Narok CIDP 2018-2023 has set aside 500 million Kenya shillings to support set up the county climate change fund for adaptation and mitigation (CGN, 2018).

With reference to Table 4.25, limited finances for climate change adaptation action is a key challenge for NGOs with 4 out of 8 of the respondents indicating that given their adaptation plans and area of operation the funding they have for adaptation is limited. This is echoed by government institutions (6 out of 16) who stated that they cover whole counties and countless communities. Within the private sector, the responding institutions stated that finances for climate change adaptation action has contributed to their slow uptake of adaptation strategies. The private sector institutions also added that their setup and accessing donor funds is still a challenge for them as many donors especially communities and national government have yet to build that trust as the private sector is viewed as a profit making entity. Va Dany, Bowen and Miller (2015) assert that

lack of funding for implementing key CCA works is one of the key challenges in fostering cooperation on this issue, even government organizations have only limited budgets for implementing their key priority activities.

The fourth set of challenges related to outreach services for climate change adaptation, these were stated in relation to:

- (i) Weak outreach
- (ii) Poor uptake of new ideas
- (iii)Low creativity in climate change adaptation action
- (iv)Weak gender mainstreaming skills
- (v) Language barrier for effective communication on climate change adaptation issues

Table 4.26 shows the field study outputs based on discussions using the institutional challenges mapping process.

			Low	~	Language	
Type of institution	Weak outreach	Poor uptake of new ideas	creativity in CCA action	Weak gender mainstreaming skills	barrier for effective communication	Total no. in FGD
Private sector	6	5	1	13	5	30
FBO	5	8	6	11	0	30
CBO	10	27	15	33	0	85
NGO	1	0	2	1	4	8
GOK	3	2	4	7	0	16
Total	25	42	28	65	9	169

From the responding institutions, the challenge of gender mainstreaming scored the highest with 65 institutions indicating it as a key challenge to their work in adaptation. Only 9 institutions scored language barrier for effective communication of climate change action as a challenge.

From, the institution engagement 7 of the 16 government institutions, 13 of the 30 private sector institutions, 33 of the 85 CBOs and 11 of 30 FBOs noted that they are challenged in terms of having the requisite gender mainstreaming skills. Only NGOs showed that their gender mainstreaming skills were good.

In the Mara River Basin it was stated that women and men contribute differently to management and degradation of natural resources. From the discussions institutions declared that climate change affects men and women differently and addressing their concerns requires a gender sensitive approach in order to deliver most effective results. The findings are consistent with Pratiwi, Rahmawati and Setiono (2016) who noted that the process of climate change adaptation is not gender neutral. Men and women have different bodies of knowledge, skills, and experience which can contribute to mainstreaming strategies.

A gender approach to climate change helps identify different impacts of climate change on different categories of groups in the society – it makes visible their levels of vulnerability, their access to what resources and the necessary adaptation interventions. The Bomet CIDP 2018-2022 states the need to undertake gender assessment to establish a baseline upon which county specific gender mainstreaming policies and strategies can be developed to guide the design, resourcing and the implementation of programmes and projects (CGB 2018a).

Given that two thirds of the world's poor are women, it is imperative that they are reached with the required skills to enable them learn and undertake adaptation practices. Women form the majority of those who constantly interact with the environment in the basin and the need to specifically ensure that they have the requisite skills for adaptation cannot be minimized. UNIFEM (2008/09) also states that women are predominantly responsible for sectors that are most threatened by climate change such as food production and water, sanitation and firewood provision at domestic level makes them more vulnerable as women bear high social, economic and opportunity costs. Climate change adaptation should therefore be gender responsive to reduce women's vulnerability and augment their roles in the decision-making processes of planning and implementation (Pratiwi et al., 2016).

Based on the foregoing, any meaningful way of addressing gender mainstreaming into adaptation will need to be aware of the importance to identify climate impacts on men and women. Tessa and Kurukulasuriya (2010) note that bridging the institutional divides will be fundamental to fostering

knowledge exchange and experience-sharing. A study undertaken in Thailand by Bennett, Dearden, Murray and Kadfak (2014) noted that there were extremely limited programs of outreach, education, and awareness building. This had led to lack of knowledge about boundaries, regulations and thus ability to respond to local situation challenges. The need to enhance knowledge of climate change at all levels of government and in local communities through extensive outreach and education programs of was considered to be paramount.

The fifth key challenges was in relation to technology and equipment to act on climate change, specifically:

- (i) Lack of equipment and computers
- (ii) Poor technology options
- (iii)Poor institutional infrastructure
- (iv)Limited access to internet
- (v) Lack of new innovative ideas

Table 4.27 presents the results from discussing technology and equipment challenges

Type of institution	Lack of equipment and computers	Poor technology options	Poor institutional infrastructure	Limited access to internet	Lack of new innovative ideas	Total no. in FGD
Private sector	6	15	2	6	1	30
FBO	14	8	2	2	4	30
CBO	33	23	7	8	14	85
NGO	1	6	1	0	0	8
GOK	1	9	3	3	0	16
Total	55	61	15	19	19	169

 Table 4.27: Challenges related to technology and equipment for climate change adaptation

From the discussions the most pressing challenge was related to poor technology options that was scored by 61 institutions followed by lack of equipment and computers needed for climate change action that was scored by 55 institutions. Six out of eight NGOs, nine of sixteen government institutions and fifteen of thirty private sector institutions mentioned this as a major deterrent to fast adaptation uptake and delivery.

The technology that the three institutions stated as having a shortfall include improved seed varieties for agriculture and forestry, low cost and appropriate water infrastructure technologies among others. The challenge is best put forward by Tessa and Kurukulasuriya (2010), who state that developing and low-income countries are not attractive markets for entrepreneurs wishing to introduce new technologies. Moreover, assuming that technologies are effectively transferred, there is a need for complementary domestic policies and institutions ensuring that these technologies are effectively adapted and absorbed. Efficient use of technology requires prior technical knowledge, skills and resources. Va Dany, Bowen and Miller (2015) recognize that assessing the institutional capacity to adapt needs to take into account the characteristics of adaptation including technology transfer.

While this also affected FBOs (8) and CBOs (23), their more critical challenge was lack/limited access to equipment and computers. For FBOs (14) and CBOs (33), with poor or no equipment the latter two expressed that they are limited in accessing current data and information on emerging adaptation practices and trainings. They are also not able to document nor share their successes and challenges to a wide audience. One of the challenges leading to the lack of equipment is the lack of resources, given the nature of income generation CBOs and FBOs utilize the little they

raise on adaptation practices leaving no allocation for purchase of equipment. Francisco (2008), notes that the lack of resources and limited adaptive capacity constrains technology transfer.

4.3.3 Opportunities in the institutional landscape

Opportunities were generated by officials and members of institution who attended the focus group discussions using the table in Appendix 4 to generate discussions. Barriers to adaptation were first discussed by focus groups thereafter these were clustered and the groups discussed on potential opportunities existing in the basin, these were thematically clustered into five areas as presented in table 4.28 to table 4.32.

Opportunity 1: Climate change adaptation information

Table 4.28 contains outputs collated from different discussions on opportunities in information.

Barrier to	Opportunity	Specific opportunities suggested by institution type					
adaptation	cluster	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private	
						sector	
Lack clear	Climate	Develop a database	Clear mandate	Negotiate	Source for	Access	
mandate to	change	of all actors working	from the county	information	affordable	climate	
implement	adaptation	on climate change	government on	flows on	climate	change	
climate	information	adaptation issues in	climate change	different	change	adaptation	
change		the county	adaptation	coping	adaptation	information	
adaptation		Through the county	engagement	measures at	information	for sharing	
		assemblies pass hills	Develop user	household	and share		
		that provide	friendly climate	level.	with		
		mandates for non-	change	Simplify	community		
		state climate change	adaptation	climate change			
		institutions to work	information for	adaptation			
		within set	other	information			
		boundaries	institutions to	The second second			
		T	use				
			Davialan agai	climate change			
		opportunities on	digitized aling	information			
		crimate change	for sharing	into local			
		practices by		languaga			
		subcounty/zones	succession	language			
		Create Resource	adaptation				
		centers with climate	practices				
		change information	Domesticate				
		in print & digital	existing policies				
		form in each	to suit each				
		subcounty	institution's				
			situation				

 Table 4.28: Opportunities in Climate change adaptation information

From table 4.28 the thematic areas of interest for the local institutions under the information cluster were accessing and sharing of user friendly climate change adaptation information in different forms for it to be practiced. Developing a database will enable the county climate change coordination units track activities and progress, this is in line with the Narok CIDP 2013-2017 that aims at managing the duplication of effort among stakeholders by putting in place data base (CGN, 2013). This was cascaded further in the CIDP 2018-2023 that states that the county shall compile a register/database of all on-going programmes and projects in the county to support monitoring

and evaluation (CGN, 2018). Bomet CIDP 2013-2017 looked at creating databases for landuse and housing (CGB, 2013) but in the focus groups they indicated the need to cascade this to other sectors especially of climate change.

Putting in place climate change bills by county government was seen by government institutions as critical in providing direction to other actors in the counties who are working in the Mara river basin. For the NGOs and CBOs, the groups stated that there exists an opportunity to design user friendly information packages for all stakeholders. The ability to access and use climate change adaptation information was mentioned by all groups as being of importance in scaling up adaptation work in the basin.

Four specific opportunity clusters were identified to address information challenge and foster climate change adaptation practices. The first is to create an overall increased access to information on climate change adaptation. This can be achieved by creating county and sub county level resource centres with climate change information available to all actors at the local level. The information can be in print or electronic forms as well as physical models and artefacts. The information availed should include statistics and maps for the Mara River Basin. This will require addressing the structural impediments that exist such as acquisition of equipment and internet connectivity.

The second set of opportunities focus on ensuring access to user friendly information on climate change adaptation to institutions working in climate change by review climate change adaptation of information available and repackaging of this information for local institutions and communities to use. For the public policy documents it may be necessary to develop abridged versions for CBOs, FBOs and private sector institutions. These are the institutions that have few or no climate change expertise and yet work directly with the community, therefore requiring the deepest understanding on climate change adaptation issues. In the Mara River Basin, the government institutions have the highest number of officers who have been trained or sensitized on climate change adaptation. This can serve as an excellent pool for the county to cascade knowledge to other institutions.

The third set of opportunities looked at enhancing affordability of climate change adaptation information. Based on copyright laws the government can design abridged versions of policy documents for sharing with local institutions, the local institutions ability to access climate change related funding will increase their purchasing powers of climate change adaptation information.

The fourth cluster of opportunities should look into increasing the number of interactions within institutions discussing climate change adaptation, this will ensure climate change adaptation discussions are mainstreamed into daily institutional activities. The foregoing can be achieved by ensuring climate change adaptation is planned and budgeted for on an annual basis and implementation undertaken; posters on climate change adaptation practices should be displayed on institution walls to generate discussion among staff; supervisors need to be accountable for reporting on their division/section on climate change adaptation actions among staff and volunteers. Weekly meetings/ seminars on emerging climate change adaptation issues and practices should be mainstreamed into institutional work plans and work. Information flow within the institution is vital as once this is internalized it can be shared with partners. Documentation of all adaptation processes needs to be done by the responsible officers/volunteeers. Information on

climate change shows disconnect with local institutions who do not necessarily view the information as climate change adaptation information but as a set of practices that are affecting their target communities' livelihoods.

Reviewing the capacity of institutions to handle adaptation practice requires having access to information on regulations and practices thus enable planning to take place and smooth implementation. Adaptation to climate change happens at the local level, addressing the knowledge gap that exists will be achieved tapping on opportunities in the institutional landscape. For institutions to enhance community resilience, there is need to not only address access to information but to holistically look at the specific factors hampering information utilization for transformative change. Ahmed and Fajber (2009) noted the same when stating that development of livelihood options requires access to training and skill development, and information on technologies and ways of adding value to create profit.

There is a large amount of information on adaptation policies but little information on local institutions' integration of these frameworks in their adaptation practices. Yet the institutions are required to make decisions on adaptation practices on a regular basis. The information should guide them to identify and reach beneficiaries, finance for adaptation practices, indicators for monitoring and evaluating adaptation and gauging of impact of adaptation on households in their catchment. Berke and Lyles (2013) note that integrating information generation with public engagement expands prospects for seeking new opportunities to produce co-benefits that have a positive effect on multiple interests to a wider section of communities. Thus the ability of the Mara River basin institutions to access and utilize climate change adaptation information in their activities from project conceptualization to completion increases benefits. This concurs

Jantarasami, Lawler and Thomas (2010) who concluded that adaptation projects are hindered by insufficient climate change impacts information at a scale relevant to regional level or local level management. Pelling and Manuel-Navarrete (2011) state that information networks that have been pathways for learning and spreading alternative visions and challenging discourse were informal, personalized and extensive.

Antle and Capalbo (2010) show that private sector decision makers need information that can reduce uncertainty about climate change and its impacts on the systems they are managing now and may be managing in the future. Public sector decision makers need information that can show the economic and other public benefits of investments that reduce uncertainty about climate change and adaptation options.

Tapping on indigenous knowledge for uptake of adaptation practices will support in reducing cost of information that has to be acquired from global and regional sources. The data and information required for planning for adaptation action can thus be easily availed through knowledge of local traditions. A study by Eriksen, O'Brien and Rosentrater (2008), notes that there is a rich set of indigenous strategies to deal with multiple threats, variability and environmental change, but they are not sufficient for reducing the impacts of climate change. One of the reasons that indigenous strategies are inadequate is because they largely operate without any formal government support or facilitation. Responding to the multiple issues posed by adaptation requires coordination mechanism that brings together information on the impacts of climate change, adaptation activities, and financial disbursements from donors for aiding such activities (Morris and Krishnan, 2012).

Opportunity 2: Technology and equipment to act on climate change

Table 4.29 shares outputs from local institutions on opportunities in technology for climate change

adaptation

Barrier to	Opportun	Specific opportunities suggested by institution type						
adaptatio n	ity cluster	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector		
Lack clear mandate to implement climate change adaptation	Technolog y and equipment to act on climate change	Research on new technologies to be introduced for adaptation Introduce fast growing crops Introduce green energy for use in institutions and households Develop a climate change adaptation plan that looks into the technologies and equipment needed at the local level to enhance adaptation.	Introduce new and appropriate products and technology in agriculture, forestry, energy, water sectors among others Provide technology such as computers and telephones to institutions and communities at affordable rates	Access equipment to support adaptation work Support communities uptake of solar energy for lighting and cooking Support in setup of biogas systems	Access equipment to support adaptation work Support communities uptake of solar energy for lighting and cooking	Introduce new and appropriate products and technology in agriculture, forestry, energy, water sectors among others Provide technology to institutions and communities at affordable rates Introduce green energy for use in institutions and households		

 Table 4.29: Opportunities in Technology and equipment

With reference to table 4.29, technology opportunities were identified in four areas by the institutions. These are opportunities in research, acquisition, use and sharing of the technologies to enable increase adaptation practices. The technologies mentioned were clustered as biological technology looking into seeds that are fast germinating and maturing, construction technology focusing on structures in water provision, energy and power technology for example solar and

wind power and finally communication technology such as computers, telephone and other media related technology that would support adaptation work.

There is need to develop a climate change adaptation plan that looks into the technologies and equipment needed at the local level to enhance adaptation. The initiatives on action plans implemented will continue to support the country to adapt to the effects of climate change through new technologies, modification of transferred technologies to fit national circumstances and the adjustment of the present technologies on climate. Pegram et al (2013) suggest that where basin plans are produced, they should ideally sit within a tiered hierarchy of planning from the national to the local level. It is suggested that this will enhance efficient management of the plans and adaptation action.

Ford et al (2013) recognized that Technology development and diffusion is important for expanding the range of adaptation possibilities by increasing opportunities and/or reducing costs. However, a study done by Tessa and Kurukulasuriya (2010) brings out some pertinent facts among them is the failure to transfer technology to developing countries which stems from concerns surrounding intellectual property rights, poor market driven technology transfer and the weak capacity of absorption from inadequate institutions and policies. These will need to be comprehensively raised by the climate change committees at the counties and shared with donors and other research partners. However, there is some level of headway in the Mara River Basin where institutions are in place and sound policies exist, challenge is in absorption capacity of the institution who would require technical capacity enhancement as the technology is introduced, putting in place a policy on intellectual property rights.

Opportunity 3: Capacity for implementation of climate change adaptation

Table 4.30 looks at the discussions on opportunities on capacity to implement adaptation practices.

Barrier to	Opportunit y cluster	Specific opportunities suggested by institution type						
adaptatio n		GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector		
Uncoordin ated and limited skills and knowledg e on adaptation	Capacity to implement climate change	Train staff on adaptation practices Train non-state actors on planning for adaptation an	Recruit and train CBOs, FBOs and small private sector institutions working on climate change adaptation	Recruit volunteers and train them on adaptation practices Tap onto the existing knowledge on participatory adaptive practices to train communities	Attend trainings and seminars on climate change adaptation	Design climate change adaptation forums in collaboratio n with actors Attend trainings and seminars on climate change adaptation		

 Table 4.30: Opportunities on capacity to implement climate change adaptation

All the institutions indicated that training, and other forms of sensitization on climate change adaptation knowledge and skills is crucial to enable them effectively undertake adaptation. NGOs and CBOs also indicated the need to recruit local staff and volunteers to support adaptation work. Training and skills upgrading for staff and volunteers was stated as needed to bridge the climate change expert personnel gap. This will lead to improved planning for climate change adaptation and enhance the capacity of institutions at the local level to handle climate change adaptation practices. Capacity development will also enhance mainstreaming of climate change adaptation into overall county development. The need to build institutional capacity to handle climate change adaptation issues in the Mara River Basin is crucial for sustainable livelihoods and holistic development. The lack of required skills in adaptation among NGOs, CBOs, FBO, and private sector institution is a major determent to the quick uptake and implementation of climate change adaptation practices. With improved skills in these institutions there should be reciprocal improvement in uptake of adaptation practices in the community leading to increased resilience to climate change impacts. Increasing the participation of local institutions in climate change adaptation requires building the skills of staff members in these institutions to have the confidence to undertake adaptation. This will require scaling up of the currently existing capacity building forums both internal and across the different institutions. The issue of frequency of forums in the initial stages will boost capacity of those institutions that are weak and increase their participation in climate change adaptation practices.

The national and county governments have a major interest in addressing climate change impacts through adaption. Both have information and expertise to take local institutions through formal and informal trainings in workshops, seminars, exposure and on the job trainings through staff internship programs. Brown and Sonwa (2015) in their study in Cameroon established that many local NGOs, with the support of international institutions, have facilitated the development of community forests in the villages. These activities build capacity for climate change adaptation through diversification of livelihood strategies.

The Climate Change Act 2016 by authorizing the county governments to integrate and mainstream climate change actions into their County Integrated Development Plans (CIDP) and designating a County Executive Committee member to coordinate climate change affairs (GOK, 2016a), was aiming to enhance capacity at the local level. County governments are expected to establish climate

change units that will oversee the implementation of all climate actions including adaptation actions thus enhancing capacity at the local level. This is in agreement with LVBC (2012) which states that there is need to improve education and training opportunities.

In line with capacity development, strategic basin planning considering issues of conservation, protection and management will need to be given prominence in climate change planning. Addressing climate change adaptation practices by implementing the developed basin plans will further provide an opportunity for increased community resilience to climate change. Pegram et al (2013) note that implementation is the greatest challenge in basin planning – and even more difficult in stressed basins – and there is always a great risk that the plan will become a paper plan that does not change management practice, actions or behaviour in the basin. Munaretto, Siciliano, and Turvani (2014), note that adaptation capacity is dynamic, and is influenced by economic and natural resources, technology, infrastructure, social networks, human resources, and institutions. Berke and Lyles (2013) noted that a planning process that integrates information generation with public engagement also expands prospects for seeking new opportunities to produce co-benefits that have a positive effect on multiple interests rather than having narrowly defined benefits that suit individual interests.

Opportunity 4: Financing of climate change adaptation action

Presented in table 4.31 are the output discussions on financing for climate change

Barrier to	Opportuni	Specific opportunities suggested by institution type					
adaptation	ty cluster	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector	
Inadequate resources to fund climate change adaptation practices	Financing of climate change adaptation action	Set up a climate change fund clearly stipulating the share for adaptation work Allocate a percentage of the fund for non-state institutions working on climate change	Fund raise and disburse funds to CBOs and FBOs	Build skills of leaders and volunteers in resource mobilization Strengthen local resource mobilization mechanisms	Build skills of leaders in resource mobilization Strengthen local resource mobilization mechanisms	Develop skills for resource mobilization	

Table 4.31: Financing of climate change adaptation action

Institutions in the study area indicated that, currently, they face limited access to climate financing mechanisms and the number of local forums to support learning and sharing on adaptation to climate change. This provides an opportunity for improving skills on resource mobilization, creating and increasing research links and funding.

Appreciating an increasing local level climate change financing in terms of skills development for sourcing financing and increasing level of financing is non-negotiable if resilience through adaptation is to be scaled up. With local level financing taking place, the poor and marginalized can be better targeted by institutions closest to them. Putting in place county climate change funds in all counties will enable the Mara River Basin institution mainstream climate change adaptation into planning. This will result in increased levels of positive response by the community. This agrees partially with Lüdemann and Ruppel (2013) who note that fairness will involve an increased transfer of financial resources from industrialised countries to developing countries. Accordingly, the challenge for the parties and stakeholders involved in the climate negotiations is to develop

secure, adequate and predictable funding streams for the financing of adaptation needs in poorer, more vulnerable countries with least adaptive capacity.

Working at the national level, is the Adaptation Consortium (ADA) a Consortium of partners led by the National Drought Management Authority (NDMA) to support county governments mainstream climate change into development and planning through the County Climate Change Fund Mechanism. They work with the National Treasury, Climate Change Directorate (CCD), National Environment Management Authority (NEMA), Ministry of Devolution and ASALs and the Council of Governors (CoG) to align their work with national policies and processes. Narok county has already started work with ADA on implementing this mechanism which will go a long way towards funding adaptation.

The foregoing concurs with Agrawal 2009 who noted that, without local institutions, rural poor groups will find it far costlier to pursue the adoption of effective adaptation practices relevant to their local needs, as well as difficult to increase their information knowledge on adaptation options. Uphoff (1992) declares that public sector institutions backed by authority are better able to achieve consistency and predictability in their performance. However, they operate at a fairly high cost, and they are often slower or more rigid than other institutions. They are amenable to policy direction, which is important for sustainable development if this goal has backing from the government. They are also liable to politicisation, which can have adverse consequences.

Ford et al (2013) stated that there is increasing evidence that governments, industry, and NGOs are investing in adaptation with funding of adaptation activities becoming a major theme of international climate negotiations and domestic climate policy. This provides an opportunity to

link encourage the set-up of the climate change fund at county level. Funding for adaptation is

needed as few adaptation policies can implemented solely with existing funding streams (Ford et

al 2013) this will require the Green Climate Fund to also begin to mobilize resources for adaptation

in the global south.

Opportunity 5: Outreach services for climate change adaptation

The following are findings from discussions on opportunities for outreach services for

adaptation.

Barrier to adaptatio n	Opportunit y cluster	Specific opportunities suggested by institution type						
		GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector		
Uncoordin ated and limited skills and knowledg e on adaptation	Outreach services for climate change adaptation	Integrate gender in county policies on climate change Train staff on gender mainstreaming Generate desegregated data by sex and vulnerability from target groups Monitor and disaggregate data for planning	Recruit local persons on their staff to address the language barrier and increase the rapport the institutions have at the community. Use schools as points of entry to share on adaptation practices that can be cascaded to the households Share success stories on men and women's adaptation work	Develop participatory strategies on adaptation and risk reduction Develop skills in gender mainstreaming Train men and women in adaptation work Develop simple gender responsive monitoring tools to track progress	Build skills of the staff and volunteers in the institutions on gender mainstreamin g	Adopt a village annually to support their adaptation		

 Table 4.32: Opportunities in outreach services

From Table 4.32 the most mentioned opportunity on outreach centred on gender mainstreaming in climate change adaptation, monitoring and evaluation, public participation and the private sector institutions suggested adopting a village to develop a show case on adaptation. Institutional capacities to address gender mainstreaming skills as part of outreach will require institutions to generate disaggregated data by sex and vulnerability, develop empowerment strategies on

adaptation and risk reduction. Schools can be used as means of access to share on adaptation practices with pupils who can then practice and share at the households for replication and scaling up adaptation.

To address the issue of weak follow-up on climate change adaptation practices, the local institutions will develop participatory monitoring and evaluation approaches to track progress. Planned adaptation response can be introduced and can include providing women and men at the community with information on key risks and adaptation measures they can each promote and use towards securing their livelihoods. This will require local institutions to tap onto the existing knowledge on participatory adaptive practices. Brown and Sonwa (2015) note that the links that local NGOs and international institutions have with rural communities can facilitate the exchange of knowledge, but this should go beyond raising awareness to more focused climate adaptation interventions for both men and women.

Local institutions in the Mara River Basin have taken on a lead role in reaching out to communities to address issues of adverse climate change and the consequent insecure livelihoods. In this way local institutions and communities are taking part in meeting a large aspect of the adaptation costs for the Basin. According to Francisco (2008), one way to reduce the burden of adaptation cost is by sharing it among those who stand to benefit from adaptation measures. Another way is to transfer risk through the use of catastrophe bonds, catastrophe pools, and weather index-based insurance or micro-insurance schemes. This is an opportunity that is also proposed by UNDP (2010) which recognizes that institutions have the ability to foster adaptation at the local level by brokering information flows on different coping measures at household level. Franscisco (2008) further states that in risk sharing and risk transfer, the contributions of social institutions like

community groups and private organizations are important, groups of people who are likely to be affected by an adverse climate event jointly carry out adaptation measures by contributing their time and resources.

CHAPTER 5: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Overview

This chapter contains a summary of the main findings, conclusions and recommendation. The main objective of the study was to establish the capacity of local institutions to foster climate adaptation responses in the Mara River Basin. The specific objectives were to:1)Assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin;2)Evaluate the internal institutional structures that enable or hinder climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin;3)Analyse the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin.

5.2 Summary of findings

The first objective of the study was to assess local institutional practices that promote climate change adaptation practices. The study interrogated government institutions, Non-Governmental Organizations, Community Based Organizations, Faith Based Organizations and private sector institutions.

The study established that the mandates of most local institutions do not make direct provisions for their involvement in adaptation. The mandates of Government institutions provide for mainstreaming climate change in all its activities. All the NGOs sampled in the study were international NGOs and their mandates provided for adaptation. However the core mandates for CBOs is welfare and income generation with no direct provision for adaptation. The core mandate for FBOs is spiritual and Psycho social support with no provisions for adaptation. The core mandate of the private sector is to generate profits and there are no direct provisions for adaptation. The study interrogated 5 Adaptation intervention areas (Agriculture, Environment, Forestry, Energy and Water) and established that in all of these areas there was above average implementation of adaptation practices across the 5 categories of institutions in the study. The overall score was of 81% meaning that 81% of the adaptation practices examined were implemented by over 50 %. Of the institutions in the Mara river basin. This score is an indicator of the extent to which adaptation practices implemented in the Mara river basin? Environment scored highest (100%), followed by Water (87.5%), Agriculture (87.5%), Forestry (67%), and Energy (67%),

The study sought to establish how each institution score performed in terms of implementing Adaptation practices? It established that all categories of institutions scored above the 50% mark in terms of implementing adaptation practices. This implies that all of them are extensively involved in adaptation (table 4.13) although not at the same level. The highest score was obtained by Government Institutions (83%) followed by CBOs (80.6%), FBOs and Private Sector (67%), NGOs (54%). These findings seem to indicate that CBOs, FBOs and Private sector mandates do not provide for adaption yet they implement adaptation activities.

The second objective of the study was to evaluate the institutional structures that enable or hinder adaptation practices. Using the institutional effectiveness tool, the study deemed any score above 50% as favourable and below 50 unfavourable. The average score for the developing processes quadrant across the 5 categories of institutions was 61.2%, for enabling processes quadrant 73.2%, for energizing processes quadrant 70.4% and for productive processes quadrant 69.2%.

The institution that yield the highest score was NGO which scored 70%. Hoever the range was not wide s and is closely followed by CBOs(70%), Private sector(68.5%), Government(66.3) and FBO(62.7%)

The third objective of the study was to analyse the opportunities in the institutional landscape that enhance community involvement in climate change adaptation in the Mara river basin. The study established that there were a total of 44 links between the institutions in the study area. Out of this total 55% were vertical links and 45% were horizontal links. When these linkages were analyses against 5 categories of opportunities the results indicated that 27% presented access to information as an opportunity, 25% capacity building, 18% finance and 30% technology

Challenges identified by the institutions are clustered into five areas first climate change adaptation information needs, second capacity to implement climate change, third financing of climate change adaptation action, fourth outreach services for climate change adaptation and fifth technology and equipment to act on climate change. The issues faced by institutions in relation to climate change adaptation information were technical nature of presentation of climate change adaptation information affecting 26% of the respondents, limited access to climate change adaptation information (22.81%), poor flow of information on climate change adaptation information (22.81%), high cost of information on climate change adaptation (16.85%) and scarcity of information on climate change adaptation affected by 11.89% of the respondents. Opportunities identified to address information challenge and foster climate change adaptation practices include first creating an overall increased access to information on climate change adaptation on climate change adaptation practices include first creating an overall increased access to information on climate change adaptation through resource centers at the county and sub county level. Secondly, ensuring

access to user friendly information by reviewing repackaging of information to have abridged versions of large technical documents. Thirdly, enhance affordability of climate change adaptation information. Fourthly, increasing the number of interactions within institutions discussing climate change adaptation and creating visibility of climate adaptation issues in offices. Lastly, tapping on indigenous knowledge for uptake of adaptation practices as it will also support in reducing cost of information that has to be acquired from afar.

The second set of challenges faced by institutions is in relation to capacity to implement climate change the following were identified lack of and inadequate climate change expert personnel 33.9% of the respondents indicated this as a major challenge, weak or poor planning for climate change adaptation (24.86%), low capacity to handle climate change adaptation practices (18%), weak follow-up on climate change adaptation practices (13.9%) and low participation in climate change adaptation practices at 9.3%. the opportunities to address this capacity problems are training and skills upgrading through formal and informal trainings in workshops, seminars, exposure and on the job trainings through staff internship programs. This will serve three purposes first to bridge the climate change expert personnel gap, second improve planning for climate change adaptation and lastly enhance the capacity of institutions at the local level to handle climate change adaptation practices. Strategic basin planning will address the issue of weak implementation while to address weak follow-up on climate change adaptation practices, there is need to develop participatory monitoring and evaluation formats to track progress. The third challenge is related to financing of climate change adaptation action key issues being limited finances for climate change adaptation action affecting 34% of the respondents, poor fundraising skills for climate change adaptation action (31.5%), low institutional funding for climate change adaptation activities (20.7%) and limited information on sources of climate change adaptation funds affecting 13% of the respondents. The opportunities include improving skills for sourcing financing and develop secure, adequate and predictable funding streams for the financing of adaptation needs by setting up of a climate change fund at county level. The fourth set of challenges related to outreach services for climate change adaptation the greatest one being weak gender mainstreaming skills (34.88%), poor uptake of new ideas (18.12%), weak outreach (18%), low creativity in climate change adaptation action (16.6%) and language barrier for effective communication on climate change adaptation issues (13.57%). Institutional capacities to address gender mainstreaming skills as part of outreach will require institutions to generate desegregated data by sex and vulnerability; work within responsive policies or domesticate existing policies, build staff skills for gender mainstreaming. Secondly recruit local persons on as staff this will address the language barrier and increase the rapport the institutions have at the community. Finally use schools as points of entry to share on adaptation practices that can then be cascade to the households for uptake. The fifth key challenges was in relation to technology and equipment to act on climate change, such as poor technology options (44.9%), lack of equipment and computers (25.4%), poor institutional infrastructure (11.73%), limited access to internet (11.56%) and lack of new innovative ideas (6.3%). The opportunity to address the technology needs will start with developing a climate change adaptation plan that looks into the technologies and equipment needed at the local level to enhance adaptation. Introduce new technologies and modify transferred technologies to fit local circumstances.

5.2 Conclusions

The study concludes that many local institutions implement adaptation practice even when they are not expressly provided for in the mandate because the government institutions mandated to mainstream adaptation does not have enough capacity to implement and therefore engages other stakeholders in implementation. The adaptation activities manifested in the study confirm that adaptation is being implemented at a high rate of 81% across the intervention areas. The study concludes that concludes that internal structures of local institutions promote adaption to climate change since all quadrants of the institution effectiveness tool yielded a score of over 50 percent and there was evidence that all institutions were extensively engaged in adaptation practices. The institutional landscape exhibited both vertical and horizontal linkages in close to equal measure (55% and 45%). The findings of the study indicate the opportunities for enhancing community participation that are presented by the links which lead to the conclusion that local institutions in the Mara river basin have capacity to foster climate change adaption.

5.3 Recommendations

 Mainstreaming climate change. There is need to undertake climate change adaptation mainstreaming within the Mara River Basin middle catchment using the NCCAP guidelines. This can be achieved by first establishing climate change units in the sub counties of the Mara River Basin the secretariats will work closely with the county climate units. These units can benefit from local institutions wich this study has established have capacity to implement adaptation practices.

- 2. Expand the mandates of CBOs to include adaptation since they are already undertaking the practices. This will provide more opportunities for expanding their work in adaptation.
- 3. Stakeholder engagement in climate change Adaptation should be institutionalized for all institutions involved in Adaptation. This can make use of Opportunities that are present in the landscape. It will be in line with the EAC climate change Master plan whose goal is strengthening cooperation in responding to climate change.

5.4 Suggestions for further study

- 1. Assess climate change impact on major sectors by conducting a vulnerability assessment study
- 2. The capacity of local institutions to monitor and evaluate climate change projects

REFERENCES

- Aakvaag, G. (2015). Institutional differentiation and individual freedom. Acta Sociologica, 58(4), 343-356. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/24569589
- Adewole, I., Agbola, S., & Kasim, O., (2014), Building resilience to climate change Impacts after the 2011 flood disaster at the University of Ibadan, Nigeria. Environment & Urbanization Copyright © 2014 Vol 27(1): 199–216. DOI: 10.1177/0956247814547679
- Adger, W. (2003). Social Capital, Collective Action, and Adaptation to Climate Change. *Economic Geography*, 79(4), 387-404. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/30032945
- Adger, W.N., S. Agrawala, M.M.Q. Mirza, C. Conde, K. O'Brien, J. Pulhin, R. Pulwarty, B.
 Smit a & K. Takahashi, 2007: Assessment of adaptation practices, options, constraints and capacity. *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani,
- Agrawal A., McSweeney, C., & Perrin, N. (2008). The Social Dimensions of Climate Change: Local Institutions and Climate Change Adaptation No. 113. New York: World bank
- Agrawal, A., (2008), The Social Dimensions of Climate Change: The role of local institutions in adaptation to climate change. Paper prepared for the World bank workshop Washington DC: World Bank
- Ahmed, S., & Fajber, E. (2009). Engendering adaptation to climate variability in Gujarat, India. *Gender and Development*, 17(1), 33-50. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/27809205

- Akenji, L., Elder, M., Bengtsson, M., Olsen, S., & King, P. (2018). Scoring the Sustainable Development Goals: Pathways for Asia and the Pacific (pp. 40-49, Rep.). Institute for Global Environmental Strategies. doi:10.2307/resrep21869.8
- AMCEN, 2011: Addressing Climate Change Challenges in Africa; A Practical Guide Towards Sustainable Development. World Meteorological Organization
- Andresen, S., (2015) International Climate Negotiations: Topdown, Bottom-up or a Combination of Both?, The International Spectator, 50:1, 15-30, DOI:10.1080/03932729.2014.997992
- Ansu-Kyeremeh, K. 2005. Indigenous Communication in Africa: Concepts, application and prospects. Accra: Ghana University Press.
- Antle, J., & Capalbo, S. (2010). Adaptation of Agricultural and Food Systems to Climate Change: An Economic and Policy Perspective. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 32(3), 386-416. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40864570
- Armah, F., Luginaah, I., Hambati, H., Chuenpagdee, R., and Campbell, G. (2015). Assessing barriers to adaptation to climate change in coastal Tanzania: Does where you live matter? *Population and Environment*, *37*(2), 231-263. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/24769783
- Armstrong, A., Krasny, M., & Schuldt, J. (2018). CLIMATE CHANGE EDUCATION
 OUTCOMES. In *Communicating Climate Change: A Guide for Educators* (pp. 25-31).
 ITHACA; LONDON: Cornell University Press. Retrieved from
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7591/j.ctv941wjn.7
- Asian Development Bank. (2009). Building Climate Resilience in the Agriculture Sector in Asia and the Pacific. Philippines: ADB
- Asian Development Bank. (2010). Central Asia Atlas of Natural Resources. Hong Kong: ADB

- Australian Academy of Science. (2010). *The Science of Climate Change: Questions and Answers*. AAS: Canberra
- Ayers, J., Saleemul Huq, S., Wright, H., Faisal, A., & Hussain, S., (2014) Mainstreaming climate change adaptation into development in Bangladesh, Climate and Development, 6:4, 293-305, DOI: <u>10.1080/17565529.2014.977761</u>
- Bandaragoda,D. (2000) A framework for institutional analysis for water resource management in a river basin context. Colombo. IWMI

Baridam, M. (1995), Management. Paragraphics. Port Harcourt.

- Barnett, J., Evans, L., Gross, C., Kiem, A., Kingsford, R., Palutikof, J. Smithers, S. (2015). From barriers to limits to climate change adaptation: Path dependency and the speed of change. *Ecology and Society*, 20(3). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26270227
- Beinstein, S. (2002). International institutions and the framing of domestic policies: The Kyoto protocol and Canada's response to climate change.
- Bennett, A., Acton, L., Epstein, G., Gruby, R., & Nenadovic, M. (2018). Embracing conceptual diversity to integrate power and institutional analysis: Introducing a relational typology. *International Journal of the Commons, 12*(2), 330-357. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/26511531
- Bennett, N., Dearden, P., Murray, G., & Kadfak, A. (2014). The capacity to adapt?:
 Communities in a changing climate, environment, and economy on the northern
 Andaman coast of Thailand. *Ecology and Society*, *19*(2). Retrieved from
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/26269523

- Benson-Rea, M & Ditter, J (2011), Understanding institutional landscapes: A comparative international study of two wine regions, 6th AWBR International Conference | Bordeaux Management School | 9-10 June 2011
- Berke, P., & Lyles, W. (2013). Public Risks and the Challenges to Climate-Change Adaptation:
 A Proposed Framework for Planning in the Age of Uncertainty. *Cityscape*, 15(1), 181-208. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41958963
- Bhatasara, S., & Nyamwanza, A., (2018) Sustainability: a missing dimension in climate change adaptation discourse in Africa?, *Journal of Integrative Environmental* Sciences, 15:1, 83-97, DOI: 10.1080/1943815X.2018.1450766
- Bosello, F., Carraro, C., & De Cian, E. (2012). (Rep.). Copenhagen Consensus Center. www.jstor.org/stable/resrep16370
- Broto, V., Ensor, J., Boyd, E., Allen, C., Seventine, C., & Macucule, D. (2015). Incorporating Climate Change Knowledge in Participatory Planning. In *Participatory Planning for Climate Compatible Development in Maputo, Mozambique* (pp. 8-22). London: UCL Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1g69xzm.10
- Brown, H., & Sonwa, D. (2015). Rural local institutions and climate change adaptation in forest communities in Cameroon. *Ecology and Society*, 20(2). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26270179
- Butler, J., Wise, R., Skewes, T., Bohensky, E., Peterson, N., Suadnya, W., ... & Rochester,
 W., (2015) Integrating Top-Down and Bottom-Up Adaptation Planning to Build
 Adaptive Capacity: A Structured Learning Approach, Coastal Management, 43:4, 346-364, DOI: 10.1080/08920753.2015.1046802

Campbell, J. (2004). Institutional Change and Globalization. USA: Princeton University

- Catanese, A., & Snyder, J., (1988). Urban Planning (2nd Edition). USA, McGraw Hill Inc. Chapter 2 Planning Theory by Allan Feldt
- Chechetto-Salles, M., & Geyer, Y., (2006). Community-Based Organisation Management: Handbook series for community-based organizations. Pretoria, South Africa. Institute for Democracy.
- Chen, D., & Stroup, W. (1993) General System Theory: Toward a conceptual framework for science and technology education for all. Journal of science education and technology.
 Vol 2 No. 3 1993 page 447-459
- Chishakwe, N., Murray, L., & Chambwera, M. (2012). Building climate change adaptation on community experiences: Lessons from community-based natural resource management in southern Africa. *London: International Institute for Environment and Development*.
 Retrieved from http://pubs.iied.org/pdfs/10030IIED.pdf
- Christian Aid. (2009). Community Answers to climate chaos: Getting Climate Justice from UNFCCC. UK: Christian Aid
- Christoplos, I., (2012) Climate advice and extension practice, Geografisk Tidsskrift-Danish Journal of Geography, 112:2, 183-193, DOI: 10.1080/00167223.2012.741882
- Collier, P., Conway, G., & Venables, T. Climate change and Africa. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Volume 24, Number 2, 2008, pp.337–353
- Community Wealth Ventures (2003) Powering Social Change: Lessons on Community Wealth Generation for Nonprofits Sustainability, Community Wealth Ventures, Washington DC
- Cooper, H., (1998). Synthesizing research: A guide for literature reviews applied to social research methods series; V 2. Sage publications, Inc.
- Corlett, J. Systems Theory Applied to Organizations www.uky.edu/driane/orgcomm325ch04.ppt

- County Government of Bomet (2013). Bomet County Integrated Development Plan: 2013-2017. Bomet: County Government
- County Government of Narok (2013). Narok County Integrated Development Plan: 2013-2017. Narok: County Government
- County Government of Bomet (2018a). Bomet County Integrated Development Plan: 2018-2022. Bomet: County Government
- County Government of Bomet (2018b). Bomet County Draft Climate Change Policy. Bomet. County Government.
- County Government of Narok (2018). Narok County Integrated Development Plan: 2018-2023. Narok: County Government
- Cramer, L., Förch, W., Mutie, I., & Thornton, P., (2016) Connecting Women, Connecting Men: How Communities and Organizations Interact to Strengthen Adaptive Capacity and Food Security in the Face of Climate Change, Gender, *Technology and Development*, 20:2, 169-199, DOI: <u>10.1177/0971852416639771</u>
- Dahal, G., & Capistrano, D., (2006) Forest governance and institutional structure: an ignored dimension of community based forest management in the Philippines. *International Forestry Review Vol.8(4), 2006*
- Daly, D. (2011). Structures of Virtue and Vice. *New Blackfriars*, 92(1039), 341-357. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/43251520
- Davoudi, S etal. (2009). Planning for Climate Change: *Strategies for mitigation and adaptation for spatial planner*. London: Earthscan

- Day, E., Fankhauser, S., Kingsmill, N., Costa, H., & Mavrogianni, A., (2019) Upholding labour productivity under climate change: an assessment of adaptation options, *Climate Policy*, 19:3, 367-385, DOI: 10.1080/14693062.2018.1517640
- De Coninck, H. (2007). Designing institutions for climate change: *Why rational design involves technology*. Amsterdam Conference on Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change
- Demuth, C. (2010). Working with communities to tackle climate change: *practical approaches for Local Government*. London: Nesta
- Desanker, P. (2002). Impact of climate change on Africa. Johannesburg: WWF
- Dey I (1993), Qualitative data analysis: A user-friendly guide for social scientists. London, Routledge
- DiMaggio, Paul J. 1988. "Interest and agency in institutional theory." In Institutional Patterns and Organizations: *Culture and Environment*, 3-21, Lynne G. Zucker, ed. Cambridge, MA: Ballinger
- Durkheim, É. (1984). The division of labour in society (2nd Ed.). New York: Macmillan.
- East African Community. (2011). EAC Climate Change Policy 2011. Arusha: EAC Secretariat
- East African Community. (2011b). EAC Climate Change Strategy 2011-2016. Arusha: EAC Secretariat
- East African Community. (2011c). East African community climate change master plan 2011-2031. Arusha: EAC Secretariat
- Ebaugh, H., Chafetz, J., & Pipes, P. (2006). The Influence of Evangelicalism on Government Funding of Faith-Based Social Service Organizations. *Review of Religious*
Research, 47(4), 380-392. Retrieved August 12, 2020, from

www.jstor.org/stable/20058105

- Ebaugh, H., Pipes, P., Chafetz, J., & Daniels, M. (2003). Where's the Religion? Distinguishing Faith-Based from Secular Social Service Agencies. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 42*(3), 411-426. www.jstor.org/stable/1387743
- Economic Commission for Africa (2016). Africa's Blue Economy: A policy handbook. ECA Publishing and Printing Unit, Addis Ababa

Economic Commission for Africa (2018) AU - UN framework on implementation of

Agenda 2063 and Agenda 2030. ECA Publishing and Printing Unit, Addis Ababa

- Eriksen, S., O'Brien, K. & Rosentrater, L. (2008). Climate Change in Eastern and Southern Africa Impacts, *Vulnerability and Adaptation*, Olso: GECHS Report 2008:2
- Fankhauser, S. (2018). A Perspective Paper on Adaptation as a Response to Climate Change (pp. 7-8, Rep.). Copenhagen Consensus Center. www.jstor.org/stable/resrep16348.7
- Ford, J., Berrang-Ford, L., Lesnikowski, A., Barrera, M., & Heymann, S. (2013). How to Track Adaptation to Climate Change: A Typology of Approaches for National-Level Application. *Ecology and Society*, 18(3). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26269369
- Francisco, H. (2008). Adaptation to Climate Change: Needs and Opportunities in Southeast Asia. ASEAN Economic Bulletin, 25 (1), 7-19. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41231491
- Friis-Hansen, E., Aben, C., Okiror, J., Bashaasha, B., & Suubi, G. (2015). Local government engagement with climate change adaptation in Uganda (pp. 45-51, Rep.). Danish Institute for International Studies. www.jstor.org/stable/resrep15624.8

- Gaber, J., & Overacker, T., (2012) Establishing mixed method research design guidelines in health impact assessment investigations, *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 30:4, 275-283, DOI: 10.1080/14615517.2012.743243
- Ghil, M Volume 1, Natural Climate Variability. The Earth system: physical and chemical dimensions of global environmental change, in *Encyclopaedia of Global Environmental Change*. pp 544–549
- Global Leadership for Climate Action (2009), Facilitating an International Agreement on Climate Change: Adaptation to Climate Change. www.globalclimateaction.org
- Goulden, M., Conway, D., & Persechino, A., (2009) Adaptation to climate change in international river basins in Africa: a review / Adaptation au changement climatique dans les bassins fluviaux internationaux en Afrique: une revue, *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 54:5, 805-828, DOI: <u>10.1623/hysj.54.5.805</u>
- Government of Kenya of. (n.d). Guidelines for preparing strategic urban development plans. Nairobi: Government Printer
- Government of Kenya of. (1999). Environmental Management and Conservation Act 1999 (EMCA). Nairobi: Government Printers
- Government of Kenya of. (2007). Kenya Vision 2030: Abridged version. Nairobi: Government Printers
- Government of Kenya of. (2009). Bomet District Development Plan. Nairobi: Government Printers
- Government of Kenya of. (2010a). National Climate Change Response Strategy. Nairobi: Government Printers

- Government of Kenya of. (2010b). Kenya Population and Housing census Vol.1A. Nairobi: Kenya Bureau of Statistics
- Government of Kenya of. (2012). The County Governments ACT, 2012 Nairobi: Government Printers
- Government of Kenya of. (2013a). National Climate Change Action Plan 2013-2017. Nairobi: Government Printer
- Government of Kenya of. (2013b). Manual for preparation of County Integrated Development Plan. Nairobi: Government Printer
- Government of Kenya of. (2014). Draft National Climate Change Framework Policy. Nairobi: Government Printer
- Government of Kenya (2016a). Kenya Gazette Supplement Acts 2016: *Climate Change Act No. 11 of 2016*, Nairobi: Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources
- Government of Kenya (2016b). Sessional Paper No. 3 of 2016 on National Climate Change Framework Policy. Nairobi: Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources
- Government of Kenya (2016c). Kenya National Adaptation Plan: 2015-2030, Nairobi: Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources
- Government of Kenya (2018). National Climate Change Action Plan (Kenya): 2018-2022. Nairobi: Ministry of Environment and Forestry
- Hegger, D., & Dieperink, C. (2014). Toward successful joint knowledge production for climate change adaptation: Lessons from six regional projects in the Netherlands. *Ecology and Society*, 19(2). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26269545
- Howden, S., Soussana, J., Tubiello, F., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., & Meinke, H. (2007). Adapting Agriculture to Climate Change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the*

United States of America, 104(50), 19691-19696. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/25450777

- Hussain, A., N.R. Khattak and A.Q. Khan. 2008. The role of community based organizations in rural development (A case study of selected CBOs in District Swat). Sarhad J. Agric. 24(4): 749-753.
- Ian J. McNiven (2006) Dauan 4 and the Emergence of Ethnographically-Known Social Arrangements across Torres Strait during the Last 600-800 Years, *Australian Archaeology*, 62:1, 1-12, DOI: 10.1080/03122417.2006.11681825
- Iati Iati (2008) The Potential of Civil Society in Climate Change Adaptation Strategies, *Political Science*, 60:1, 19-30, DOI: 10.1177/003231870806000103
- IPCC (2007b): Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 976pp.
- IPCC (2007c): Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA., XXX pp.
- IPCC. (2001b). Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC. (2007a). Summary for policy makers; climate change 2007: *synthesis report*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- IPCC. (2007c). Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and vulnerability, contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of IPCC. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Jaakko Jussila & Katja Lähtinen (2020) Effects of institutional practices on delays in construction – views of Finnish homebuilder families, *Housing Studies*, 35:7, 1167-1193,DOI: 10.1080/02673037.2019.1651831
- Jantarasami, L., Lawler, J., & Thomas, C. (2010). Institutional Barriers to Climate Change Adaptation in U.S. National Parks and Forests. *Ecology and Society*, 15(4). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26268219
- Jegede, A. (2018). Africa versus Climate Change Loss and Damages: Exploring AU Regional Channels for Influencing National Policy. *Journal of African Foreign Affairs*, 5(2), 207-226. doi:10.2307/26664070
- Jeseviciute-Ufartiene, Laima. (2014). Importance of Planning in Management Developing Organization. Journal of Advanced Management Science. 176-180. 10.12720/joams.2.3.176-180.
- Johnson, R., Kast, F., & Rosenzweig, J. (1964). Systems Theory and Management. *Management Science*, *10*(2), 367-384. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2627306
- Jordan (Ed.), Systems Theories and A Priori Aspects of Perception. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 1998. Ch. 3, pp. 47-74.
- Kajumba, T., Karani, I., & Fisher, S. (2016). A bottom-up approach: Identifying national standard climate change indicators for Uganda (pp. 14-17, Rep.). International Institute for Environment and Development. Retrieved from <u>www.jstor.org/stable/resrep18040.7</u>

- Kallinikos, J., (2006) The institution of bureaucracy: administration, pluralism, democracy, *Economy and Society*, 35:4, 611-627, DOI: 10.1080/03085140600960872
- Kapsali, Maria. (2009). Comparing the application of Closed and Open Systems approaches in innovation project management. The Systemist. 33. 31-46.
- Kelman, I., Colbourn, T., Costello, A., Georgeson, L., Kovats, S., Maslin, M., Wilkinson, P. (2015). Climate and climate change. In Waage J. and Yap C. (Eds.), *Thinking Beyond Sectors for Sustainable Development* (pp. 11-18). London: Ubiquity Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv3t5rcm.10
- Keys, N., Thomsen, D., & Smith, T., (2016) Adaptive capacity and climate change: the role of community opinion leaders, Local Environment, 21:4, 432-450, DOI: 10.1080/13549839.2014.967758
- Klein, R., Adams, K., Dzebo, A., Davis, M., & Siebert, C. (2017). (Rep.). Stockholm Environment Institute. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/resrep02838
- Kondra, A., & Hurst, D., (2009) Institutional processes of organizational culture, Culture and Organization, 15:1, 39-58, DOI: 10.1080/14759550802709541
- Kothari, C. (2004). Research Methodology: Methods and Techniques (2nd ed.). New Delhi. New Age International Publishers
- Laaser, C. Leipprand, A. De Roo, C & Vidaurre, R. (2009). Report on good practice measures for climate change adaptation in river basin management plans. European Environment Agency
- Lackner, Maximilian & Chen, Wei-Yin & Suzuki, Toshio. (2012). Introduction to Climate Change Mitigation. 10.1007/978-1-4614-6431-0_1-2.

Lago, A. (2009). Stockholm, Rio, Johannesburg: Brazil and the three United Nations Conferences on environment. Brazil: Alexandre De Gusmao Foundation

Langlois R (1983). Systems theory, Knowledge and social science

- Laszlo A & Krippner S. (1998). Systems Theories: Their Origins, Foundations, and Development. J.S.
- Lexim,E. (2007)Adaptation to climate change: International agreements for local needs. Paries OECD
- Lisk, F. (2009). Overview: The Current Climate Change Situation in Africa, Special Report:Climate Change in Africa: Adaptation, *Mitigation and Governance ChallengesPg* 6-15,Waterloo Ontario: GIGI
- Lobo, C. (2008). Institutional and organizational analysis for pro-poor change: *meeting IFAD's millennium challenge*. Rome: IFAD
- Lüdemann, C., & Ruppel, O. (2013). International Climate Finance: Policies, Structures and Challenges. In Ruppel O., Roschmann C., and Ruppel-Schlichting K. (Eds.), *Climate Change: International Law and Global Governance: Volume II: Policy, Diplomacy and Governance in a Changing Environment* (pp. 375-408). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft mbH. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv941vsk.19</u>
- LVBC and WWF-ESARPO, 2010. Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan for Sustainable Management of the Mara River Basin. Nairobi and Kisumu, Kenya.
- Mapfumo, P., Thabane, K., Mtimuni, A., Nkondze, M., Mumba, A., & Sibanda, L. (2015). (Rep.). Food, Agriculture, and Natural Resources Policy Analysis Network (FANRPAN). www.jstor.org/stable/resrep00670

Matthews, T., (2013) Institutional perspectives on operationalising climate adaptation through planning, *Planning Theory & Practice*, 14:2, 198-

210, DOI: <u>10.1080/14649357.2013.781208</u>

- Mburia, R. (2015). Africa Climate Change Policy: An Adaptation and development change in a dangerous world. Climate emergency institute
- McClain, M., Subalusky, A., Anderson, E., Dessu, S., Melesse, A., Ndomba, P.... & Mligo,
 C., (2014). Comparing flow regime, channel hydraulics, and biological communities to
 infer flow–ecology relationships in the Mara River of Kenya and Tanzania, Hydrological
 Sciences Journal, 59:3-4, 801-819, DOI: 10.1080/02626667.2013.853121
- McMillan, J. & Schumacher, S. (2006). Research in Education. USA: Pearson Education Inc
- McMillen, H., Ticktin, T., Friedlander, A., Jupiter, S., Thaman, R., Campbell, J. Orcherton, D. (2014). Small islands, valuable insights: Systems of customary resource use and resilience to climate change in the Pacific. *Ecology and Society*, 19 (4). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26269694
- Meyer, J. W. & Rowan, B. Institutional Organization formal structure as myth and ceremony. *American Journal of Sociology 83* (1977) 340-63
- Mikulewicz, M., (2018) Politicizing vulnerability and adaptation: on the need to democratize local responses to climate impacts in developing countries, *Climate and Development*, 10:1, 18-34, DOI: 10.1080/17565529.2017.1304887
- Mohr, J., & White, H. (2008). How to Model an Institution. *Theory and Society*, *37*(5), 485-512. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40345598
- Morgan, P. & Taschereau, S. (1996). Capacity and Institutional Assessment: Frameworks, Methods and Tools for Analysis. Quebec: CIDA.

- Morris, D., & Krishnan, N. (2012). Mapping Adaptation Opportunities and Activities in an Interactive Atlas. *Ambio*, *41*, 90-99. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41417392
- Moser, S., Ekstrom, J., & Kasperson, R. (2010). A framework to diagnose barriers to climate change adaptation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 107(51), 22026-22031. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/25757010
- Moura, S., Bianchi, C., Mazato, E., Espig, L., & Falaster, C., (2019) How Institutions Shape Uncertainty and Risk. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/336442248
- Moyer, J., Sinclair, A., & Spaling, H. (2012). Working for God and Sustainability: The Activities of Faith-Based Organizations in Kenya. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 23(4), 959-992. <u>www.jstor.org/stable/41683090</u>
- Munaretto, S., Siciliano, G., & Turvani, M. (2014). Integrating adaptive governance and participatory multi criteria methods: A framework for climate adaptation governance. *Ecology and Society*, 19(2). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26269576
- Munoz M, & Najam A (2009) Rio+ 20: Another world summit. Sustainable Development insights
- Mutimba, S. Mayeko, S. Olum, P. and Wanyama K (2010) Climate Change Vulnerability and adaptation preparedness in Kenya. Nairobi. Heinrich Boll Stiftung.
- Nelson, P. Nyarangi, J & Maritim, Z. (2012). The Trans-Boundary Mara River Basin Strategic Environmental Assessment (MRB SEA). Arusha: Lake Victoria Basin Commission
- Newth, D. (2006). The Structure of Social Networks. In Perez P. & Batten D. (Eds.), *Complex Science for a Complex World: Exploring Human Ecosystems with Agents* (pp. 71-94).
 Australia: ANU Press. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt2jbhz2.11

Nhamo, Godwell & Muchuru, Shepherd. (2019). Climate adaptation in the public health sector in Africa: Evidence from United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change National Communications. Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies. 11. 10.4102/jamba.v11i1.644.

North, D. (2003). The Role of Institutions in Economic Development. Geneva: UNEC

- O'Riordan T, & Jordan A: Institutions, climate change and cultural theory: towards a common analytical framework. Global Environ Change 1999, 9:81-93
- Odeku, K., & Meyer, E. (2010). Climate Change Surge: Implementing Stringent Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies in South Africa. *Journal of African Law*, *54*(2), 159-183. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41149808
- Olago D, (2012) Kenya: Climate Change Impacts, Vulnerability, Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies. Institute for Climate Change and Adaptation (ICCA) and Department of Geology, University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya (unpublished)
- Olarinmoye, O. (2012). Faith-Based Organizations and Development: Prospects and Constraints. *Transformation*, 29(1), 1-14. <u>www.jstor.org/stable/90008031</u>
- Ostrom, E. (1990). Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ostrom, E. (2010). Polycentric systems for coping with collective action and global environmental change, *Global Environmental Change* 20(4): 550-557
- Overseas Development Institute. (2007). Climate Change Policies Overseas Development Institute, London:ODI
- Paavola, J. Livelihoods, vulnerability and adaptation to climate change in Morogoro, Tanzania. *Environmental Science and Policy 11 (2008) 642-654*

- Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden & C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 717-743.
- Parry, J., & Terton, A. (2016). (Rep.). International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD). Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/resrep17143
- Paul Collier,Gordon Conway,& Tony Venables 2008, *Climate change and Africa*, Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Volume 24, Number 2, pp.337–353
- Paul M. Thompson (2013) Sustainability of Community-Based Organizations in Bangladesh, Society & Natural Resources, 26:7, 778-794, DOI: 10.1080/08941920.2012.723303
- Paul M. Thompson (2013) Sustainability of Community-Based Organizations in Bangladesh,
 Society & Natural Resources, 26:7, 778-794, DOI: 10.1080/08941920.2012.723303
- Pauw, W., (2015) Not a panacea: private-sector engagement in adaptation and adaptation finance in developing countries, *Climate Policy*, 15:5, 583-

603, DOI: <u>10.1080/14693062.2014.953906</u>

- Pegram,G, Li Y, Le Quesne T, Speed R, Li J & Shen F (2013). River basin planning: principles, procedures and approaches for strategic basin planning. Paris: UNESCO
- Pelling, M., & Manuel-Navarrete, D. (2011). From Resilience to Transformation: The Adaptive Cycle in Two Mexican Urban Centers. *Ecology and Society*, 16(2). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26268885
- Peters, B., Jordan, A., & Tosun, J., (2017) Over-reaction and under-reaction in climate policy: an institutional analysis, Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 19:6, 612-624, DOI: <u>10.1080/1523908X.2017.1348225</u>
- Peters, G. (2009) Institutional Theory: Problems and Prospects. Vienna: Institute for Advanced Studies

- Peters, I., Christoplos, I., Funder, M., Friis-Hansen, E., & Pain, A. (2012). (Rep.). Danish Institute for International Studies. Retrieved May 23, 2020, from www.jstor.org/stable/resrep13477
- Phelan S.E. (1999). A Note on the Correspondence Between Complexity and Systems Theory. Systemic Practice and Action Research. Vol. 12, No. 3.
- Pisano, U. Endl, A & Berger, G. (2012). The Rio +20 Conference 2012: Objectives, Processes and Outcomes (ESDN Quarterly Report No 25)
- Plott, C. (1994). Symposium: Market Architectures, Institutional Landscapes and Testbed Experiments: Introduction. *Economic Theory*, 4(1), 3-10. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/25054746
- Porter, S. (2006). Institutional Structures and Student Engagement. *Research in Higher Education, 47*(5), 521-558. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/40197601</u>
- Porter, S. (2006). Institutional Structures and Student Engagement. *Research in Higher Education*, 47(5), 521-558. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/40197601</u>
- Postlewaite, A. (2001), Social Arrangements and Economic Behavior, Annales D'Economie Et De Statistique. No. 63-64
- Powell, W. (2007). The New Institutionalism. *The International Encyclopedia of Organization Studies.* Sage Publishers
- Precious Tirivanhu (2020): A realist assessment of the facilitation process forimproving social accountability by community based organizations, *Development Southern Africa*, DOI: 10.1080/0376835X.2020.1761295

- Preston, B., J. Mustelin, & M. Maloney. 2013. Climate adaptation heuristics and the science/policy divide. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change. http://dooi.org/r46
- Ragasa C, Yan S, Bryan E, Abate C, Alemu A & Keita M (2013) Organizational and institutional issues in climate change adaptation and risk management: insight from practitioners' survey in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Kenya and Mali. IFPRI discussion paper
- Ranjan J & Khalil S (2007) Application of Knowledge Management in Management Education: A Conceptual Framework, *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology*. www.jatit.org
- Reid, Huq and Murray (2010) Community Champions: Adapting to Climate Challenges, International Institute for Environment and Development. London.
- Robbins, P. (1998). Authority & Environment: Institutional Landscapes in Rajasthan, India. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 88(3), 410-435. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2564236
- Rudzani A. Makhado, Amani T. Saidi & Phumudzo P. Tshikhudo (2014) Optimising drought adaptation by small-scale farmers in southern Africa through integration of indigenous and technologically-driven practices, African Journal of Science, Technology, *Innovation and Development*, 6:4, 265-273, DOI: 10.1080/20421338.2014.945391
- Ruijs A, De Bel M, Kononen M, Linderhof M, Polman N. (August 2011) Adapting to Climate Variability: *Learning from past experience and the role of institutions*. No 124 World Bank

Sam Wong & Liz Sharp (2009) Making power explicit in sustainable water innovation: relinking subjectivity, institution and structure through environmental *citizenship, Environmental Politics*, 18:1, 37-57, DOI: 10.1080/09644010802624785

- Scheyvens, H. (2015). The Role of Microfinance and Microfinance Institutions in Climate Change Adaptation: Learning from Experiences in Bangladesh (pp. 1-3, Rep.). *Institute* for Global Environmental Strategies. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/resrep02933.7
- Schlager, E., & Blomquist, W. (2008). Complex Landscapes: Watersheds and Institutions. In *Embracing Watershed Politics* (pp. 1-26). Boulder, Colorado: University Press of Colorado. doi:10.2307/j.ctt46nvqs.4
- Schmidt, C. (2009). Beyond Mitigation: Planning for Climate Change Adaptation. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 117(7), A306-A309. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/25549633</u>
- Schneider, S. (1987). Managing Boundaries in Organizations. *Political Psychology*, 8(3), 379-393. doi:10.2307/3791041
- Scott, R. (2004a). Institutional Theory: Contributing to a Theoretical Research Program. UK: Oxford University Press.
- Scott, R. (2004b). "Institutional theory." Pp. 408-14 in Encyclopedia of Social Theory, George Raitio K. New institutional approach to collaborative forest planning on public land:
 Methods for analysis and lessons for policy. *Land Use Policy29 (2012) 309–316*

Scott, W. (1995). Institutions and Organizations. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Shapiro. J, (2011) Toolkit on Overview of Planning. Johannesburg. CIVICUS

SIRI ERIKSEN, CECILIE ØYEN, SJUR KASA & ANDERS UNDERTHUN (2009)

Weakening adaptive capacity? Effects of organizational and institutional change on the

housing sector in Norway, *Climate and Development*, 1:2, 111-129, DOI: 10.3763/cdev.2009.0014

Smit, B. 2001. Adaptation to Climate Change in the Context of Sustainable Development and Equity (Ch. 18). In McCarthy, J.J., Canziani, O.F., Leary, N.A.,

Start, D & Ingie, H. (2007). Tools for Policy Impact: A Handbook for Researchers.

- Swart R & Raes F (2007). Making integration of adaptation and mitigation work: mainstreaming sustainable development policies. *Climate Policy Vol 7* pg 288-303Swiss Agency for Development (2009) Climate Change: Vulnerability and Adaptation experiences Case Study India. India, SDC
- Tadesse D, (2010). The impact of climate change in Africa. Institute of security studies paper 220
- Takao, Y. (2012). Making Climate Change Policy Work at the Local Level: Capacity-Building for Decentralized Policy Making in Japan. *Pacific Affairs*, 85(4), 767-788. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/43590474
- Tamas, A. (2000) System Theory in Community Development. www.tamas.com/saples/sourcesdocs/system_theory
- Tänzler, D., & Carius, A. (2013). Beyond International Climate Negotiations: Climate
 Diplomacy from a Foreign Policy Perspective. In Ruppel O., Roschmann C., and RuppelSchlichting K. (Eds.), *Climate Change: International Law and Global Governance: Volume II: Policy, Diplomacy and Governance in a Changing Environment* (pp. 259274). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft mbH. Retrieved from
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv941vsk.14

Tessa, B., & Kurukulasuriya, P. (2010). Technologies For Climate Change Adaptation: Emerging Lessons From Developing Countries Supported By UNDP. *Journal of International Affairs*, 64(1), 17-31. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/24385183

Tolbert, P. & Zucker, L. (1996). The institutionalization of institutional theory. In Handbook of Organization Studies, 175-90. Nord, ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Tony Matthews (2013) Institutional perspectives on operationalising climate adaptation through planning, Planning Theory & Practice, 14:2, 198-

210, DOI: 10.1080/14649357.2013.781208

- UN Office at Geneva, Switzerland. 15 pp. http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2007/sbi/eng/02.pdf
- UNDP (2015). Annual Progress Report 2015: The Integrated UNDP Support Programme to the Devolution Process in Kenya. UNDP, Nairobi Kenya

UNDP, 2010. Gender, Climate Change and Community-Based Adaptation UNDP, New York.

UNDP. (2009). Resource Guide on Gender and Climate Change. Washington DC: UNDP

- UNECA (2013). An assessment of agricultural sector policies and climate change in Kenya: Nexus between climate change related policies, research and practice. UNECA
- UNFCCC (UN Framework Convention on Climate Change), *Climate change: impacts, vulnerabilities and adaptation in developing countries*, Bonn: UNFCCC, 2007, 12.
- UNFCCC. 2006 Climate Change: Impacts, Vulnerabilities and Adaptation in Developing Countries. http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/publications/impacts.pdf
- UNFCCC. 2006 Climate Change: Impacts, Vulnerabilities and Adaptation in Developing Countries http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/publications/impacts.pdf

- UNFCCC. 2007a. Report on the workshop on climate related risks and extreme events. Note by the secretariat. FCCC/SBSTA/2007/7. UNFCCC. Bonn, Germany. 15 pp. http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2007/sbsta/eng/07.pdf>
- UNFCCC. 2007c. Report on the African Regional Workshop on Adaptation. FCCC/SBI/2007/2.
- UNFCCC. 2015. Adoption of the Paris Agreement. Conference of the Parties 21st session. Paris, 30 Nov-11 Dec 2015. United Nations FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1.

UNIFEM (2008/09) Progress of Worlds Women Report

- United Nations (1997). Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. <u>https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf</u>
- United Nations Climate Change Secretariat (2016) best practices and lessons learned in addressing adaptation in the least developed countries, volume 3 LDC expert group 2015
- United Nations Development Fund for Women (2008) Bridging the gap: *financing gender equality*. Westprint Inc. Printers. New York.
- United Nations Global Compact (2015). The Business Case for Responsible Corporate Adaptation: Strengthening Private Sector and Community Resilience. United Nations Global Compact Office: New York.
- Uphoff, N. (1992). Local Institutions and Participation for Sustainable Development. London: International Institute for Environment and Development
- Uphoff, N. T. (1999). Role of institutions in rural community development: What have we learned? In Role of institutions in rural community development, ed. Asian Productivity Organization, 97–115. Tokyo, Japan: Asian Productivity Organization.

- USAID. (2007), Adapting To Climate Variability and Change. Washington Dc: US Agency for International Development
- Vermeulen, S., Challinor, A., Thornton, P., Campbell, B., Eriyagama, N., Vervoort, J., Smith, D. (2013). Addressing uncertainty in adaptation planning for agriculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(21), 8357-8362. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42656727
- Virtanen, P., Palmujoki, E., & Gemechu, D. (2011). Global Climate Policies, Local Institutions and Food Security in a Pastoral Society in Ethiopia. *Consilience*, (5), 96-118. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26167804
- Von Bertalanffy, L. (1951). Problems of general system theory. *Human Biology*, 23(4), 302-312. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41448003
- Walker, B., Adger, W., & Russel, D. (2015). Institutional barriers to climate change adaptation in decentralised governance structures: Transport planning in England. *Urban Studies*, 52(12), 2250-2266. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/26146132
- Walker, H., Spaling, H., & Sinclair, A. (2016). Towards a home-grown approach to strategic environmental assessment: adapting practice and participation in Kenya, Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal, 34:3, 186-

198, DOI: <u>10.1080/14615517.2016.1176409</u>

Wamsler, C. (2015). Mainstreaming ecosystem-based adaptation: Transformation toward sustainability in urban governance and planning. *Ecology and Society*, 20(2). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26270196

- Wang, J., Wang, Y., Li, S., & Qin, D. (2016). Climate adaptation, institutional change, and sustainable livelihoods of herder communities in northern Tibet. *Ecology and Society*, 21(1). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26270320
- Washington-Ottombre, C., & B. C. Pijanowski. 2013. Rural organizations and adaptation to climate change and variability in rural Kenya. *Regional Environmental Change* 13(3):537-550. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10113-012-0343-0
- Weber, A., & Schmidt, M. (2016). Local Perceptions, Knowledge Systems And Communication
 Problems Around The Climate Change Discourse Examples From The Peruvian
 Andes. *Erdkunde*, 70(4), 355-366. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/44280252</u>
- Willems, S., & Baumert, K. (2003) OECD ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE
 INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY: Institutional Capacity and Climate actions.
 Head of Publications Services, OECD: France.
- Wimsatt, W. (2019). Articulating Babel: A Conceptual Geography for Cultural Evolution. In
 Wimsatt W. & Love A. (Eds.), *Beyond the Meme: Development and Structure in Cultural Evolution* (pp. 1-41). Minneapolis; London: University of Minnesota Press.
 doi:10.5749/j.ctvnp0krm.4
- Worden, J. (2009) Exploring potential economic and livelihood impacts of climate change and possible adaptation mechanisms in the Kenyan rangelands. Stockholm: Environment Institute.
- World Bank (2011). Costing adaptation through local institution village survey results: Yemen. Washington DC. Worldbank

World Bank. 2010. World Development Report 2010: Development and Climate Change. Washington, DC. © World Bank.

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/4387 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.

- Worldwide fund for Nature. (2010).Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan for Sustainable Management of the Mara River Basin. Nairobi: LVBC/WWF (ESARPO)
- Yi-Yi Chen (2013) Partnership and Performance of Community-Based Organizations: A Social Network Study of Taiwan, Journal of Social Service Research, 39:5,690-703, DOI: 10.1080/01488376.2013.829164
- Young, O. (1998). Institutional Dimensions of Global Environmental Change, Science Plan. IHDP Report No. 9.
- Zgiep, M., & Kioupkiolis, A,. (2019) Beyond institutions and the system: Network approach to deliberative democracy, Cogent Social Sciences, 5:1, DOI: 10.1080/23311886.2019.1639876
- Zucker, L.G. The role of Institutionalism in cultural persistence. *American Sociological Review*, *Vol 42*, (Oct 1997) 726-743

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Key Informant Interview

Consent to proceed with interview

Good morning/ good afternoon. My name is Isabella Asamba a PHD student at Maseno University. I am undertaking a research on Local institutional capacity to foster climate adaptation responses in the Mara River Basin. The information obtained from you as a respondents will be treated with utmost confidentiality and privacy. This information will only be used for academic purposes only and your name will not appear in any document. Are you willing to proceed with the interview?

Date of interview	Time Started:	Time Ended:
Name of interviewer		
Name of interviewee		
Name of Institution		
Contacts (telephone/email)		

County, Sub county, Ward, Location To be captured using GPS

Status of the organization (tick one)

- 1. Government [GOK]
- 2. Non-governmental organization (NGO)
- 3. Community based organization (CBO)
- 4. Faith based organization (FBO)
- 5. Private sector [businesses etc]

Are you are registered institution?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No

If yes, What are you registered under?

- 1. Act of parliament
- 2. Societies act
- 3. Ministry of gender and Sports
- 4. Companies and business act

Does your organization have a physical office?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No

What policies guide your functions as an institution? (Get access and read)

- 1. Public policies as laid down by government ministries
- 2. Internal policies /constitution of your institution
- 3. None of the above

What is your target area (tick one):

- 1. Village
- 2. Sub-Location
- 3. Location
- 4. Division
- 5. Ward
- 6. Sub county
- 7. County

How long have you been implemented climate change adaptation strategies? (tick one)

- 1. Less than 1 year
- 2. from 1 to 3 years
- 3. From 4 to 10 years
- 4. Over 10 years

Which of the following best describes your institution?

- 1. Membership organization
- 2. Non membership organization

What is your total staffing level (numbers)?

- 1. Over 100 persons
- 2. 50 to 100
- 3. 25 to 49
- 4. 10 to 24
- 5. Less then 10

What percentage of your institutional staffing is made up of salaried staff?

- 1. 100%
- 2. 75% to 100%
- 3. 50%-75%
- 4. 25%-50%
- 5. Less then 25%
- 6. None

What percentage of your institutional staff has undergone climate change training?

- 1. 100%
- 2. 75% to 100%
- 3. 50%-75%
- 4. 25%-50%
- 5. Less then 25%
- 6. None

Who provides overall direction on issues of climate adaptation practices?

- 1. Board
- 2. Management staff
- 3. Field officers
- 4. All

As an institution how often do you plan and budget for adaptation activities

- 1. Annually
- 2. Quarterly
- 3. Monthly
- 4. Never

What percentage of your institution budget is spent on adaptation practices?

- 1. 100%
- 2. 75% to 100%
- 3. 50%-75%
- 4. 25%-50%
- 5. Less then 25%
- 6. None

Who makes decision of final adaptation activities to be selected for action?

- 1. Communities
- 2. Donors
- 3. Your management committee
- 4. The government
- 5. Patterns of decision making

Who do you target in the community? (tick)

- 1. Other institutions
- 2. Farmers
- 3. All households
- 4. Youth
- 5. Men
- 6. Women

What has been the major benefit of your activities on the target groups? (tick one)

- 1. Improved farm yields
- 2. Reduced food stress
- 3. Greater access to clean water
- 4. Less risk to disasters
- 5. Reduced livestock diseases
- 6. Increased access to energy
- 7. Reduction in human diseases

Do you document your activities on climate adaptation practices?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No

How do you share information of adaptation practices with the community? Rank

- 1. Face to face in seminars/workshops
- 2. One on one with individual households/farmer
- 3. Publications
- 4. Radio
- 5. Use of mobile phone (messaging services)

How often do you hold staff meetings to discuss climate adaptation issues?

- 1. Annually
- 2. Half yearly
- 3. Quarterly
- 4. Monthly
- 5. Weekly
- 6. As need arises
- 7. Never

How often do you carry out monitoring of climate adaptation issues?

- 1. Annually
- 2. Half yearly
- 3. Quarterly
- 4. Monthly
- 5. Weekly
- 6. As need arises
- 7. Never

When was your last evaluation on climate adaptation issues?

- 1. Less then 1 year ago
- 2. 2 to 3 years ago
- 3. 4 to 5 years ago

- 4. Cannot recall
- 5. Never

In what areas do you as an institution face the greatest challenge when working on climate adaptation issues?

- 1. Mandate and Obligations as handed down by the government and community inclusive of Public Policies
- 2. Structure -patterns of internal coordination to enhance deliver
- 3. Strategy of patterns of decision making towards adaptation plans
- 4. Culture patterns of behaviour amongst staff and volunteers

What has been the major climatic change in your area of operation?

- 1. Increased precipitation (rainfall)
- 2. Reduced precipitation (rainfall)
- 3. Increase in temperatures
- 4. Reduced temperature

What is the major impact associated with climate change in your area of operation?

- 1. Floods
- 2. Forest fires
- 3. Food stress
- 4. Increased frequency of current Diseases
- 5. Introduction of new Diseases
- 6. Biodiversity loss

Which is the major climate adaptation activity that you currently under take?

- 1. Improved cropping patterns
- 2. Addressing water stress
- 3. Forestry practices conservation, protection, Reforestation
- 4. Flood risk management

Which is the major climate adaptation activity that you plan to put in place in the next 1 year?

- 1. Improved cropping patterns
- 2. Addressing water stress
- 3. Forestry practices conservation, protection, Reforestation
- 4. Flood risk management

Rank the major adaptation action that is a priority to your institution

- 1. Assessment of climate trends
- 2. Vulnerability assessment on livelihoods
- 3. Monitoring and evaluating interventions
- 4. Early warning system
- 5. Development of adaptation options
- 6. Fire and alien plant management
- 7. Zoning protected areas
- 8. Awareness on climate related health impacts
- What major role does your institution play in adaptation to climate change?
 - 1. Assessment of climate trends
 - 2. Vulnerability assessment on livelihoods
 - 3. Monitoring and evaluating interventions
 - 4. Early warning system
 - 5. Development of adaptation options
 - 6. Fire and alien plant management
 - 7. Zoning protected areas
 - 8. Awareness on climate related health impacts

Which of the following is the major form of agriculture related support that your institution provides to community on adaptation mechanisms? (Please tick)

	Yes	No
Land preparation		
Inputs		
Soil conservation		
Agro forestry practices		
Storage		
Access to crop production Information		
Livestock breeding		
Access to livestock production		
Information		

Which of the following is the major form of environment related support that your institution provides to community on adaptation mechanisms? (Please tick)

	Yes	No
Natural regeneration of vegetation		
cover		
Natural drainage		
Landscape restoration/Terracing		
Access of Biodiversity		
Access to environment Information		

Which of the following is the major form of forest related support that your institution provides to community on adaptation mechanisms? (Please tick as appropriate)

	Yes	No
Tree seedlings production		
Tree planting		
Tree harvesting		
Forest conservation		
Forest protection		
Access to forestry Information		

Which of the following is the major form of energy related support that your institution provides to community on adaptation mechanisms? (Please tick as appropriate)

	Yes	No
Use of wood fuel		
Use of fossil fuels		
Use of solar energy		
Use of hydro power		
Use of wind energy		
Access to and share Energy		
Information		

Which of the following is the major form of water related support that your institution provides to community on adaptation mechanisms? (Please tick as appropriate)

	Yes	No
Water catchment management		
Water conservation		
Water infrastructure development		
Riparian land management		
River bank conservation and protection		
Access to and share Water Information		

What form of support do your institution provide to community on adaptation mechanisms?

- 1. Material inputs
- 2. Information on best practices
- 3. Training
- 4. Financial support to vulnerable target groups

To what extent are your current plans, policy positively contributing to your adaptation practice?

- 1. 100%
- 2. 75% to 100%
- 3. 50%-75%
- 4. 25%-50%
- 5. Less then 25%

What barriers do you face in accessing information on adaptation to climate change?

- 1. Lack/limited access to Climate Change adaptation electronic and printed information
- 2. Limited access to training opportunities on climate adaptation
- 3. Lack/limited access to climate fund /financing for climate change adaptation action
- 4. Limited numbers of local forums to support learning and sharing on adaptation to climate change
- 5. Limited access to technology and equipment to act on climate change?

Adaptation Practices carried out in the Mara River Basin Type of institution_____ Catchment _____

Sector	Practices	Which practice	Which other institutions	What information do
		are you	are	you need to
		involved	supporting	make decision
		in?	this practice?	practice?
Agriculture	Land preparation			
	Inputs			
	• Seeds			
	• Fertilizer			
	Pesticides			
	Storage			
	Access to crop			
	production			
	Information			
	Livestock bred			
	Zero grazing			
	Open pasture			
	Access to livestock			
	production			
	Information			
	n			
Environment	natural			
	regeneration of			
	vegetation cover			
	natural drainage			
	Biodiversity			
	Access to			
	environment			
	Information			
	n			
	Tree planting			
	Tree harvesting			
	Tree seedlings			
	production			
	Torest conservation			
	t torest protection			
	Access to forestry			
	Information			
-	n n			
Energy	Use of woodfuel			
	Use of fossil fuels			
	Use of electricity			

	Use of hydro		
	nower		
	Use of geothermal		
	power		
	Access to Energy		
	Information		
	n		
Water	river water		
	resources		
	Protection of		
	swamps		
	Use of rain as a		
	source of water		
	Use of		
	underground		
	aquifers		
	Use of springs		
	Use of dams and		
	pans		
	Riparian land		
	management		
	Water catchment		
	management		
	Access to Water		
	Information	 	
	n		

Appendix 2: Institutional effectiveness Tool

Developing processes

Questions

- 1. Is participative decision making on climate change practices encouraged and widely used?
- 2. Do the staff members have pre-requisite knowledge and skills to handle climate change adaptation activities?
- 3. Within your institution, is there is a positive interpersonal environment?
- 4. In your opinion are issues related to climate change clearly communicated in the institution? **Productive processes**
- 5. Are services related to climate change adaptation delivered on time?
- 6. Are climate change adaptation activities planned and budgeted for in advance?
- 7. Are the project goals clearly articulated by most members in the institution?
- 8. Are your targets on climate change adaptation achieved and/or surpassed?

Enabling processes

- 9. Is the work process on climate change activities is well coordinated?
- 10. Does your institution have a stable predictable work environment?
- 11. Do you have rules and procedures that guide your climate change work process?
- 12. Does the institution put emphasis on quantification and measurement of work done on climate change adaptation activities?

Energizing processes

- 13. Are you as an institution, able to develop creative solutions towards reaching out to external environment on issues of climate change adaptation?
- 14. Do you respond to external environment changes quickly?
- 15. You are seen to be legitimate by the community and your donors?
- 16. Do your stakeholders see you as a dynamic institution in relation to climate change adaptation action?

The process had six steps as follows:

Step 1: Each question was asked and the score noted beside the question, a scale of 1 to 5 was used to respond to each question. Scale 1 to 5, where 5 = very frequently, 4 = frequently, 3 = sometimes, 2 = rarely and 1 = almost never.

Step 2: The scores were transferred to the analysis table against the question number

Step 3: For each set of scores were computed and total made

Step 4: A concentric ring chart termed the spider diagram was designed from the quadrants and was used to visualize the scores. The averages were plotted on the chart with the concentric rings (2=20%, 4=40%, 6=60%, 8=80%, 10=100%). Each concentric circle accounts for 20% and there are five rings, bringing the highest to 100%, this is in line with the scores in the table below

Step 5: Each marked point was then linked to the next to develop a spider diagram

Step 6: The final diagram was used for the final analysis and for visualization. Where the scores are above 50%, these were considered as structures fostering adaptation practices while below 50% were considered as structures hampering adaptation practices.

Scoring table					
Developing Process	ses				
Participation in deci	Participation in decisions			al relations	
Skills and knowledg	ge	1	Effective communic	ation	
Question 1			Question 3		
Question 2			Question 4		
Total	=		Total	2 =	
Productive Process	ses				
Timely service delive	very	1	Direction, Goal Clar	ity	
Planning and projec	Planning and project execution Accomplishments			-	
Question 5			Question 7		
Question 6			Question 8		
Total	=		Total	=	
Enabling Processes	5				
Coordination]	Rules, Procedures		
Stability		1	Measurements		
Question 9			Question 11		
Question 10			Question 12		
Total	=		Total	=	
Energizing Process	ses				
Creative solutions	Creative solutions		Legitimacy from the community/donors		
Response to Change	esponse to Change Stakeholder confidence		nce		
Question 13			Question 15		
Question 14			Question 16		
Total	=		Total	=	



Concentric ring/ Institutional Effectiveness chart

.

Appendix 3: Institutional Challenges mapping

This tool was designed to combine simple ranking and use of visual matrix to map out major challenges affecting institutions in climate change adaptation. The challenges had been identified earlier during two initial preliminary visits to the study area and during the pre-test of research instruments. The steps used were as follows:

- 1. The pre-designed matrices on flip charts were pinned up
- 2. In the mixed focus group discussions, each institution was given the same number of stickers.
- 3. Using the stickers they were asked to identify the most pressing challenge for their category of institution.
- 4. The allocation of stickers to the institution used the following criteria from 0 3 stickers as follows: 3 stickers for highly challenged, 2 stickers for moderately challenged, 1 sticker for marginally challenged, 0 sticker for not challenged

Type of challenges	Type of institution					
	Government	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private	
					sector	

Appendix 4: Opportunities identification table

Barrier to	Opportunity	Specific opportunities suggested by institution type				
	cluster	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Private sector

Stakeholder Linkage Matrix

Stakeholder	Government	NGOs	CBOs	FBOs	Private sector
Government					
NGOs					
CBOs					
FBOs					
Private sector					

In your group discussion indicate

- 1. Type of linkage you have with the other institution
- 2. Where that institution is located (e.g. in the Mara basin County/subcounty, national, within east Africa, global)

Appendix 5: List of institutions interviewed List of government institutions interviewed

County	Institutions
Bomet	1. National Environment Management Authority
	2. Ministry of National Development – Office of the DDO
	3. Department of Social Services
	4. Ministry of lands – Physical Planning Department
5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10	5. Ministry of Health – Olokyin Health Center
	6. Ministry of Energy
	7. Ministry of Water
	8. Kenya Forest Services
	9. WRMA
	10. NEMA
	11. Soil and Water Conservation Department
	12. County department of Environment
Norel	1 Ministry of National Davalarmant Office of the DDO
Narok	Ministry of National Development – Office of the DDO
	2. Department of Social Services
	3. Ministry of Water
	4. NEMA
Total	16

List of key non-government organizations interviewed

County	Institutions
Bomet	1. World Vision
	2. Kenya Red Cross
	3. Action Aid
	4. Worldwide Fund for Nature
Narok	1. Worldwide Fund for Nature
	2. Forest Action Network
Total	6

List of Community Based Organizations interviewed

Institutions County Bomet 1.

- Bondet Self Help Group 2.
 - Boongo Self Help Group
- 3. Cheboin Self Help Group
- 4. Chebirrir welfare Group
- 5. Cheimen CBO
- 6. Chepnyongea women group
- 7. Emityot Self Help Group
- 8. Kabosirir community dam
- 9. Kichwatembo Self Help Group
- 10. Kilima Self Help Group
- 11. Kimana welfare group
- 12. Kimasian Water Spring
- 13. Kimintet welfare group
- 14. Kapkessoka group
- 15. Kapkimolwa Self Help Group
- Kapsimotwa welfare group 16.
- 17. Kiptulwa Self Help Group
- 18. Kipyosit welfare group
- 19. Kiramkok Self Help Group
- 20. Kitoben Self Help Group
- 21. Kongosis welfare group
- 22. Kositany Self Help Group
- 23. Kyongong self help group
- 24. Lelaitich Women Group
- 25. Longisa Community Water
- 26. Masare welfare group
- 27. Masese welfare group
- 28. Mogogosiek Self Help Group
- 29. Mpata Self Help Group
- 30. Mugango group
- 31. Mutai water project
- 32. Ndaraweta welfare
- 33. Nerone youth group
- 34. Nyahururu welfare group
- 35. Nyambugo Self Help Group
- 36. Nyongaa welfare
- 37. Nyongores group
- 38. Olbobo self help group
- 39. Olkinyie welfare group
- 40. Olseki Self Help Group
- 41. Royalm Self Help Group
- 42. Sagenya welfare group
- 43. Salaik welfare group
- 44. Sekenani CBO
- 45. Serian Self Help Group
- 46. Shrikisho Farmers society
- 47. Sianaa CBO
- 48. Siogiro Self Help Group
- 49. Sugutek youth nursery
- 50. Tenwek welfare group
- 51. Tupcho Self Help Group
- 52. Chebunyo Market Group

Narok

- 1. Chepkirib Self Help Group
- 2. Emarti Self Help Group
- 3. Mara River Basin Association
- 4. Laluk Water Spring
- 5. Lamaiyat Water Spring
- 6. Saptet Self Help Group
- 7. Sogoo
- 8. Enelerai Water Spring
- 9. Chebinyiny Self Help Group
- 10. Mengit CBO

TOTAL

Bomet

List of Faith Based Organizations interviewed

County Institutions interviewed

62

- 1. Anglican Church of Kenya Bomet
- 2. Anglican church of Kenya Sigor
- 3. African Gospel Church Chemaner
- 4. African Gospel Church Kiplabotwa
- 5. Africa Inland Church [AIC] Youth Group Bomet Town
- 6. Africa Inland Church Longisa
- 7. Bethel AGC
- 8. Catholic Church Bomet
- 9. Catholic Church Longisa
- 10. Church of Christ
- 11. Deliverance Church
- 12. Elim Church
- 13. Full Gospel Church (FGC)
- 14. Holeman Ministries
- 15. Hosanna full gospel church
- 16. Jamia Mosque
- 17. Kings Outreach Church Mugango
- 18. KIB Church
- 19. Penfar church
- 20. Seventh Day Adventist [SDA]

Narok 1. African Gospel Church Mulot

- 2. Africa Inland Church [AIC]
- 3. Full Gospel Church (FGC)
- 4. Hosanna

TOTAL 24

List of Private Sector institutions interviewed

CountyInstitutionsBomet1. Bomet Traders association2. Chemaner agrovet3. Chemaner multipurpose4. Community Forest Management group (Ndarawet)5. Devilla children's Homes6. Kembu stores7. Kenduiywo children's home8. Kenya Tea Development Authority (KTDA)

- 9. Kenya seed company
- 10. Kipsegon chemist
- 11. Koros Agrovet
- 12. Longisa chemist
- 13. Longisa Coperative
- 14. Ndarawet Agribusiness
- 15. Ntulele Stores
- 16. Nyongores agrovet
- 17. Olokyin Academy
- 18. Olokyin stores
- 19. Orange Office
- 20. Oshothane Farm Input store
- 21. Silibwet agrovet
- 22. Tegat project
- 23. Tenwek Mission hospital

Narok

- 1. Chepalungu agrovet
- 2. Enelerai genral store
- 3. Mulot Cereals store
- 4. Mulot hotel restaurant
- 5. Skylight Cereal Store
- 6. Sogoo chemist,

Total 29
Sub County	No of FGDs	GOK	NGO	СВО	FBO	Priv Sec	Tot
Bomet Central	3	6	2	15	4	5	32
Chepalungu	3	2	2	13	8	6	31
Bomet East	5	4	2	34	12	14	58
Narok	4	4	2	23	6	5	40
Grand total	15	16	8	85	30	30	169

Appendix 6: Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) list

County	Type of	No in FGD
	institution	
Bomet	Government	12
	NGO	6
	СВО	62
	FBO	24
	Private Sector	25
Sub Total		129
Narok South	Government	4
	NGO	2
	СВО	23
	FBO	6
	Private Sector	5
Sub Total		40
TOTAL		169